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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBHRE

The following is a summary of the total assets, total liabilities, results and other financial information of Chevalier
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) as of year ended 31 March for

the last five years.

TIARELEREEARAR(ARF D REMBAR (SR AKE DRBEAFARE-A=T—RALFEZREE &

BE FEREMMBERME -

Financial Information (HK$ million) B#ERGE¥HET)

2020

2019

—T-TE —ThE

—=—=

Total assets BEE 20,215 18,613 17,039 17,093 16,105
Total liabilities raf 8,988 8,044 7,356 7,451 6,769
Total equity BiEm 11,227 10,569 9,683 9,642 9,336
Non-controlling interests IR 638 640 611 621 603
Shareholders’ funds REES 10,589 9,929 9,072 9,021 8,733
Share capital AR
—in number (million) -2B(BER) 302 302 302 302 302
—in value (HK$1.25 per share) - BE(ZRRES1.257T) 377 377 377 377 377
Revenue WA 8,634 7,353 6,381 6,893 6,980
Profit attributable to shareholders of 72 & % B2 fE 1 i 1
the Company 645 641 533 655 908
Per Share Basis (HK$) BREAE(EY)
Earnings - basic 2R - EAR 2.13 2.12 177 2.17 3.0
Dividends BB 0.50 0.55 0.562 0.50 1.75
Net assets value BESE
— excluding non-controlling interests - M EIEERRIER 35.1 32.9 30.0 29.9 28.9
2022 2021
—E-= B
HK$ million HK$ million
BERET BERETT
Segment Revenue* 2EWRA*
e Construction and engineering FEEE M T2 4,995 4,616
® Property investment YR E 151 139
® Property development and operations MEERREE 1,511 472
® Healthcare investment RIBEREE 930 1,082
® Car dealership RERIE 2,291 2,653
® Others Hith 1,353 888
Total k] 11,231 9,850
Segment Profit/(Loss) after finance cost, net* MKREIIEE BHEN D BEF,(FE) - FHE*
e Construction and engineering FEEE M TH2 337 469
® Property investment YR E 378 110
e Property development and operations MEERNEE 277 46
® Healthcare investment REBEERE (44) 95
® Car dealership RERE (44) 9
® Others Hith 21 102
Total k] 925 831
* Included share of revenue/results of associates and joint ventures
BIEFTREBE AR A EREZIRA EE
HIEREEERAD A
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Announcement of Results
Interim Results
Final Results

Book Close Dates
Interim Dividend

Annual General Meeting
Final Dividend

Annual General Meeting 31 August 2022

Payment of Dividends

Interim dividend of
HK$0.15 per share

Final dividend of
HK$0.35 per share

26 November 2021
28 June 2022

15 to 20 December 2021
26 to 31 August 2022
13 to 14 September 2022

23 December 2021

23 September 2022
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LETTERTO SHAREHOLDERS
BT 2 R

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the results of the Group for the financial year
2021/22.

2022 continued to be a very challenging year for many businesses in Hong
Kong due to the erratic pattern and lingering impact of the COVID-19
pandemic and the Group was not spared. In addition, Hong Kong's
economy suffered a heavy blow in the fifth wave of COVID-19 which hit
Hong Kong in the first quarter of 2022. We had anticipated last year that
the global economy would recover gradually with the rise in the vaccination
rates together with the lifting of precautionary measures worldwide.
However, uncertainties still lie ahead for us in view of the various anti-
pandemic measures that are still in place in Hong Kong and the emergence
of COVID-19 virus variants from time to time, the escalating tension
between China and the United States of America (the “US"), the instability
in Eastern Europe caused by the military confrontation between Russia
and the Ukraine, as well as the after-effects that may follow after the
biggest US interest rate rise in nearly 30 years. Our operating costs will no
doubt climb in the near future as a result of the increase in upstream costs
with the resulting rising energy prices, hike in interest rates and soaring
inflation.

With the exponential growth of daily confirmed cases in the fifth wave
that hit Hong Kong, the construction and engineering industry in Hong
Kong was inevitably affected by not only project delays, but also delays of
certain construction tenders bidding processes. Moreover, there is already
a visible rise in raw material prices which is expected to remain for the
rest of the year. Apart from this, the construction industry also needs to
deal with the shortage of skilled labours which is yet to be resolved in the
fiercely competitive market in Hong Kong.

Echoing our commitment in our 2021 annual report and in line with Hong
Kong's environmental policies and the goal of achieving carbon neutrality
by 2050, the Group continued to devote considerable resources and
effort in applying innovative and advanced technology in our projects
so as to address various persistent challenges in the industry. We have
applied Building Information Modelling (BIM), Design for Manufacture and
Assembly (DfMA), which provides a digital visualisation platform for Modular
Integrated Construction (MiC) and the Hybrid Modular Construction Method
in various large-scale infrastructure projects, commercial and residential
projects as well as the development of public housing. We believe the
application of technologies will alleviate the Group's pressure from the lack
of skilled labours and ensure better productivity, sustainability and safety
in the Group’s projects. Our dedication to uphold sustainable development
in the construction business was recognised and the Group obtained its
first green loan facility during the year for our Jat Min Chuen project which
uses the MiC construction method. Despite the uphill journey ahead, the
Group remains positive with the slow but steady global economic recovery
and also in light of the commitment of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region to increase land and housing supply and
investment in infrastructure projects advocated in the 2021 Policy Address.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The property development market in Hong Kong also faced a tough year in
2022 with low buying sentiment. However, we believe interests of property
purchasers will gradually pick up in the still comparatively low interest rate
environment. The Group holds an optimistic view on the prospect of the
property market in Hong Kong and will continue to cautiously scout for
opportunities to replenish our land bank. Our sales team will continue with
our marketing campaign of “Chevalier City” in Changchun, the Mainland
China whilst our construction and development team will kick start with
the construction of Phase V of this property development project shortly.
With our good reputation, we believe Phase V will continue to be popular
amongst the local buyers.

Our cold storage and logistics services business was also impacted by,
amongst others, the series of prolonged anti-pandemic related lockdowns
and measures imposed by various governments in 2021. Disruption of the
global supply chain led to delays and freight shortages which triggered the
climb in freight costs. To tackle this problem, we have and will continue to
closely monitor the recovery of the global supply chain and development
and take prudent cost-saving measures. We also expanded the capacity
of our air freight and logistics service with the acquisition 40,000 square
feet of additional warehouse spaces in December 2021. We are confident
that the performance of the cold storage and logistics service business
will improve with the easing out of COVID-19 worldwide together with our
strong market presence and solid relationships with our substantial and
diverse customer base.

Our healthcare business in the US was hard hit by the pandemic and the
speed of recovery has been less than optimal. Increasing minimum wages
in some of the States in which the Group owns facilities and rising interest
rates imposed to combat surging inflation in the US may pose a threat of
our operating costs in the coming years. Nonetheless, it is anticipated that
the senior housing business in the US will gradually return to pre-COVID-19
level as the number of aging people still outnumbers the supply of senior
housing facilities in the market. Aging of the population continues to be
the mega trend in the US, and the increase in healthcare spending by the
US Government can support the rebound of our senior housing business in
general and help with improving operating results and the valuation of the
Group's US senior housing projects.

As chance only favors the prepared mind, the Group will continue to
implement overall cost-saving measures and pursue advancement in
our use of innovative and advanced technology to complement the
business and strategy of the Group. To align with our goal of sustainable
development, we will continue to allocate sufficient resources to support
young talents in strengthening their learning and development. We believe
that nurturing young talent will help drive the performance, productivity and
results of the Group.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank the management for their
tremendous effort during these difficult times and staff for their very hard-
work and express appreciation to our shareholders and business partners
for their continuous support to the Group throughout the challenging year.

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWR DT

The Group's consolidated revenue increased by 17.4% from HK$7,353
million in 2020/2021 to HK$8,634 million for the year ended 31 March
2022. Total segment revenue, which includes the Group’s share of
revenue of associates and joint ventures, grew to HK$11,231 million from
HK$9,850 million, a 14% increase as compared to the last financial year.
The Group reported a stable profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 at
HK$693 million as compared to HK$685 million in the last financial year.
Such results were recorded taking into account contribution from the
properties revaluation, the gain on disposal of residential properties for
sale in Changchun and subsidies received from the various Government
pandemic relief. Profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders for the
year ended 31 March 2022 was HK$645 million (2021: HK$641 million) and
earnings per share was HK$2.13 (2021: HK$2.12).

CONSTRUCTION AND ENGINEERING

The Construction and Engineering segment’s revenue for the year ended
31 March 2022 reported a growth by 8.2% from HK$4,616 million to
HK$4,996 million as compared to the last financial year. The segment profit
before finance cost, net, experienced a drop of 28.6% from HK$468 million
to HK$334 million. The decrease in profit resulted mainly from the fierce
competition in the industry, absence of one-off Government subsidies
received in the previous financial year and upsurge in material and other
operational costs, in an overall uncertain business environment that has
arisen due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

With its good reputation, expertise and solid experience in the building
construction industry, our building construction division secured a number
of public and private projects during the financial year. This division has
dedicated resources to keep up-to-date with the ever-changing innovative
technological advances such as the Design for Manufacturing and Assembly
(DfMA) concept to maintain its competitiveness in the market and to
enhance construction efficiency. To support the sustainable development
of Hong Kong and pitch in to the decarbonising of the construction industry,
the Group has been actively involved in the development of the Modular
Integrated Construction (MiC) building method since 2018, commencing
with the preparation for the establishment of a factory with a counterpart
in the PRC and the subsequent MiC research and development in 2019
with our long-time research partner. The development of Hybrid-MiC has
been another endeavour of our business construction division in support
of DfMA. The MIC system has already received “in-principle acceptance”
from the Buildings Department of Hong Kong and has been applied to the
construction of Chung Yuet Lau, the first MiC elderly housing project of
The Hong Kong Housing Society at Jat Min Chuen, Sha Tin. The Group's
residential development project located at Prince Edward Road West
employed Hybrid-MiC as part of its construction method. The Group will
continue to apply Building Information Modelling in most building projects
including the Third Runway Project. Application of these technologies in
the Group’s business construction division will no doubt help improve
work quality and efficiency, health and safety on sites as well as minimise
wastage generated by the construction works.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The electrical and mechanical engineering division recorded positive results
during the reporting year despite the market being clouded by lingering
uncertainties as a result of the pandemic. Although this division continued
to focus on opportunities in Macau during the year, the completion of
electrical and mechanical engineering works in Hong Kong during the
financial year has also contributed to the operating results of this division.
With its good track records in Macau, there are still a healthy number of
contracts on hand. As an integrated E&M engineering contractor capable
of providing a comprehensive mix of E&M engineering service works,
and armed with its extensive experience in serving the gaming and
entertainment segment in Macau, this division will take a proactive role in
capturing opportunities in both Hong Kong and Macau.

During the year, aluminium windows and curtain walls division reported
favourable results though the increase in the cost of raw materials and
logistics had significant impact on the business activities of this division.
In order to mitigate the negative effects of COVID-19 on the business,
this division took measures such as reducing operation costs, improving
product designs and optimising materials logistics to meet delivery
schedules. With its own production facilities, and professional and wide-
ranging technological integration capabilities in Dongguan, the Mainland
China, this division was able to provide, without interruption, a full range of
services in engineering design and consulting, engineering construction,
operation management and specialised equipment manufacturing during
the COVID-19 pandemic period to meet customer requirements.

The building supplies division recorded mediocre results during the
reporting year primarily due to the absence of the Government subsidies
for the pandemic and delay in construction projects caused by the
pandemic. Performance of this division was directly affected by the overall
condition and pace of the construction industry. Similar to the other
business units in this Construction and Engineering segment, this division
also faced the issue of the upsurge in the cost of raw materials. During
the year, with the fifth wave of the COVID-19 outbreak in Hong Kong, this
division went full steam ahead with the supply and installation of water
tanks for Phase 3 of the Penny's Bay Quarantine Centre to meet the
pressing need of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “HKSAR") to increase the number of community isolation
facilities.

The environmental engineering division also experienced a decrease in
profit, again due to the absence of the Government subsidies for the
pandemic and the increasing expenses in raw materials and logistics.
However, benefitting from the committed funding of the Government
of the HKSAR reserved for infrastructure development, this division has
secured two large-scale environmental related projects for water and
wastewater treatment in the form of a joint operation with strategic
partners during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWR DN

During the reporting year, the lift and escalator division recorded a
decrease in results due to the absence of one-off Government subsidy in
2021. In response to the society’'s needs in the fight against COVID-19,
our lifts and escalators division introduced touchless button as well as the
"kNOw Touch” button panel developed by the Hong Kong Productivity
Council to minimise the risk of infection. These touchless button panels
have been adopted in estates and malls managed by the Housing
Department, LINK, and large property management companies across
Hong Kong, Kowloon and the New Territories. In line with the commitment
to sustainable development of the Group, this division has developed
innovative MiC methods (MiC & MIMEP) together with our business
partners and applied the same in our products. This also addresses labour
shortage and enhances workers safety issue faced by the industry. Our
lift and escalator division also applied this technology in the installation
of tower for pedestrian footbridge and in Jat Min Chuen’s project which
combines Hybrid-MiC and MiMEP methods.

As at 31 March 2022, the total value of all outstanding construction and
engineering contracts of the Group amounted to HK$7,807 million. Major
contracts include:

1. Construction of a hotel development at No. 1 Cheong Tung Road, Hung
Hom, Kowloon;

2. Construction of proposed church facilities, residential care home and
senior hostel development at 17A & B Ventris Road, Happy Valley,
Hong Kong;

3. Construction of the extension of the operating theatre block for Tuen
Mun Hospital, New Territories;

4. Construction of subsidised sale flats development at Ko Shan Road,
Hung Hom, Kowloon;

5. Electrical works for construction of Siu Ho Wan water treatment works
extension and Siu Ho Wan Raw Water Booster Pumping Station;

6. Operations and maintenance of on-site chlorine generation plants at
Shatin, Pak Kong, Tuen Mun, Ma On Shan and Au Tau water treatment
works;

7. LV Electrical and HVAC installation works for Basement, Podium and
Tower 3 of Galaxy Resort & Casino Phase 4 at Cotai, Macau;

8. Design, supply and installation of metal panel and external wall cladding
system for T2C of the Third Runway Concourse and Apron Works of
Hong Kong International Airport;

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

9. Water tank installation at Penny’s Bay Quarantine Centre Phases 5 and
6, Lantau Island, New Territories; and

10. Supply and installation of kitchen cabinets for a proposed new
development at Section B of Shaukiwan Marine Lot No. 2 at Sai Wan
Ho, Hong Kong.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The property letting business of this segment has in its portfolio properties
in Hong Kong, Singapore, Mainland China and the United Kingdom (the
“UK"). This segment recorded a positive growth for the year ended
31 March 2022. Segment revenue recorded an increase of 8.6% from
HK$139 million to HK$151 million as compared with the last reporting
year. Segment profit before finance cost, net, also reported a year-on-
year substantial growth of 241% from HK$111 million to HK$379 million.
Such increase has already taken into account the repair and maintenance
expenses of the warehouse located in Kwai Chung and the increase in fair
value of certain investment properties.

During the year, the Group purchased two investment properties in the
UK for long-term investment. The first property purchased is located at
1-3 Hammersmith Broadway, a Grade-A office building in central London,
strategically located directly above the London Underground Hammersmith
Station which is a major transportation hub. With a net internal area of
approximately 30,000 square feet, the property is single-let on a 10-year
lease to The Department for Work and Pensions of the British Government.

The second property is located at 30 King Street. It is also a Grade-A
commercial building located in the City of London, moments away from the
London Underground Bank Station and just a short walk from The Bank of
England. The net internal area of just over 35,000 square feet is multi-let to
reputable names in the banking, legal and business consultancy industries
with a weighted average unexpired lease term of more than six years.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS

The Property Development and Operations segment reported a significant
increase in both revenue and profit before finance cost, net, by 220%
from HK$472 million to HK$1,511 million and by 570% from HK$40 million
to HK$268 million, respectively. The increase in segment revenue was
primarily from the recognition of sale of the residential units of Phase Il
of “Chevalier City"” in Changchun, the Mainland China, which also led to a
substantial growth in segment profit.

An Urban Renewal Authority redevelopment project of the Group is located
at 8 Fuk Chak Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon. “SABLIER" is the Group's
first wholly-owned composite residential development, it is also the first
development in the Group's “LE MOMENT" series. “SABLIER" is a single
building development comprising 28 floors with a total of 144 small to
medium size residential units totalling approximately 55,000 square feet
gross floor area and approximately 8,000 square feet of commercial area.
Completion of the project took place in September 2021 and handover of
the units to the respective purchasers started in October 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWR DN

Another residential development in the “LE MOMENT" series is situated
at 292A-D Prince Edward Road West, Ho Man Tin. It is situated in a
developed community with comprehensive amenities and also within a
well sought after school net. The project has a residential floor area of
approximately 39,000 square feet. Completion is expected to be in the first
quarter of 2023.

5 Hang Lok Lane, Shatin, with site area of approximately 48,000 square
feet, is another residential development project of the Group. The current
plan is to build a luxurious low-density residential development on the site.

Phase Il of “Chevalier City” in Changchun comprises of 10 residential
blocks and provides about 1,100 units with a gross floor area of
approximately 100,000 square metres. The sizes of the residential
units range from 36 to 125 square metres. “Chevalier City” is located
in a developed community close to the Changchunxi Railway Station.
Construction works of Phase Il completed as scheduled in September
2021 and construction of upper structure works of Phase V will commence
in mid-2022.

In view of the re-industrialisation policy of the Government of the HKSAR
and the plan to make Hong Kong an international innovation and technology
hub, the Group anticipates the demand for land in the northern-most part
of Hong Kong adjoining the Mainland China to increase. In this regard, the
Group participated in and won a tender for a piece of industrial land located
at On Kui Street, Fanling in January 2022. The land falls within the area
coined the “Northern Metropolis” by the Government of the HKSAR. In
essence, the land is brimming with potentials and the Group’s current plan
is to develop it into an industrial building with a total gross floor area of
approximately 88,000 square feet and fitted with high-end facilities.

The income of Chevalier's cold storage and logistics division declined
during the year in the less than optimal business environment resulting
from the pandemic. The pandemic situation abroad has affected the frozen
food import industry in Hong Kong also as many workers of suppliers’
farms and abattoirs were infected which resulted in the disruption of the
import schedule of the products into Hong Kong. This division inevitably
also faced an upsurge in freight costs which led our customers to be
more prudent with their cost control. Despite all of the above factors, this
division overcame obstacles by leveraging on our strong market position
and solid relationships with our business partners and diverse customer
base.

The property management division provides comprehensive and high-
quality property management services to a wide range of customers
including the Hong Kong Housing Authority with a portfolio of about 32
million square feet comprising of commercial, industrial and residential
buildings, shopping arcades and car parks. The property management
division has adopted effective cost control measures to counter the effect
of rising wages and operational costs in the last few years and the pressure
brought about by the pandemic. Armed with this prudent approach to cost
control, the division has been awarded several contracts of large residential
estates including Kam Ying Courts | and Il, and Phase 1 of Tsuen King
Garden during the financial year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HEALTHCARE INVESTMENT

The revenue of the Healthcare Investment segment during the
reporting year recorded a drop from HK$1,082 million to HK$930 million,
representing a decrease of 14% as compared to the corresponding
period last year. In line with the decline in revenue, segment profit before
finance cost, net, also recorded a decline from a profit of HK$158 million
to a loss of HK$2 million as compared to the corresponding period last
year. Apart from the drop in occupancy rate and the increase in staff and
operating costs, such decrease was also due to the impairment of financial
instrument, the loss on disposal of certain senior housing properties,
the decrease in income resulting from the disposals and the absence of
income from the Government of United States of America (the “US") for
special care services to COVID-19 patients during the COVID-19 pandemic
last year.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group owned 30 senior housing properties
across seven states in the US providing over 2,800 units/beds covering
a wide spectrum of services including independent living, assisted living,
memory care and skilled nursing. The Group also owns three medical office
buildings located in New York, Pennsylvania and Rhode Island comprising a
total gross floor area of approximately 428,000 square feet through a joint
venture.

In Hong Kong, the Group is engaged in the development of a senior
housing project located at 17A & B Ventris Road, Happy Valley, Hong Kong.
The construction works of the superstructure are underway and the project
is expected to complete in 2024.

Our healthcare investment has also been extended to include the provision
of rehabilitation and wellness services in May 2021 after the acquisition
of a rehabilitation and wellness centre situated at Ho Man Tin, Kowloon.
The transdisciplinary team at the rehabilitation centre covers different
specialties including geriatrics, physiotherapy, occupational therapy,
nutrition and dietetics, podiatry, speech therapy, rehabilitation medicine,
social work and skilled nursing and provides a comprehensive range of
services covering neurology rehabilitation, orthopedic rehabilitation, pain
management and prehab programme.

CAR DEALERSHIP

The car dealership industry continued to face challenges in the fiscal year.
As a result, revenue of this segment decreased from HK$2,652 million
to HK$2,291 million, representing a decline of 13.6% compared to the
corresponding period last year while the segment profit recorded a drop
from a profit of HK$13 million to a loss of HK$38 million as compared
to last financial year. The loss was caused by the ongoing worldwide
semiconductor chip shortage, subdued consumer sentiment resulting from
the pandemic, and the increase in operating cost.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWR DN

Revenue and contribution of the car dealership business in Canada was
also affected due to city-wide lockdowns arising from the COVID-19
pandemic. With the improvement of the pandemic situation in Canada
and Mainland China, it is anticipated that the car dealership businesses in
Canada and Mainland China will return to a better position in the coming
financial year, assuming the supply chain would resume simultaneously.

OTHERS

The segment revenue reported a year-on-year increase of 52% from
HK$888 million to HK$1,353 million during the year under review. The
major contributor to this segment was the insurance business. Segment
profit before finance cost, net, recorded a decline from HK$99 million to
HK$20 million, representing a drop of 80%. The decline in profit was due
to the mark-to-market fair value loss in investment and the unsatisfactory
performance of our food and beverage business as a result of the outbreak
of fifth wave of the COVID-19 pandemic.

During the year under review, leveraging on strong relationship with
intermediaries, active risk selection and participating in numerous large-
scale construction projects in Hong Kong, the insurance business recorded
satisfactory premium growth. General insurance has always been a fiercely
competitive business in Hong Kong and to protect against extreme events,
the Group always reviews and ensures its reinsurance programs are
sufficient in meeting with current and future potential risk exposure.

Our freight forwarding services business is also another contributor to both
the revenue and the profit under this segment. It provides international
freight transportation services by air and sea, and focuses its services in
aviation, automotive, chemical, fashion, healthcare, project cargo, retail and
technology transportation. Its business also expanded to pharma cold chain
logistics services dedicated to providing comprehensive pharma cold chain
packaging and logistic solutions to customers.

The information and technology division continued to focus on offering
innovative smart living solutions and customised enterprise automation
solutions, adding value to our clients and the community. During the
year, the division completed Innocell, the first fully automised hotel living
experience project at Hong Kong Science Park, Tai Po. In addition, this
division also participated in the Government's anti-epidemic project,
namely, the Call Center System for Designated Taxi Service Hotline, a
dedicated booking platform for COVID-19 confirmed cases displaying only
mild symptoms to book dedicated taxi services for visits to designated
clinics during the fifth wave of the pandemic.

FORWARD LOOKING

As we look to the future, the question that looms large is how long will
it take for Hong Kong's and for the global economy to return to normal.
This will certainly take some time. However, with the Group’s diversified
business portfolio, strong balance sheet, good liquidity and low leverage,
we are prepared to face the challenges that lie ahead. The Board will
closely monitor the effects arising from the increase in interest rate, and
from operating and materials costs to minimise impacts and enhance long-
term shareholder value.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue

Revenue of the Group increased from HK$7,353 million in the year 2020/21
to HK$8,634 million in the year 2021/22. The increase was mainly due
to more revenue recognised from insurance premium, construction and
installation contracts, sale of residential units in the property development
in Hong Kong and Changchun, Mainland China, offset by less revenue
recognised from sale of motor vehicles and senior housing operations.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased from HK$884 million in the year 2020/21 to
HK$1,037 million in the year 2021/22 and gross profit margin remained
unchanged at 12.0%.

Other income

Other income of HK$126 million was recorded in the year 2021/22 (2020/21:
HK$179 million). The decrease was mainly due to decrease in government
grants by HK$95 million offset by increase in compensation income by
HK$25 million.

Other gains/(losses), net

Other gains, net of HK$153 million were recorded in the year 2021/22
(2020/21: other losses, net of HK$9 million). The turnaround gain was
primarily due to a substantial increase in fair value of investment properties
by HK$289 million (2020/21: an increase in fair value of investment
properties by HK$11 million) offset by the loss on investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$80 million (2020/21: the gain on investments
at fair value through profit or loss of HK$16 million).

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs increased from HK$169 million in the year
2020/21 to HK$232 million in the year 2021/22. The increase was mainly
due to increase of commission expense relating to the sales of residential
properties in Hong Kong and Changchun, Mainland China.

Share of results of associates

The Group's share of results of associates decreased from HK$240 million
in the year 2020/21 to HK$145 million in the year 2021/22. The decrease
was mainly attributable to the associates in Mainland China and Hong Kong
under lifts and escalators business.
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Share of results of joint ventures

The Group's share of results of joint ventures decreased from HK$99
million in the year 2020/21 to HK$82 million in the year 2021/22. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the joint ventures in Mainland China
and Hong Kong under the Property Development and Operations segment.

Finance costs, net

Finance costs, net of HK$62 million were recorded in the year 2021/22
(2020/21: HK$53 million). Finance costs increased by HK$2 million to
HK$89 million (2021/22: HK$87 million), while finance income decreased
by HK$7 million to HK$27 million (2020/21: HK$34 million), mainly due to
decrease in bank deposit income.

Taxation

Taxation of HK$157 million in the year 2021/22 (2020/21: HK$106 million)
was derived from the current tax expenses of HK$172 million (2020/21:
HK$82 million) and the deferred tax credit of HK$15 million (2020/21:
deferred tax expenses of HK$24 million). The increase was mainly due to
increase of taxable profit relating to the sales of residential properties in
Changchun, Mainland China.

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$645 million was
achieved in the year 2021/22 (2020/21: HK$641 million). Excluding the
increase in fair value of investment properties of HK$289 million (2020/21:
HK$11 million) and government grants of HK$25 million (2020/21: HK$120
million) in the year 2021/22, profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company decreased by HK$179 million.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Investment properties

The carrying value of investment properties increased by HK$1,088 million
to HK$4,749 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$3,661 million) mainly
due to acquisition of investment properties in London, the United Kingdom
and increase in fair value.

Property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment increased by HK$123
million to HK$3,377 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$3,254 million)
which mainly resulted from acquisition of two pieces of land in Hong Kong.
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Goodwill

The carrying value of goodwill increased to HK$635 million as at 31 March
2022 (2021: HK$630 million), mainly due to increase in exchange gain.

Interests in associates

Interests in associates consisted of interests in associates, including
goodwill, of HK$655 million (2021: HK$643 million) and non-current portion
of amount due from an associate of HK$22 million (2021: HK$Nil).

Interests in joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures consisted of interests in joint ventures, including
goodwill, of HK$929 million (2021: HK$867 million) and non-current portion
of amount due from a joint venture of HK$264 million (2021: HK$264
million).

Properties under development (under non-current and current
assets)

Properties under development (under non-current and current assets)
decreased by HK$946 million to HK$1,696 million (2021: HK$2,642 million)
mainly representing transfer of properties in Hong Kong and Mainland
China totalling HK$1,611 million to properties for sale.

Properties for sale

The increase in properties for sale of HK$828 million to HK$1,086 million
(2021: HK$258 million) was mainly due to the completion of property
development projects in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2022, bank balances and cash decreased to HK$2,667
million (2021: HK$2,782 million), of which 73.6% (2021: 76.4%) of bank
balances and cash were denominated in Hong Kong and US dollars while
18.4% (2021: 17.9%) were mainly denominated in Renminbi.
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Bank and other borrowings (under current and non-current
liabilities)

Bank and other borrowings increased to HK$4,020 million as at 31 March
2022 (2021: HK$3,499 million) as a result of payment for acquiring two
commercial properties in London, the United Kingdom financed by
drawn down of bank loans during the year. 55.8%, 28.5% and 10.2%
of the balance as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 60.1%, 34.3% and Nil) were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, US dollar and British Pound respectively.

The portion of the Group's bank and other borrowings due within one year
increased from 44.8% as at 31 March 2021 to 60.3% as at 31 March 2022.

Majority of the borrowings in Hong Kong, the US and the United Kingdom
carry floating interest rates, most of which are based on Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate or the Bank
of England Base Rate.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's net assets attributable to shareholders
of the Company amounted to HK$10,589 million, an increase of HK$659
million when compared with 31 March 2021 of HK$9,930 million. Such
increase was mainly from the profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company of HK$645 million and exchange difference on translation of
operations of overseas subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of
HK$131 million offset by dividend payment of HK$163 million.

LEVERAGE RATIOS

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated cash
flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong Kong, the
US and the United Kingdom.

As at 31 March 2022, of the Group's total debt which amounted to
HK$4,020 million (2020: HK$3,499 million), HK$1,145 million (2021:
HK$1,192 million) was attributable to the senior housing business, of
which HK$1,080 million (2021: HK$1,114 million) was without recourse to
the Company.
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Analysis of the net debt is set out below:

Unsecured: F2iigtiil
— other business —HAib R
Secured: BHE
— senior housing business —REREER
— other business —HAiER
Total debt 1B
Bank balances and cash WITHEF MRS
Net debt FERS

As at 31 March 2022, with the increase in bank and other borrowings,
total debt to equity ratio increased to 35.8% (2021: 33.1%), which was
expressed as a percentage of bank and other borrowings over the Group's
net assets of HK$11,227 million (2021: HK$10,569 million). Net debt to
equity ratio increased to 12.1% (2021: 6.8%), which was expressed as
a percentage of net bank and other borrowings (representing total bank
and other borrowings net of bank balances and cash) over the Group's
net assets. Ratio of total debt to total assets of HK$20,215 million (2021:
HK$18,613 million) increased from 18.8% to 19.9% as at 31 March 2022.

With the existing banking facilities and the recurrent cash generation
from its operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet
the funding requirements for its ongoing operations as well as its future
expansion.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. The Group's treasury activities are centralised in order to
achieve better risk control and minimise cost of funds. Cash is generally
placed in short-term deposits with majority denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, Renminbi or US dollar. The Group’s liquidity and financing
requirements are frequently reviewed. In anticipating new investments
or maturity of bank and other borrowings, the Group will consider new
financing while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
INTEREST RATES

The major currencies used to operate the businesses are Hong Kong dollar,
Renminbi and US dollar. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had arranged
foreign currency swap contracts amounting to HK$2 million (2021: HK$3
million) to hedge part of its foreign currency risk from various foreign
currencies used for business operations. The Group had no outstanding
interest rate swap contract as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$Nil).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, bank and other borrowings of HK$1,873 million
(2021: HK$1,597 million) and other unutilised banking facilities were
secured by charges on investment properties of HK$1,011 million (2021:
HK$275 million), property, plant and equipment of HK$1,409 million (2021:
HK$1,344 million), investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$84
million (2021: HK$35 million), other non-current assets of HK$13 million
(2021: HK$17 million), inventories of HK$91 million (2021: HK$145 million),
debtors, contract assets, deposits paid and prepayments of HK$124 million
(2021: HK$103 million) and deposits at bank of HK$143 million (2021:
HK$228 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities are set out in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements.

COMMITMENT

Details of the commitment are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements. The commitment is to be financed by borrowings and
internal funds.
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MR. KUOK HOI SANG M.H., Executive Director, Chairman and Managing
Director, chairman of the Executive Committee and the Nomination
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee, aged 72, joined
Chevalier Group in 1972. He is also a director of certain companies of the
Group. Mr. Kuok has extensive experience in business development and is
responsible for the strategic planning and management of the operations
of lift and escalator, building construction, building supplies, aluminium
windows and curtain walls, electrical and mechanical engineering, civil
engineering, property investment and development as well as investment
projects of Chevalier Group. Mr. Kuok is the Chairman of Executive Board
of The Hong Kong Real Property Federation, the Honorable Founding
President of Registered Specialist Trade Contractors Federation, the
President of The Lift and Escalator Contractors Association, the Chairman
of the Hong Kong — China Branch of The International Association of
Elevator Engineers, Vice President of The Hong Kong Federation of
Electrical and Mechanical Contractors Limited and a Registered Lift and
Escalator Engineer in Hong Kong.

Mr. Kuok has served on a number of the Boards and Committees of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, including
the Lift and Escalator Safety Advisory Committee as well as the Written
Examination Committee of the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department for registration of lift engineers and escalator engineers.
Mr. Kuok was awarded the Medal of Honour by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2016 for his dedicated
public service, particularly for his contributions to the development of the
electrical and mechanical services industry. He was also a member of
the Guangzhou Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference from the 9th to 12th sessions and the Election Committee of
the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

MR. TAM KWOK WING, Executive Director, Deputy Managing Director
and a member of the Executive Committee, aged 61, joined Chevalier
Group in 1986. He is also a director of certain companies of the Group.
Mr. Tam is responsible for the operations of cold storage and logistics;
insurance services; property investment and development; property
management; and travel agency businesses.

Mr. Tam holds a Bachelor Degree in Laws from Peking University of the
People’'s Republic of China; a Master of Arts Degree from City University
of Hong Kong; and a Postgraduate Diploma in Corporate Administration
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Tam is a Fellow Member
of each of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators; the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors; the Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom; and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. Tam is
also a Chartered Member of the Chartered Institute of Housing.
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At present, Mr. Tam is a member of the Governing Committee and the
Immediate Past Chairman and a Councillor of the General Insurance
Council in the Hong Kong Federation of Insurers. He also sits as a member
on the Property Management Services Authority. In addition, he is a Past
President of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, and a Past
President and Council Member of the Hong Kong Association of Property
Management Companies. He is also currently a member of the fifth-term
Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Mr. Tam has been appointed as the Honorary Vice Consul of the Kingdom
of Bahrain to Hong Kong. He also serves as the Secretary General of
the Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association. He was also a Standing
Committee Member of the 13th Changchun Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference.

MR. HO CHUNG LEUNG, Executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee, aged 72, joined Chevalier Group in 1985. He is also
a director of certain companies of the Group. He is responsible for the
internal audit of the Group. Mr. Ho is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

MR. MA CHI WING, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 53, joined Chevalier Group in 1993. He is also a
director of certain companies of the Group. He is responsible for the
human resources and general administration of the Group. Mr. Ma has
extensive experience in project management and is currently in charge of
the healthcare investment, car dealership, hotel investment and trading
businesses of the Group. Mr. Ma holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration from The University of Warwick in the United Kingdom, a
Bachelor Degree in International Business Studies from City University
of Hong Kong, a Corporate Finance Certificate from the University of
California, Berkeley in the United States of America, and a Professional
Certificate in China Construction from Tsinghua University, Mainland China.

MISS LILY CHOW, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 59, joined Chevalier Group in 1990. She is also a director
of certain companies of the Group. She is responsible for strategic planning
and business development of the Group. Miss Chow holds a Bachelor
of Arts degree from the University of British Columbia in Canada. Miss
Chow is a Honorary Chairman of Ladies’ Committee of The Chinese
General Chamber of Commerce, a Vice President of All-China Women'’s
Federation Hong Kong Delegates Association, the Hong Kong non-voting
member of the All China Women's Federation and a member of the board
of Governors of Hong Kong Sinfonietta. She is also currently a member of
the fifth-term Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. She was also a Standing Committee member of the 15th session
of the Ningbo Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Miss Chow is the daughter of the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching,
Chairman Emeritus of the Company, and a sister of Mr. Chow Vee Tsung,
Oscar, Non-Executive Director of the Company.
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MR. CHOW VEE TSUNG, OSCAR, Non-Executive Director, aged 48,
joined Chevalier Group in 2000. He is also a director of certain companies
of the Group. He holds a degree in Master of Engineering from The
University of Oxford in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chow is currently a
member of General Committee and a member of Chamber Council of the
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce, and a General Committee
Member of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong. Mr.
Chow is the Honorary Consul of the Kingdom of Bahrain in Hong Kong
and currently the Chairman of Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association.
He is also a member of the Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference and a member of the fifth-term Election
Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Mr. Chow
is also a court member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr.
Chow is the son of the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching, Chairman Emeritus of
the Company, and a brother of Miss Lily Chow, Executive Director of the
Company.

MR. YANG CHUEN LIANG, CHARLES B.B.S., J.P., Independent Non-
Executive Director and chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
aged 63, joined the Company in 2008. Mr. Yang obtained a Master Degree
in Business Administration from Cass Business School in London, the
United Kingdom in 1983 and is currently a sole proprietor at S. Y. Yang &
Company, Practising firm of Accountants and member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales as well as the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yang holds directorship in
various private companies. His community duties include the Director and
Fourth Vice President & Admissions, Budgets & Allocations Committee
Chairman and Vice Patron of the Community Chest, panel member of the
Insurance Appeals Tribunal, an independent director of the Travel Industry
Council of Hong Kong, member of Travel Industry Authority, member of
Hospital Governing Committee of Yan Chai Hospital and Treasurer of the
Council Committee of The Hong Kong Academy for Performing Arts. Mr.
Yang was selected as “QOutstanding Accountant Ambassador” by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was appointed
as Justices of the Peace by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region in 2004 and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2011.
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PROFESSOR POON CHUNG KWONG G.B.S., J.P., Ph.D., D.Sc.,
Independent Non-Executive Director and chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee, aged 82, joined the Company in 2012. Professor Poon
obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree from the University of
Hong Kong, a Doctor of Philosophy degree and a Higher Doctor of Science
degree from the University of London in the United Kingdom. He was
a postdoctoral fellow at the California Institute of Technology and The
University of Southern California in the United States of America. He also
held the Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2009. Professor Poon is currently the chairman of
Virya Foundation Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation).
He is an Emeritus Professor and the President Emeritus of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and had devoted 40 years of his life to advancing
university education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from
his 18-year presidency at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Professor
Poon was appointed a non-official Justices of the Peace in 1989 and
received the OBE award in 1991, the Gold Bauhinia Star award in 2002, and
the “Leader of the Year Awards 2008 (Education)”. In addition, Professor
Poon was appointed as a member of the Legislative Council (1985-1991)
and a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (1998-2013).

Professor Poon is a non-executive director of Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Limited, an independent non-executive director and member
of corporate governance committee of Henderson Land Development
Company Limited, and an independent non-executive director, member of
board audit and risk committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited. All of
those companies are public companies listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

MR. IRONS SZE B.B.S., J.P., Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee, aged 60, joined the Company in 2016.
Mr. Sze graduated with a Bachelor's degree in Science from University of
Wisconsin-La Crosse in the United States of America in 1985. Mr. Sze has
extensive experience in investment and corporate management. Mr. Sze
is an independent non-executive director, member of the audit committee
and remuneration committee of Continental Holdings Limited; an
independent non-executive director, chairman of the nomination committee
and member of the audit committee of ST International Holdings
Company Limited; an independent non-executive director, chairman of
the remuneration committee and member of the audit committee of
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited; an independent non-executive director,
chairman of nomination committee, and member of the audit committee
and remuneration committee of Jianzhong Construction Development
Limited. He was also appointed as an independent non-executive director,
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of Redco Healthy Living Company Limited on 14 March 2022.
All of the above mentioned companies are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Sze is also an executive director of a private
company, Hang Tung Resources Holding Limited and holds directorship in
various private companies.
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Mr. Sze is a Deputy Director of the Population Resources and Environment
Committee of the 13th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, an executive member of the Beijing
Municipal Standing Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the Permanent Honorary President of The
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the Deputy Secretary
General of the Hong Kong Coalition, a Council member of the Hong Kong
Repertory Theatre Limited, a member of Labour Advisory Board under
Labour Department and a court member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He was also elected as a member of Election Committee of the
Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2016.
Mr. Sze was appointed as a Justices of the Peace and awarded the Bronze
Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in 2011 and 2015 respectively.

MR. SUN LELAND LI HSUN, Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee, aged 60, joined the Company in 2019.
Mr. Sun obtained his Master of Business Administration in 1986 from the
UCLA Anderson School of Business, the United States of America. Mr.
Sun is an independent non-executive director, a member of remuneration
committee and nomination committee of Quanzhou Huixin Micro-credit
Co., Ltd., which is a public company listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is also an independent non-
executive director, chairman of the audit committee and a member of
remuneration committee of Mizuho Securities Asia Limited. Mr. Sun is
the founder and chief executive officer of Pan Asian Mortgage Company
Limited, an innovative non-banking financial services company specialising
in residential mortgage financing in Hong Kong since 2001.

Mr. Sun is a member of the General Committee and a member of Chamber
Council of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce, a Chairman of
the Nominating Committee of English Schools Foundation and a member
of the Executive Committee and Honorary Treasurer of the Servicemen's
Guides Association.

Mr. Sun was elected as a member of Election Committee of the Chief
Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2017. He was
also appointed by the Financial Secretary of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region as the first Chief Operating Officer
of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited in 1997. Previously,
he was a Senior Managing Director of Bear Stearns Asia Limited and an
Executive Director of Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC. Mr. Sun was also the
President of The American Club Hong Kong and member of the Executive
Committee (Treasurer) and Board of Governors of the American Chamber
of Commerce in Hong Kong.
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at the date of this report AREERAREHRA TEMEFIIN
are as follows: I

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN USE () HERENE BRNE

Approximate The Group's
Location gross floor area* Lease term interest
1t 2 EEEREAH* R FH AEB{b#ER
sq. ft. FHR %
Hong Kong &8
Units 1011 to 1019 on 10th Floor, Commercial and carpark 174,600 Medium 100
19th to 23rd Floors and one-third ElEP S HHf

interest in 201 car parking spaces of

Chevalier Commercial Centre,

8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay
NEEERE\FELHERL

tE—ST——E2-ZT-NE-

TAE- TR RIE= 5

2201 {EfFEf
Chevalier Warehouse Building, Industrial 118,300 Medium 100
3 On Fuk Street, On Lok Tsuen, Fanling S AR

WaELEBLRE=FETERAE

29-33 Tsing Yi Road, Tsing Yi Industrial 253,500 Medium 87.5
BRBXEZTNE=T=% I% A
8 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung Cold storage warehouse 380,000 Medium 75
LREEHN\R RERE A
124-130 Kwok Shui Road and Cold storage warehouse 427,500 Medium 75
79-85 Yau Ma Hom Road, Kwai Chung REEE ):id
LREBE-A-THE—BA=TH
Roafi#E+hENT AR
No. 20, Shek O Road Residential 5,300 Long 100
BRE=TH F=E =8
Unit 801 on 8th Floor, Cheung Fung Industrial ~ Industrial 20,400 Medium 45
Building, 23-29 Pak Tin Par Street, T R
Tsuen Wan

ZEORBE_T=E-TN%
RETXRENENT—F

Unit 802 on 8th Floor, Cheung Fung Industrial  Industrial 20,700 Medium 100
Building, 23-29 Pak Tin Par Street, I% H
Tsuen Wan

SEAREH-_TZE-AN
RUTERE\ENZ =

28 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
FEMER

() HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN
USE (CONTINUED)

() BEREYE B AW (E)

The Group's
interest

FEEREER

Approximate

gross floor area* Lease term

ZNFH

Location

ok 3 BEERVR*

Mainland China H1E] 3t

LEDRERZERE B/ T/\SRRE

KETHHRALHERRILE

Singapore N3

Chevalier House, 23 Genting Road,
Singapore 349481

The Blue Building, 10 Genting Road,
Singapore 349473

Us %[

430 East Grand Avenue,
South San Francisco, CA 94080

13258 Nelson Avenue, City of Industry,

Los Angeles, CA 91746

1530, 1560, 1570 & 1590 Poplar Drive,
Medford, Oregon 97504

1700 Montana Drive,Charlotte,
North Carolina 28216

8425 Aspi Blvd NE, Moses Lake WA 98837

535 U.S 1568 W Yanceyville, NC 27379

3060 SE Stark Street, Portland,
OR 97214

37501 Joy Road, Westland, Wayne County,

MI 48185

6031 Cheyenne Avenue, Las Vegas,
NV 89108

Residential, shop and
carpark
% BHEREES

Commerecial

i

Industrial

I¥

Industrial

I¥

Industrial/MVarehouse

I%/8E
Industrial/WWarehouse
I%/8E
Senior housing
zEhE
Senior housing
zEhE
Senior housing
zEhE
Senior housing
zEhE
Senior housing
zEhE
Senior housing

ZEhRE

Senior housing

ZEhRE

sq. ft. TR

142,600

12,000

106,500

16,900

37,000

31,400

33,600

34,400

50,900

38,300

150,500

122,700

109,100

Medium
H

Medium
i

Freehold
KAERE

Freehold
KRR

Freehold
KA ERE

Freehold
KA EERE
Freehold
KA EERE
Freehold
KA ERE
Freehold
KA ERE
Freehold
KA ERE
Freehold
KA EERE
Freehold
KA ERE

Freehold
KA ERE

%

80

70

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

98.6

100

100

100

HIEBREEMAERALR
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

() HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN () BEREME BRWEGE)

USE (CONTINUED)
Approximate The Group's
Location gross floor area* Lease term interest
1t 2 3 BEERAH* ZHEHR REBA{b#ER
sq. ft. ¥R
1001 Main Street, Buffalo, Medical office building 296,600 Freehold v
Erie Country, New York 14203 BENAENE KA EERE BELE
455 Toll Gate Road - Building 3 Warwick, Medical office building 62,700 Medium v
Kent Country, LT N-Y N i RERE

Rhode Island 02886

455 West Woodview Road West Grove, Medical office building 68,800 Medium v
Chester Country, BENAERE A BELE

Pennsvlania 193390

The United Kingdom %
1-3 Hammersmith Broadway, Hammersmith, ~ Commercial 29,400** Long 100
London [l =8
30 King Street, London Commercial 35,600** Long 100
[E)i =8
Canada &£ X
838 Hamilton Street, Vancouver, Hotel 66,000 Freehold 100
B.C., V6B 6A2 BIE KAFERE
4334-4340 Kingston Road, Ontario, Office and workshop 20,200 Freehold 100
M1E 2M8 for automobile KA ERE
dealership
BIERBEEHE I NAE
&I%
14535-14583 Yonge Street, Aurora, Office and workshop 25,000 Freehold 100
Ontario, L4G 6L1 for automobile KAERE
dealership
BIERBEEHE I NAE
&kI%
Thailand &ZE
Chevalier House, Office premise and 21,300 Freehold 100
540 Bamrungmuang Road, showroom KAERE
Debsirin Sub-district, MAERMFIE

Pomprab District, Bangkok Metropolis

30 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

FEYER
(11) PROPERTIES FOR SALE m FEYE
Approximate The Group's
Location gross floor area* Lease term interest
1t 2 BEEREAZ ZANES AEE TR
sq. ft. £ AR %
Hong Kong &8
Sablier, 8 Fuk Chak Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon 61,700 Medium 100
NEAAEEZE/\FHE i
City Hub, No. 8 Kowloon City Road, No. 44 20,600 Medium JVF
Chi Kiang Street and No. 6 Kowloon City Road, i HA AEME
Ma Tau Kok, Kowloon
NEEBEANERE/\ N IENT IR
MBS E ST EE
Mainland China FE A its
REMGEREEM 1 H28 K38 - 240EARBEN - 1,079,400 Medium 9%
476MEEEE A R 110(EFBEL hE
() PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (IR ES
Estimated
gross floor
Stage of Expected date Approximate area after  The Group's
Location completion  of completion  Major usage sitearea  completion* interest
2 TIEE BitEIAE  FERR it TREMT AEEf{EER
[EE=Fk EEEE %
sq.ft. FAR  sq. ft. FAR
Hong Kong &i&
Nos. 292A-D Prince Edward Road West, Inprogress 2023 Residential 7,800 39,200 100
Homantin, Kowloon TRETHh ZEZ=F E=
NEMXARFEA_ENATZA-DR
No. 5 Hang Lok Lane, Shatin Inprogress 2026 Residential 47,900 52,700 100
DHELEE R TRRETHR  ZZZRE F=x
Fanling Sheung Shui Town Lot Inprogress 2026 Industrial 17,600 87,797 100
No. 245, On Kui Street, Fanling TRRETHR  ZZZRE I%
maEREEHE LKTRE_BN TR
Mainland China & Rt
REMGER Inprogress 2021102027  Residential 1,131,800 2,714,500 9%
Tiggmd —E-—F% and
—ECtF commercial
FEREA
*  Excluding carparks * I EEEES
+ Excluding the floor areas of basements, carparks, public amenities and - NEEMTE - R2HEE  AREERRBERZ
resettlement buildings S EEEE
~ The Group has 95% interest in the Medical Office buildings ~REEREBERATAEE S 2N EER
** Net floor area is adopted for UK properties > BHBEYERRFEEEE
#  The Group has 50% interest in City Hub o AEEREEETS A TR

HIEBREEERAR 31
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in the firm belief that they
are essential for promoting and maintaining investors’ confidence and
maximising shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of stakeholders, comply with regulatory requirements, and to
fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
sets out: (a) the mandatory requirements for disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report; and (b) the principles of good corporate governance,
that is, the code provisions on a “comply or explain” basis and certain
recommended best practices. The Company is in compliance with the
code provisions of the CG Code except for the following deviation:

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
person. The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the Board while the
Managing Director is responsible for managing the Group’s businesses.
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang serves as both the Chairman and Managing Director
of the Company. The Board believes that with Mr. Kuok’s comprehensive
knowledge in the history of the various business segments, and his
extensive experience in the operation of the Group, vesting the roles of
both Chairman and Managing Director in Mr. Kuok provides the Company
with strong and consistent leadership and facilitates the implementation
and execution of the Group's business strategies which is in the best
interest of the Company.

THE BOARD

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible leadership
for the Company. The Directors, individually and collectively, must act in
good faith and in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitors and
evaluates its operating and financial performance and reviews the corporate
governance standard of the Company. It also decides on matters such as
annual and interim results, notifiable transactions, director appointments or
re-appointments, and distribution of dividend and accounting policies.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought against
the Directors of the Group. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an
annual basis.

Where a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which has been determined
by the Board to be material, the matter shall be dealt with by a physical
board meeting instead of a written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in the
transaction should be present at that board meeting.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Executive Directors,
one Non-Executive Director and four Independent Non-Executive Directors
as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

Non-Executive Director
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles
Professor POON Chung Kwong
Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

Management profile of the Company is set out on pages 23 to 27.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other except that Mr. Chow Vee Tsung,
Oscar, Non-Executive Director of the Company is a brother of Miss Lily
Chow, an Executive Director of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

During the year, the Company received two written confirmations from
each of the Directors to update their biographical details and to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in the other publicly listed companies or
organisations and other significant commitments.

The Board meets at least four times a year. At least 14 days’ notice
is given to all Directors before each meeting and all Directors are
given an opportunity to include matters for discussion. An agenda and
accompanying board papers are sent in full to all Directors at least 3 days
before the intended date of a meeting. Management provides all Directors
with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Company’ performance, financial position and prospects in sufficient
detail to enable them to make informed decisions and discharge their
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules. The Chairman
also encourages all Directors to voice their concerns on each agenda
item and allow sufficient time for all issues to be discussed by Directors.
The Company Secretary records the details of matters considered, the
concerns raised by the Board and the decisions reached, and is responsible
for keeping the minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
Committee. All minutes are open for inspection at reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Draft minutes of meetings and final
versions of minutes are sent to Directors for their comments and record,
respectively, within a reasonable time after each meeting. During the year
under review, the Board held four meetings.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company also provides reading materials and
updates to the Directors on the latest developments and changes to the
Listing Rules, applicable laws and regulations relating to directors’ duties
and responsibilities.

During the year under review, the Company arranged a seminar titled
"Regulatory Updates for Hong Kong Listed Company” for the Directors.
Directors’ training is an ongoing process and all Directors are encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses. Directors
have provided their records of continuous professional development
received to the Company Secretary of the Company for records.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREAES

THE BOARD (CONTINUED) EEE(H)

The attendance of Directors at each meeting and training is set out in the BEETEeFNEINHERDT -
table below:

Meetings Attended/Held Attended
ERLE/BTRY seminars/
Received
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General reading
Directors Board  Committee = Committee =~ Committee Meeting materials
LiEHHE
s ENZEE HMZEE REZEE BRRAE BRMEER
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director) 414 - n n 1n v/
DB (FEREFELTE)
Mr. Tam Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director) 4/4 - - - 1n v/
BERE L (FEELLE)
Mr. Ho Chung Leung 4/4 - - - 1" v/
fIRERE 4
Mr. Ma Chi Wing 4/4 - - - " v/
Miss Lily Chow 4/4 - - - 1n v
JEFIFME
Non-Executive Directors
FHTEE
Dr. Ko Chan Gock, William* i - - - 1" v/
BEBEL*
Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar 4/4 - - - " v/
[ ERE
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUHETEE
Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles 4/4 33 1" n " v/
BEREE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong 4/4 33 1" n 7 v/
Mr. Irons Sze 34 2/3 - - n v
HERERE
Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun 444 33 - - n v
VR
*  Retired as a Non-Executive Director with effect from 23 August 2021. * AN ZE--—FNA-+=HEFTIEHITE
=
During the year under review, the Chairman held a meeting with all REBEERN THEEBTIEHNTESET
Independent Non-Executive Directors without the presence of other T—IREBEEMESEENSS -
directors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent Non-Executive Directors play an important role in the Board
by virtue of their independence and their diverse skill and experience.
Throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company met at all times
the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at least three Independent
Non-Executive Directors or representing at least one-third of the Board
and with at least one Independent Non-Executive Director possessing
appropriate accounting and financial management expertise and
professional qualifications.

In respect of the re-election of an independent non-executive director
who has served more than nine years at the annual general meeting, the
re-election of such independent non-executive director will be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting. The circular to shareholders will include their biographical
details, the reason why the Board considers that they are still independent
and should be re-elected.

The Company received from each of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors annual confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board assessed their independence
and concluded that all the Independent Non-Executive Directors are
independent. The Company has identified its Independent Non-Executive
Directors as such in all its corporate communications to the Shareholders.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board shall have power to appoint any person as a director either
to fill a vacancy or for expansion of the Board. The Company has set
up a Nomination Committee for formulating a nomination policy for
consideration by the Board and making recommendations to the Board on
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors. All candidates
must also meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the
Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director should also meet the independence criteria set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Every newly appointed director will receive a tailored induction on
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

In accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company, all Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings
of the Company. New directors appointed by the Board during the
year are required to retire and submit themselves for re-election at the
annual general meeting or general meeting immediately following their
appointments. Further, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third are required to retire from office by
rotation and no later than the third annual general meeting since the last re-
election or appointment of such Director.

Mr. Tam Kwok Wing, Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar, Professor Poon
Chung Kwong and Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun shall retire from office at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Wednesday, 31 August 2022 (the “AGM") in accordance with the Bye-
Laws of the Company. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, shall offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has four Board Committees, namely Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Executive
Committee and all of them report to the Board.

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
have been adopted and posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.
The Directors and each Committee have access to the advice of the
management and Company Secretary, and they may also able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for, among others, reviewing the
nature and scope of audit performed by external auditors and their
appointments, reviewing the Group's financial information and overseeing
the Group's financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems, and reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the
internal audit function. It is also responsible for reviewing the interim and
final results of the Group prior to recommending them to the Board for
approval. Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles, Independent Non-Executive
Director, is the chairman of the committee. He has extensive experience
in financial reporting and controls. Other members include the remaining
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung
Kwong, Mr. Irons Sze and Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31 March
2022. At the meetings, they reviewed the connected transactions (if any),
last year’s final results and accounts for the year ended 31 March 2021,
the interim results and financial statements for the six months ended
30 September 2021 and reviewed with management the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing,
financial reporting, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. The final results and financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 were reviewed by the Audit Committee in the meeting held
on 23 June 2022. They also reviewed and approved the engagement of
external auditors for providing non-audit services, the remuneration in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by external auditors, risk
management and internal control systems and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board based on the Company’s policy and structure on the
remuneration for all Directors of the Company, and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy
for approval by the Board. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
operation model where it has the responsibility, powers and discretion
to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors of the Company. The Remuneration
Committee currently comprises two Independent Non-Executive Directors,
namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong (chairman of the committee) and
Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles; and one Executive Director, namely Mr.
Kuok Hoi Sang.

TRERRE

EEZETE
EFEETRANEZES D

g FHEZEe  REER
€ UHRAEFSER -

l

I
@
=

RBERE
M#MITER

100 10

\
”

ARBRMNERBEREDAEZEZE
T FMEZBERRAZEENRE X
EERARBRER AR MEFEET
EEHEGLNEN EFNTZBEEAS
KEEBRATMENER A EEE
BRATSRBIUBEXER - ERMAREK

=

BREEE
BERZEGRE(EPERE)BAINEEE
AhEITEZE T EMBE N EEE - EE
AEBEZMBERRERANEE 2R
HEG - AREENAIEIERS - AR
ERMEE N EZBBEN AR - ZE
BeVaaRMAKETHRRMEEAR
TEFEHRZ - BUFRTESHERT
ERZEBREZIF - FRMBHRE RE
ZHERES - HMK B REEREIIE
HITES  DRRERLHIR  HRIESR
ERFIBRE -

ENEEENREE T - —F=ZA=1+—
BIEFFEARRITT=ZREs TRE L
=HBEERS(NE) HE-T-—F=
A=+—RALtLFENEFRBEERE
B #z2-Z-—FNLA=+HItXEA
M EEE R RE BEBERMAL
EERMN ST BRNRERS 0 Ml
EECRY  FHRE  RREERA
B EGEEHE HE_S-__F=A8
Tt HIFEZABPEENRERCER
EREEeN _E-_—_&F#A=-+=HZ
Mz @# LR - MEIER M EINE
BT IR R IE AL RS R B - HNEAZ &L
EMIREEa M IFR LRS- AR E
B R N EPES I R4 DA R N SR EAR B AR
R -

FMEES
FMZESRENARAERESTHRA
NABR KA - AR R E HBUER R 3
RAFTEANRRBERENESF  BHEHE
NTEFEHE - FTHZESCRA—F
EIFRE - BRENFMEESRET
B MBBREARBERBITESH
FEE  HFNEZE SRR hMA B
WITEFREFRABR(ZBEEER) MIEE
SRE - R—RPTESHELEREERK

HtEBEEARAH
2022 1R

37



38

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2022 to review the remuneration packages paid to Directors for
the year ended 31 March 2022. Details of Directors’ emoluments and five
highest pay individuals are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the chairman and the managing director. The
Nomination Committee has the responsibility to consider and identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Nomination Committee discusses and
reviews annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
agrees on measurable objectives for achieving diversity of the Board
and makes relevant recommendations to the Board for adoption with
reference to the Board Diversity Policy of the Company. The Nomination
Committee currently comprises one Executive Director, namely Mr. Kuok
Hoi Sang (chairman of the committee) and two Independent Non-Executive
Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Mr. Yang Chuen
Liang, Charles.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2022 to review the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assess the independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors,
recommend the re-election of retiring directors and make recommendation
on new appointment or any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company's corporate strategy.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in August 2017. The aim of
this policy is to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board of
Directors. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
in Board. The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with diversity with
respect to skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence,
age, gender, race and length of services. The Nomination Committee will
monitor the implementation of the policy from time to time with a view
to enhancing the Board’s performance. The Nomination Committee will
review the policy periodically and amend it as appropriate to ensure its
continued effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any proposed changes to
the Board for consideration and approval.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a Nomination Policy in November 2018. The aim
of this policy is to assist the Nomination Committee in identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select and
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals for
directorship, for the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the
managing director. The Nomination Committee shall consider the following
criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

Essence: The proposed candidate shall possess high ethical standards,
good character, and act with integrity.

Availability: The proposed candidate should be able to devote time
to understand the affairs of the Company in order to enable him/her to
make value-added contributions to the Board.

Qualification, expertise and experience: The proposed candidate
shall have ascertained qualification, expertise and experience in an
area of business or public affairs in line with the Company’s corporate
strategy.

Diversity: The diversity of the Board will be considered including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
race, skills, knowledge, religion, industry and professional experience
and length of service in accordance with the Diversity Policy of the
Company.

Additional criteria are required for assessing the independence of the
proposed independent non-executive director as appropriate:

Independence: comply with the independence requirements set under
the Listing Rules.

Time commitment: ensure that sufficient time can be devoted to
discharge the duties/responsibilities as independent non-executive
directors. For independent non-executive directors who hold
directorships in seven or more listed companies, the Board will need
to be satisfied that the proposed candidate can devote sufficient time
to the Board. The Nomination Committee will consider the following
factors which can affect the individual’s time commitment to the
Company:

1. whether at the time of nomination the Company is undergoing a
period of particularly increased activity, such as an acquisition or
takeover;

2. the frequency of having to chair the Board and/or the committee(s);

3. being multiple members of committees;
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NOMINATION POLICY (CONTINUED)

4. whether the candidate is a chief executive officer or full-time
executive director of another listed issuer; and

5. whether the candidate is an Independent Non-Executive Director
for multiple boards and the number of significant commitments at
Government or non-profit making bodies.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for re-election at any general
meeting. This policy shall be reviewed on a continuous basis and, when
necessary, can be revised by the Board from time to time.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing
business strategies and managing the daily operations of the Group’s
business to an Executive Committee which was established in 1991.
Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties of the
Executive Committee, have been adopted and are regularly reviewed and
updated by the Board. The terms of reference of the Executive Committee
were revised on 25 March 2021 so as to strengthen the governance
function as stipulated in the CG Code. Members of the Executive
Committee comprise five Executive Directors, namely Messrs Kuok Hoi
Sang (chairman of the committee), Tam Kwok Wing, Ho Chung Leung, Ma
Chi Wing and Miss Lily Chow.

The principal corporate governance functions of the Executive Committee
is to assist the Board and the Chairman in developing, reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
on assurance the compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
reviewing and monitoring of training and code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors, and also reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The Board is also
responsible for overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems. The risk management
and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to
manage, rather than eliminate, risks of failure in operating systems or in
achievement of the Group's business objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, which covers all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, on an annual basis. It also considers the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting function. Significant issues in the management letters
from both internal and external auditors will be brought to the attention
of the Audit Committee to ensure that prompt remedial action is taken.
All recommendations will be properly followed up to ensure they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Under the enterprise risk management framework, policies and procedures
are in place to identify, assess, manage, control and report risks. Such
risks include strategic, credit, operational (administrative, system, human
resources, tangible assets and reputation), market, liquidity, legal and
regulatory risks. Exposure to these risks is continuously monitored by the
Board through the Audit Committee.

The internal control system includes a defined management structure with
specified limits of authority. The Board has clearly defined the authorities
and key responsibilities of each division to ensure adequate checks and
balances. The internal control system has been designed to safeguard
the Group's assets against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for producing reliable financial
information; and to ensure compliance with applicable laws, regulations
and industry standard.

During the year under review, there were no major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified by the Audit Committee and both
the internal and external auditors have taken appropriate measures for
improvement. The Board is of the view that the risk management and
internal control systems in place for the year and up to the date of issuance
of the annual report is effective and adequate.

The Company’s Internal Audit Department monitors the Group's internal
governance and strives to provide objective assurance to the Board that
appropriate, adequate and effective risk management and internal control
systems are in place. It has unrestricted access to review all aspects of the
Group's activities and internal controls. It also conducts special audits of
areas of concern identified by management or the Audit Committee. The
Internal Audit Department adopts a risk-based audit approach. It conducts
independent risk assessment, at least on an annual basis, to determine all
key risk have been properly identified and assessed in accordance with the
Risk Management Policy and Procedure, as well as the existing risk control
and treatment measures are effective. All audit reports are circulated to the
Audit Committee and key management. The Internal Audit Department is
also responsible for following up the implementation of recommendations
and corrective actions.

The Board has in place a Whistle-Blower Policy for employees, and those
who deal with the Company such as the Company’s customers and
suppliers, to raise concerns in confidence regarding possible improprieties
within and in any matter relating to the Group. The Board has also
developed the Anti-Corruption, Business Gift and Entertainment Policy
to implement anti-corruption practices and to carry out the Company's
business fairly with honesty and integrity.
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DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
of the Group's financial performance and cash flows. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors have adopted generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates that
are fair and reasonable and prepared the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. The Auditor of the Company acknowledge
their reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor's Report on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 78 to 87.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR RELATED MATTERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the fees paid/payable to the auditors in
respect of the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors to the
Group were as follows:
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Nature of services Amount (HK$'000)
BRAGME SHE(BET )
Audit services — PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the 8,167
ZEARTS worldwide network of PricewaterhouseCoopers
FERUKEBE TRV EIS T R E BN RSB KER IR
RN o=y )
— other auditors 8,679
H i 2RED
Non-audit services — PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the 285
IERZERTS worldwide network of PricewaterhouseCoopers
FEERUKEBETRVEISAT R E BN RSB KER IR
RN o=y )
— other auditors 2,372
H iz 2RED

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules. Following a specific enquiry of all Directors, each of
the Directors confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code
throughout the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company, who
reports to the Chairman and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. During the year under review, the Company Secretary had duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS® RIGHTS

Convening a special general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. The requisition must be signed by
the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) themselves, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the said date.

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary and deposit the same at
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
enquiry@chevalier.com.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at the
general meeting. The number of shareholders shall represent not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting, or shall not be
less than one hundred shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied by
a statement with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at the general meeting. It must
also be signed by all of the shareholders concerned and be deposited at
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving the notice of the
resolution and circulating the statement submitted by the shareholders
concerned under applicable laws and rules.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for
election as a director is posted on the website of the Company.
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INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which enables shareholders to make
the most informed investment decisions. To ensure an ongoing dialogue
with shareholders and investors, the Board has in place Shareholders’
Communication Policy setting out a various channels of communication,
with the objective to maintain close communications with shareholders
and investors. The Policy is subject to regular review by the Board in order
to ensure that the policy remains effective.

The Company provides extensive information of the Group to its
shareholders and the public through the publication of interim and annual
reports, circulars, notices and announcements. Information released by
the Company to the website of the Stock Exchange is also posted on the
Company’s website at http://www.chevalier.com. The Company’s website
contains a news room section offering timely corporate announcements,
press releases and other business information.

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting
the Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’ meetings to
communicate any concerns they might have and provide comments and
suggestions to the Board directly. The general meetings of the Company
provide the best opportunity for exchange of views between the Board and
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, and auditor, and where applicable,
the independent board committee, are available to answer questions at
general meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings
on each substantially separate issue, including the re-election of individual
Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted
on by poll and details of the poll voting procedures will be explained to
shareholders at general meetings. The poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in November 2018 in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the Bye-Laws of
the Company. The aim of this policy is to establish the parameters for
the Board of the Company when they make decision on the declaration
or recommendation of the dividend. It also allows shareholders of the
Company to participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the
Company’s liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. This policy shall
be reviewed on continuous basis, and when necessary, and can be revised
by the Board from time to time.

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND BYE-LAWS OF THE
COMPANY

During the reporting period, no amendment had been made to the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (“Report”) is
prepared by the Group. Unless otherwise stated, the information and data
contained in this Report cover the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March
2022. The Group has varied business operations in Hong Kong and other
countries. Due to the differences in reporting standards across regions and
given our main operations remain in Hong Kong, this Report only covers
our subsidiaries’ operations in Hong Kong.

Sustainability is essential to the Group’s development, as well as for the
overall viability of our business and for the benefit of the community. The
Board is responsible for setting the overall objectives and strategies of
the Group, overseeing the ESG issues, while monitoring and evaluating
its operating and financial performance, and reviewing its corporate
governance standards. The Board delegated its power to oversee, review
and monitor the Group's ESG policies and practices to the Executive
Committee and the Executive Committee ensures that relevant information
is in compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide provided in Appendix 27 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and makes
recommendations to the Board on significant decisions and findings.

During the year under review, the Group committed itself to a high
standard of corporate social responsibility and strictly complied with
relevant laws and regulations reporting. The Report is prepared in
accordance with the four principles as set out in the ESG Reporting Guide
of the Listing Rules:

(i) Materiality: ~ The Group communicated with various stakeholders to
identify material issues, please refer to the “Stakeholder
Engagement” for more details;

(i) Quantitative: The raw data used for formulating the KPIs are sourced
from the statistics of relevant departments;

(iii) Balance: This Report is prepared in an impartial and equitable

manner to present our performance; and

(iv) Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the Group adopted consistent
methodologies for disclosure of information and data.
And there were no significant changes in the boundaries
of reporting compared to the last reporting year.
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RIR - HERERERE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that communication with its stakeholders helps
the Group gain a better understanding of their needs, expectations and
concerns which in turn enables us to attain sustainable development in
economic, environmental and social terms. The table below shows how
we communicate with our key stakeholders.

i ES R

AEERE BESNESBEPINAE
BB T RRSNTR - HERRET
EMERMAERLE RERMETEER
AREER - TRIIMBPAEEIZRHND
HEBITR o

Stakeholders Needs, expectations and concerns Communication channels
B#HE FR - HEREE BBERE
Shareholders and investors e Return on investments e Company website
RRRIZEE K& B YNGIFER
e Corporate strategy and governance e Interim and annual reports
hERRKLES PHEIRFERE
® Annual general meeting
BERBFERE
e Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars
NE - GEBE  BH
Employees e Compensation and benefits e Employee activities
(== e ISE BEEE
e (Career development opportunities e Corporate magazine and intranet
BEERES 12T K B 48
e Occupational health and safety e In-house training programmes
BEERERT D WEREEIET &
e Job performance reviews and appraisals
TERB R M L
e Regular meetings/training sessions
EEw®, R
Sub-contractors e Effective project management e Training sessions
DEE BHHIER B HAIRRRE
e QOccupational health and safety e Health, safety and environment
BERERETZS committee
e FEthical business practices fEE - 2 NRIRBELZEE
[SESEAEE-S e Regular operation meetings
e Sub-contractors assessment criteria TFHEESE
DB L ESE e Audits and assessments
E=z MErE
Suppliers e |ong-term relationship ® Procurement processes
HrEm REIG ERR REEMAZ
e FEthical business practices e Regular review and assessment
HXBREAER E HAE B KT
e Supplier assessment criteria
HERTHIRE
General public and community e Environmental issues e Corporate news
NS Ean RIEEE NSIEiS
e Community participation e Volunteer community work
R = Ttl= R
e Sponsorships and donations
BB B
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

During the year, the Group collected the opinion of internal and external
stakeholders (including shareholders and investors, directors, employees,
suppliers, sub-contractors, customers and business partners) through an
online questionnaire. We identified 18 ESG issues specific to the actual
business situation of the Group, with reference to the ESG Reporting
Guide. Then, we integrated and analysed the results from the online
questionnaire and ranked the selected ESG issues according to the overall
importance to the Group. The materiality issues assisted the Group to

better plan for ESG related matters.

Materiality Matrix

«Q
>

Importance to External Stakeholders ot T
HINPFHENEE M

28y
&

Corporate Governance
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Importance to Internal Stakeholders P
R ENES Fiigh
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1 Strategy for environmental, social and governance goals and

performance

2 Measures for anti-money laundering and anti-corruption

3 Protection of company confidential information, intellectual property

and data privacy security
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RIR - B RERHRE

MATERIALITY ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
Materiality Matrix (continued)
Environmental Protection

4 Management and control of greenhouse gases and emissions of air
pollutant

5 Waste disposal and reduction measures
6 Energy consumption and measures to improve energy efficiency
7 Water consumption and measures for water conservation

8 Risk of climate change (e.g. extreme weather or natural disasters)

Operating Practices
9 Impact of the supply chain on the environment

10 Environmental considerations when procuring goods and services
11 Customer service quality and procedures of handling complaints

Employment
12 Employee compensation and benefits

13 Diversified and professional training and development plans

14 Occupational health and safety management measures to provide a
safe and healthy working environment to all employees

15 Compliance with all equal opportunities legislation
16 Talent attraction and retention

Community Investment

17 Participate in or organise community services to promote social
development

18 Sponsor academic and cultural activities to cultivate young talents

With reference to the materiality matrix, among the 18 materiality issues,
6 were identified as material this year by our stakeholders and directors,
including data protection, anti-corruption, occupational health and safety,
recruitment and retention, community engagement and community
investment. Material issues have been escalated to the Executive
Committee for review and confirmation.
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RIR - g REREE

(A)ENVIRONMENTAL (A)IR3R

Emissions

During the year, the Group recorded carbon emissions mainly from its
cold storage and logistics business. Please refer to the table below
which sets out the Group's total carbon emissions, by category, for the
year.

295 &)

RER - REBSSORFRE T ZR
BELSEAERDRES - BRAAKE
REREIDNAFEAMPINE T2
BT -

Greenhouse gas emissions BEREHER
Tonnes of CO,e
Carbon Emissions B e —FtiEE (W)
Scope 1: Direct greenhouse gas emissions FEN  EEAEREHEN 13,260.15
Scope 2: Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions #HE2 : gEREERE RN 6,643.94
Scope 3: Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions HES : EuEERE RN 107.22
Total greenhouse gas emissions AEREHNBE 20,011.31

Scope 1 covers carbon emissions generated by Hydrofluorocarbons
in the refrigerant consumed by the cold storage and logistics
business, and is the largest source of carbon emissions for the
Group, representing over 60% of the total recorded greenhouse gas
emissions. The second largest carbon emissions under scope 2 came
from the electricity consumption of equipment and systems for cold
storage warehouses, representing nearly 20% of the total recorded
greenhouse gas emissions.

Greenhouse gas emissions also came from our corporate motor
vehicles and trucks. In general, the key air pollutants generated include
nitrogen oxides (NOy), sulphur oxides (SOy), and respiratory suspended
particles (also known as Particulate Matter ("PM")).

Air emissions

HBEVRERB LB A ERYREBHR
HFER BRI [UA L A £ 2 1Rk
Mo URAREEERSWBEN - 168k
FRERBHMAERIB60% ° £ K
BEERORBEE2 - RBAEEZRER
RGMEER - HEREREREBYN

HERT20% ©

BERBHMNKBRRTERLRE -
—RME EANTEERSEMERE
BEALWINOY ~ FREALW(SON K IRF
FERL (TR B BRI (TPM ) ©

REHHN

Emissions (kg)

Type of Air Pollutants ZRISRYMER HEHE(T5)
Nitrogen oxides (NOy) REINO,Y 1,603.38
Sulphur oxides (SOy) HmEAE(SOy) 2.67
Particulate Matter (PM) TR (PM) 121.00
HIEBREEERAT
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BiE - HEREARARE

(A)ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

Emissions (continued)

Waste is generated mainly from the disposal of materials from our
construction sites and the disposal of papers. All wastes are non-
hazardous and have been properly disposed of. The total amount of
waste generated is set out in the table below:

(A) 3R

Ri% (48)
Bemk iy (#8)
FEVNEE A B 2R B BB AME KA
RERE - MEEVHEEREECHER
E o TRIILFEANEYEE

Waste BEY)
Unit 2022
Category Rl B —EICF
Construction wastes R tonnes Mg 40,048.00
Construction wastes intensity REERERIEE tonnes/project i,/ 18 B 1,820.36
Waste papers REAR tonnes Mf 24.20

During the year under review, the Group did not violate any laws and
regulations in relation to emissions.

Nevertheless, we have implemented various energy saving measures
to help reduce our carbon emissions (please refer to the “The
Environment and Natural Resources” below).

Use of Resources

Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected by our
continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in all
business practices. During the year, resources consumed by the Group
are listed in the table below:

REBER - NEBEY 82 RA BN
IERDERRIER ©

Am - R ERESEERERIE - PAK
BRUEIBER (B2 5 T BRI R A
BR]) -

BERER
REBHRIBRENAHEERERE
{ER PTIR G MR IRIE 1 B 15 A
BRORM - NFER - REBHRNE
IREHII T -

Unit 2022
Category =Wl B —EICF
Electricity consumption HE=E kWh F F B 17,043,302.00
Electricity intensity %%?-EEI kWh/project T E i TE R 852,165.10
Water consumption FKE m3 37 F7 oK 75,678.51
Water intensity FKERE m?3/project 37K, TEH 4,451.68
Paper consumption R E tonnes M 46.54

We have implemented various energy saving measures to help reduce
our resources consumption (please refer to the “The Environment and
Natural Resources” below).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

(A)ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group recognises the importance of saving energy, fully utilising
resources and preventing pollution. We are determined to contribute
to the sustainability of the environment by minimising pollution that
may be caused by the business cycle thereby mitigating our impacts on
the environment. We also strive to do our best in our daily operations
to help achieve the core corporate society responsibility goals. The
following are our targets:

e on carbon emissions: engage in green upgrading works and
increase green refurbishment investment to minimise carbon
footprint;

e on electricity consumption: increase investment in environmental
technology to promote sustainable usage; and

e on waste reduction: formulate a maintenance plan and replace
high energy consumption equipment.

The Group took measures to reduce paper usage including the
promotion of the use of electronic devices, and encouraged the
use of online versions of corporate communications. Since 2008,
Forest Stewardship Council-certified papers have been used for the
production of our annual and interim reports to reduce the impact on
the environment. The Group also engaged recyclers to collect regularly
waste papers for recycling. In order to facilitate the collection of waste
papers, recycle bags are placed beside photocopiers.

In line with the Group’s promotion of environmental protection and
to save energy consumption, devices such as occupancy and motion
sensor which automatically turn lights off when the office is not
occupied, daylight sensor which reduces electric lighting inside the
building when it is daylight, and other measures such as the adoption
of light-emitting diode (LED) type high energy efficiency lamps and
the reduction of the number of light tubes by replacing them with T5
florescent tube in the lighting basins in offices are adopted. Most of our
office equipment carries the Energy Label issued by the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department which further helps decrease energy
consumption in our offices.

i%iﬁ N %i%& E/ﬁiﬁm
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(A)ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources (continued)

Our building construction division puts much effort into protecting the
environment and uses energy in the most efficient, cost-effective,
and environmentally responsible manner possible for new equipment,
major work and new design at project sites. To keep abreast with
market demands, our building construction division has commenced on
research and development to promote general application of Building
Information Modelling (BIM) and the Modular Integrated Construction
(MiC) since 2018. By promoting the application of innovative technology
which could help minimise dust and noise pollution, and reduce
construction time, nuisance to nearby communities is mitigated.
Meanwhile, it has also implemented other measures including noise
control, waste water discharge, dust control, controlled chemical
waste disposal, use of recyclable waste materials and prevention of
chemical leakage. Other examples were the use of biodiesel and use of
"Enertainer”, battery-based energy system which provides diesel-free
power, in some of our machineries on site. Environmental protection
policies and plans as well as energy policies and energy management
system manuals were set up for different projects. Some of our group
companies have obtained the ISO 14001 and ISO 50001 certifications
which also demonstrate our commitment to environmental protection
and energy management.

Our property management division has obtained the ISO 14001
certification since 2006 and is committed to enhancing environmental
awareness and promoting various recycling activities through its
managed estates. Activities were held for recycling and for promoting
green living lifestyle for residents and tenants of properties managed
by the Group in order to build a sustainable community with vibrancy
together with the residents. Six housing estates under its management
received a Certificate of Merit in “Source Separation of Domestic
Waste Commendation Scheme 2020/21" organized by Environmental
Protection Department.

In order to show its support for the development of renewable energy
in Hong Kong, the Group has introduced the installation of renewable
solar panel systems at three warehouse properties owned by the
Group, as well as seven estates/premises, comprising 51 buildings,
under its management. Some 6,700 solar panels have been installed
and the systems are expected to generate around 2.5 million kWh of
electricity each year — equivalent to the annual electricity consumption
of about 750 three-member households in Hong Kong, reducing carbon
emission by approximately 1.43 million kilograms per annum*. Among
the seven managed estates/premises that have participated in the
Scheme, Saddle Ridge Garden in Ma On Shan is one of the top estates
in the territory with over 2,000 solar panels installed in the extensive
solar panel system that has been set up at the estate. At the same
time, we also participate in the Feed-in-Tariff (“FiT"”) Scheme which
aims to promote the development of renewable energy under the
current Scheme of Control Agreements between the power companies
and the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
We hope to join hands with the Hong Kong community to promote
distributed renewable energy generation, while contribute to building a
clean Hong Kong.

*  Projection made based on the public information available as below:

The monthly electricity consumption for a typical three-member household
in Hong Kong being 275 kWh; The carbon emission intensity of generation
and energy storage portfolio quoted in “2021 Sustainability Report” of CLP
Power Hong Kong Limited being 0.57 kg/kWh.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

(A)ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources (continued)

Revenue from FiT Scheme is reallocated to subsidise electricity
spending while part of it will be reinvested in other conservation
measures, including the upgrade of the existing refrigeration system of
our cold storage facilities and introduce ones that use lower low global
warming potential refrigerants, thus facilitating the Group's sustainable
development strategy.

During the year, the Group entered into a green loan agreement
for a construction project with a financial institution, which was the
first green loan for the Group. This marked an important milestone
in the Group’s sustainability journey. Our Green Finance Framework
is evaluated by an external consultant and complied with all of the
requirements for green finance transactions. The loan will be used to
construct “Chung Yuet Lau”, an elderly housing project of the Hong
Kong Housing Society in Jat Min Chuen, Shatin, undertaken by our
building construction division. It is also the first MiC project of the
Hong Kong Housing Society which combines Hybrid-MiC (Hybrid
Modular Integrated Construction) and MIMEP (Multitrade Integrated
Mechanical, Electrical and Plumbing) methods. Compared with
traditional construction methods, MiC mitigates the environmental
impact from construction projects and is more in line with the principles
of sustainable development. The Group is committed to improve ESG
performance and will continue to promote green buildings which help
Hong Kong achieve its target of sustainable development and build a
better future.

The Group has been monitoring, and reviewing potential risks that
may be caused by climate change. With the increase in intensity and
frequency of extreme weather events caused by climate change, the
Group has developed operational procedures to deal with rainstorms,
severe typhoons, floods and heatwaves. In response to the impact
on the operations of Group caused by climate change, the Group will
continue to enhance its operation practices, for example additional
rest periods and shelters, ventilation facilities and potable water for
workers are also provided during hot weather. In addition, to strengthen
emergency preparedness and measures, training and drills were also
provided for employees and on-site staff regularly to prevent losses and
any accident. The Group will continue to monitor the development of
Government policies and ensure that effective response measures can
be established and implemented in a timely manner.
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R HERERKRE

(B)SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment and Labour Standards

(B)HtE

To attract, develop and retain qualified employees, the Group offers
professional development opportunities and a healthy working
environment for all employees. In addition, we have implemented equal

opportunity employment practices.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of approximately 3,700 full-
time employees globally. Below is an analysis of the Group's Hong
Kong workforce by employment type, gender and age group, and

employee turnover rate by gender and age group.
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Workforce by employment type, gender and age group

RERER MR FRARNSINETAR

Total Male Female 30 or below 31-50 51 or above

it Bt i 30RLA T 31-505% B1pRak A £
Full-time 28 2,007 1,382 625 340 776 891
Part-time & 54 32 22 10 12 32
Total 425+ 2,061 1,414 647 350 788 923

Employee turnover rate
by gender
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Employee turnover rate

by age group
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(B)SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Employment and Labour Standards (continued)

Maintaining gender diversity is a challenge to the Group, especially
for the construction and engineering segment. During the year, male
employees make up nearly 70% of the total workforce. The employee
turnover rate by age group is relatively even. The highest turnover rate
of employees falls in the age category of 30 or below who have all left
at their own accord.

The Group reviews its compensation and benefits programmes
regularly to ensure that its compensation and benefits packages remain
competitive. In addition, the Group continues to conduct annual review
of its pay and benefits packages including its medical scheme, health
check programmes, travel insurance, training subsidies and retirement
benefits to align them with prevailing offers in the market. The Chevalier
Staff Recreation Centre and a lactation room provides employees and
working mothers with a place to rest, relax and socialise, enabling them
to balance work and personal life. During the year under review, the
Group has organised various interest classes, Christmas lucky draw
and table tennis competition to facilitate our employees’ sense of
belonging. Besides, the Group also held a “Children Books Recycling”
activity to promote eco-friendly practices to staff members.

The Group advocates a community spirit that thrives on mutual
respect and equal opportunities. The Group complies strictly to equal
opportunities legislation, such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance,
Race Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance
and Family Status Discrimination Ordinance. To ensure diversity and
equality, we recruit, remunerate and promote employees based on
their experience, skills and performance, without prejudice to age, race,
disability, gender or family status. We promote workplace diversity
and convey anti-discrimination messages to all employees as stated in
the Human Resources Policies and orientation handbook. In addition,
the Group is strongly committed to compliance with relevant laws and
regulations and prohibit the employment of any child or forced labour.

The Group upholds high standards of business ethics and promotes
good personal conduct of its employees. Our Human Resources
Policies and Procedures Manual covers the Personal Conduct and Staff
Conduct Code, which has been published on intranet of the Company
to ensure that our staff members is well aware of the Policy.
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(B)SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment to all employees. We regularly monitor our workplace
hygiene and staff facilities. The Group has stringent guidelines for
employees who are assigned to work on construction sites to minimise
and prevent exposure to occupational hazards and to ensure a high
standard of occupational safety. Safety and health care trainings are
provided from time to time for newcomers and relevant personnel at
our construction sites so as to enhance their awareness of safety in a
working environment. Moreover, we offer, and it is mandatory for our
colleagues on sites to use, special personal protection equipment such
as safety helmets, ear plugs, dust masks, goggles and safety shoes.

During the year, given repeated outbreaks of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group implemented a series of preventive measures in order
to minimise the risk of infection among employees and provided
employees with a safe work environment. When the fifth wave of
COVID-19 hit, we responded quickly and re-introduced measures such
as flexible working hours and work-from-home, as well as updated our
employees with the latest pandemic-related information concerning
the Group via internal email on a regular basis. We also strengthened
disinfection and cleaning procedures of offices and construction sites,
and provided employees with free rapid antigen test kits.

The Group actively contributed to the community’s efforts to fight the
COVID-19 pandemic, a “COVID-19 Vaccination Incentive” programme
which included paid “Vaccination Leave” and over HK$2.5 million of
cash prizes was launched to encourage employees to get vaccinated as
soon as possible.

Occupational Health and Safety Committee

Our property management division has obtained the OHSAS 18001
recognition for its compliance with occupational health and safety
requirements since 2006. We have also obtained the 1SO 45001
accreditation starting from 2020 which recognises the standard of
our safety requirements not only for our staff, but also including
the contractors. Requirement of risk assessment to be conducted
before commencement of work is added in the tender documents to
minimise the risk of injury. Head office and selected sites are audited
periodically by the British Standards Institution for renewal of the
certificates. We have a Safety Committee which consists of property
management staff members from head office and site level operation
staff which formulates site safety measures and policies. Regular
meetings are scheduled every three months for post-implementation
review of audited sites, as well as information exchange on accidents
or injuries and precautionary measures of COVID-19 that can be
taken for other sites to follow. In addition, our property management
division endeavours to promote various sponsorship schemes held
by Occupational Safety & Health Council to enhance the personal
protective equipment and safety at work for front line staff and aims to
reduce the risk of injury.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Health and Safety (continued)
Site Safety Subgroup

Our construction and engineering colleagues ensure site safety
inspections are carried out on a regular basis and any finding of major
breaches and unsafe condition are rectified promptly. The site safety
subgroup comprising representatives from our project companies and
subcontractors, held operation meetings frequently. We are committed
to ensuring construction site safety of everyone. During the year under
review, no work related fatalities was recorded.

RIR - g REREE

(B)#-& (&)

BRR S TR (H)

2B R 22 ()

B2l

BER N TRAF ST TR
2HE - UWEMBMESRERRFR
2ER - BT MABAEERR R
ARkSBEAKREAR - TEFRTEE
Bl o RMBNRBRIEE LRSS E
AMZ R o REIREER - WRFGHRT
{ERRAMSETH -

Occupational Health and Safety
BERERZ2

casel(s) case(s) casel(s)
= % R % = %
Total numbers of work 0 0 1 0 0 0
related fatalities
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E et
case(s) day(s) case(s) day(s) case(s) day(s)
= H = =] = =]
Lost days due to 27 2,810.0 39 3,216.5 39 4,092.5
work injury
ETEBATIERSE

During the year, we received a number of awards at the 13th
Outstanding OSH Employees Award organised by the Occupational
Safety and Health Council and the 27th Considerate Constructors
Site Award Scheme co-organised by the Development Bureau and
Construction Industry Council. The awards affirm our commitment to
work safety which is well demonstrated by everyone in our project
teams, from management to frontline workers.

In line with the development of construction technology, our building
construction division has been, as early as in 2018, actively explored
the application of BIM and MiC technology, and has built a strong BIM
team. Using digital technology to simulate and display building models,
it improves operational efficiency and provide efficient support for the
daily operation and safety management of projects.
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R HERERKRE

(B)SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

(B)#t & (&)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Development and Training

The Group recognises that the knowledge and skills of our employees
are vital to the Group's business development and success, we,
therefore, encourage our employees to pursue further with their
professional development. The Group nominates employees to attend
internal and external training programmes from time to time and when
appropriate. Our training programmes also range from professional
and technical training to personal development skills. The Group
also provides education subsidies for employees who pursue further
education related to their job duties to encourage employee to further
develop their skills and broaden their knowledge. To continuously
attract new talents, the Group also organises apprenticeship
programmes and provides apprentices with on-the-job training.

Percentage of employees trained
by gender
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Development and Training (continued)
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Average training hours completed per employee by gender

EHRE D - BRESEAZINFIEE

Unit 2022
Etivi —TF
Male 1% hours /)\iF 7.20
Female %% hours /)\iF 7.18
Average training hours completed per employee by employee category
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Unit 2022
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Managerial N
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Supervisory
. i :
R hours /)\B¥ 9.93
General/Operational Staff "
S
—fRBEET hours /]\i 6.87

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group carefully selects qualified suppliers and subcontractors to
ensure that the entire production process is in line with our standards
and rules. We not only require our new suppliers or subcontractors to
submit all relevant documents for review, it will also stipulate in the
tender documents that the project must undergo a risk assessment
to minimise the risk of accidents. We regularly carry out inspections,
review and assessments of their ability and quality, as well as the
environmental and occupational safety and health management
systems. When necessary, the department heads will arrange a face-
to-face interview. If they are not eligible, the supplier or subcontractors
will be removed from the approved list to ensure that the suppliers or
subcontractors on the approved list are performing at a satisfactory
level.

The Group upholds fair operating practices in its relationship with
suppliers and subcontractors through efficient procurement system. We
have also adopted systems for competitive tendering and for suppliers’
and subcontractors’ performance monitoring and reporting. The
Group conducts regular reviews of the terms and conditions of supply
contracts and subcontracts between the Group and our suppliers and
subcontractors which enables the development of effective and strong
partnerships. Such reviews cover the potential enhancement of social,
ethical, environmental and gender equality criteria in supply contracts
and subcontracts. As part of our daily operation, we encourage the
sourcing of environmentally friendly products and promote eco-friendly
practices to the entire supply chain.
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(B)SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices (continued)
Product Responsibility

The Group recognises that good customer and after-sales services are
keys to the long-term success of the Group. In order to cater for prompt
response in meeting with the needs of our customers, the Group has
set up customer service teams for its different business units to handle
customers’ queries efficiently.

The Group respects the privacy of personal data and has developed
policies on the collection and usage of personal data. Review and
revision of the personal data and privacy policy are carried out to ensure
its effectiveness and compliance with relevant laws.

Since the Group is a customer-focused organisation, its environmental
engineering division and cold storage and logistics division commit to
making every effort to achieve customer satisfaction through continual
improvement in our quality management system in accordance with the
requirements of ISO 9001:2015. The environmental engineering division
has a quality policy statement which serves as a guideline to its team.
The cold storage and logistics division has been implementing stringent
receiving disinfection procedures, which have been recognised by the
Government and the industry sector.

Our freight logistics division provides the highest standard of cold
chain logistic services to meet customers’ stringent requirements. It
has become the first Hong Kong based global logistics service provider
to be awarded the Centre of Excellence for Independent Validators in
Pharmaceutical Logistics (CEIV Pharma), accredited by the International
Air Transport Association (IATA).

For our property management division, the Group discusses issues
with supervisors and members of the Safety Committee, and regularly
provides updates to supervisors and/or person-in-charge for maintaining
the recognition of ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001/ISO 45001 or
to fulfil statutory requirements. The Group also reminds supervisors
to regularly review existing contractors’ terms and take necessary
precautionary measures whenever applicable.

Customers’ needs and satisfaction have always been the priorities
of the Group. Our information technology related businesses provide
comprehensive order processing, fulfilment and back office services
to consumers. Our customer service centre provides a wide range of
information and assistance to answer customers’ inquiries and to offer
repair and maintenance services to consumers.
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(B)SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices (continued)
Product Responsibility (continued)

Intellectual properties are our Company’s vital assets, as such, we have
exercised our utmost endeavours to safeguard our intellectual properties
rights and interests. The Group has also in place certain procedures
and safeguards to protect customers’ information from unauthorised
access, usage and leakage and to maintain their data privacy. In addition,
all employees must respect copyrighted work, the Group is strongly
committed to compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Anti-Corruption

The Group has in place a series of corporate governance policies which
ensure that the Group has a sound corporate governance system.
Anti-corruption, business gifts and entertainment, conflict of interest
and data protection are some of the areas covered. The corporate
governance policies assure the adoption of standard procedures across
the Group and provides guidelines, and the anti-corruption, business
gifts and entertainment policy spells out the Group's position in relation
to these issues clearly. The Group has a whistle-blower policy to provide
channels for employees to raise concerns and define a way to handle
these concerns. All reports are confidential to protect employees from
retaliation. In addition, the Group constantly work with Independent
Commission Against Corruption to conduct seminars for staff members
taking into consideration the nature of and the different needs of our
various business units. Relevant information was also arranged for the
Board to update and improve the standard of business ethics. Our new
staff orientation training also contain the topics of anti-corruption and
such policies are also made available to staff members in the course
of their execution of duties. During the year under review, no cases of
corruption were reported within the Group.

Community
Community Investment

The Group has a long-standing commitment to promote corporate social
responsibility. Our dedication to serve the community is demonstrated
by the Group's active participation in community services, charitable
sponsorships, education programmes, cultural and sports activities and
environment protection initiatives. Furthermore, we encourage our staff
members to participate in the Group's volunteer team to help spread
warmth to the community.

Our contribution to and care for the community has been widely
recognised and we have been awarded the “Caring Company Logo”
by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service since 2011, reaffirming the
Group’s continuous effort in building a caring community. In response
to the appeal for blood donation of the Hong Kong Red Cross (HKRC)
to help replenish the blood inventories for patients in need, Chevalier
Group has co-organised with the HKRC the “Chevalier Blood Donation
Day” for many consecutive years. Although this effort was interrupted
during 2020 as a result of the pandemic, the Group did not miss out
on the opportunity to hold this meaningful event in 2021 when the
COVID-19 situation eased out. To help curb the spread of COVID-19
and to encourage the public to get vaccinated and boost the vaccination
rate, Chevalier Group also supported the “Hong Kong We Can Do
It! Lucky Draw” launched by the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce.
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Community (continued)
Community Investment (continued)
Education and Culture

Chevalier Group has always attached great importance to education and
is committed to nurturing future talents. In line with this commitment,
the Group established the “Chevalier Culture & Education Foundation”
in 1998, with an aim to promote cultural, academic and educational
exchanges amongst Hong Kong and other countries. To nurture young
talents for the construction industry, the Group has also set up the
"“Chevalier Group Scholarship” for full-time students in the Engineering
Discipline of the Vocational Training Council (VTC) since 2019. The Group
also extended full support to the “Pitch Perfect Programme” launched
by the Young Executives Club of the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce to equip undergraduate students with skills for embarking on
their career through the training courses, company visits and mentorships.

The Group has long demonstrated its full support for promoting local
arts and culture development. To take classical music further into the
local community, Chevalier Group proudly sponsored the “Life is Art
Festival 2021" which was jointly organised by MOVIE MOVIE and
the Hong Kong Sinfonietta (HKS). This enabled HKS to step outside
of concert halls and take its performance to the big screen and other
platforms for a wider audience, overcoming the venue restrictions
brought about by the pandemic. The Group is also a Platinum Sponsor
of Opera Hong Kong extending support to the development of
performing arts.

Sports and Environment

The Group is a long-time patron of the Hong Kong Jockey Club's
“Chevalier Cup Race Day” and has sponsored the event for 26
consecutive years. Meanwhile, the Group places great emphasis on the
physical and mental health of our staff members as well. To encourage
a healthy lifestyle during the pandemic, the Group sponsored a
corporate team to join the “Lifewire Run 2021" to inspire our staff
members to exercise for good cause.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group actively promotes the
development of renewable energy and pitches in to help Hong Kong
achieve its target of sustainable development and carbon neutrality.
We support the Government’'s promotion of distributed solar energy
generation scheme and have introduced the installation of renewable
solar panel systems at 51 properties under our management,
with around 6,700 solar panels having been installed. Through our
participation in the Feed-in Tariff (FiT) Scheme, the Group joins hands
with the Hong Kong community to build a greener and sustainable
community and gives full support to various green advocacy activities
to raise the public awareness of environmental protection.

The Group remains a Silver member of the WWF-Hong Kong Corporate
Membership Programme in 2021-2022, reinforcing our dedication to
building a sustainable future. In addition, to uphold our commitment
sustainable development and protect the environment, the Group
participated in the “Reforestation Day 2021", a tree planting activity in
Tai Mo Shan organised by Kadoorie Farm and Botanic Garden (KFBG).
Our employees not only contributed to a green environment, they also
helped raise funds for the reforestation programme of KFBG.
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(B)SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Community (continued)
Community Investment (continued)
Volunteering

Although the COVID-19 pandemic situation in Hong Kong has been
volatile in the last year and has considerably hampered the Group in
holding or participating in community investment events, the Group
has nonetheless continued to make good its promise to contribute
to society through multiple channels and forms. During the year,
the Group carried out various volunteer service activities to help the
underprivileged and to diligently build an even more harmonious and
inclusive society. The Group's corporate volunteer team, Chevalier
Cares, and the Hong Kong PHAB Association co-organised the “Eco
Tour in Organic Farm” and the Group's volunteers visited an organic
farm together with children with special educational needs and their
family members. The Group also co-organised with Wai Ji Christian
Service "A Memorable Christmas” activity where our volunteers
visited mentally handicapped persons at a residential care home.
Moreover, the Group sponsored the “Construction Industry Lo Pan
Rice Campaign” organised by the Construction Industry Council to
participate in distributing the 120 units of goodie bags and Lo Pan Rice
to the needy.

Amid the rampage of COVID-19, the Group sees that the livelihoods
of many low-income families have been affected by the fifth wave
of the pandemic and therefore organised the donation of gift packs.
Volunteers from Chevalier Cares packed anti-pandemic necessities and
distributed them through five social welfare organisations, namely, the
Hong Kong PHAB Association, Wai Ji Christian Service, Evangelical
Lutheran Church of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Young Women's Christian
Association and Hong Kong Family Welfare Society to the needy with
a view to spreading warmth and care during these difficult times.
Chevalier Group responded to the Hong Kong Red Cross’ call for
support and mobilised Chevalier Cares to prepare goodie packs to assist
those who have been affected by home quarantine. The volunteer team
contributed nearly 432 hours of voluntary work for the aforementioned
events during the year.
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HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
BRBRA(RE - HEREAREEIDABTRGIE

A. Environmental
A RE

Aspect A1
EA1

General disclosure

—RERE

KPI A1.1
BRSEEURIRALY

KPI'A1.2
BRRENIERA12

KPIA13
BRBEARURRA13

KPI A1.4
BASEERIEIRAT 4

KPIA15
BRHHARUEIRA1 5

KPI A1.6
BASEERIEIRAT.6

Aspect A2
EHA2

General disclosure

—RERE

Emissions

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste.

FHBERLRZREHN KRS  EERBEEEENNELS
MBRRETHETABEAZENEBEERMAPINER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

PERERE AR B R

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions
(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
BR(EE)RERRAZ(EE2)REREHNE AEHE) R(ER)BE
(MLASESSM - FHEREHE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FELRERENEE (UNHE) R(WEm) BE (WA SESE SN - 818
RIGHE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FELRZRENEE (UNHE) R(nEm)BE (WA SESE SN - 818
RiEEtE) o

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

WP E B R R AEEIEL B BRI SR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and
a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HRREEEREZRENNAE - IR OREE ERARIEL
BIZPTIRERI AR -

Use of resources

BRER

Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

BRERER(BERR - K REMRE)BBE o

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Emissions

i1¢Y)

Emissions

B

No hazardous waste was produced.
WERECBEREY -

Emissions

9767

The Environment and Natural Resources
RERRRER

Emissions; The Environment and Natural
Resources
B RERARER

The Environment and Natural Resources

BERRRER
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KPI A2.1
BRAHARURIRAZ.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or
oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

REMNEANERER/SEZER(NE - RoUh) B2 CATETRE
B REE(MABES RN - BERMEHE) o

Use of Resources

BRER

KPI A2.2
BRBERURRA22

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BRKERERE(WABEEEN - BEREHE) -

Use of Resources

BREER

KPIA23
BASEERIEIRA2 3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

HFTRT L MBEIRIE M E B R RSERIE L B RATRIMM PR -

The Environment and Natural Resources

BRERARER

KPI A2.4
BRBHERUERA2 4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HSKEEROR R B AR - ARATET ARG B B R AERE
LRRARRNSR -

It is not a major issue for our business.

BEUYFRMEHOEREE -

KPI A2.5
BASEERIEIRA25

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

AR RENHIRE (AN E) R (ER ) SLESBES -

Our operation does not involve significant
use of packaging material.

APMEET S RABER M -

The environment and natural resources

BERRRER

General disclosure

—fRBE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment
and natural resources.

REETAERERARE REXERNT ERNHR

The Environment and Natural Resources
RERRAER

KPI'A3.1
RSB AIRIRAS.Y

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

WX ERDERERAREFNEATY ERCRNERBBATENT «

The Environment and Natural Resources

BERRRER

Climate change

FERBI

General disclosure

—RBRE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BA AT ER ARG HETAELVENEARRABZENICR

The Environment and Natural Resources

BRERRARER

KPI Ad.1
BRRERURRAL

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted,
and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.

BICERAREHETAELYENEARKIERSE  REHTY -

The Environment and Natural Resources

BRERRRER

HEFREEERAR
2022 5§

65



66

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - B RERHRE

B. Social
B. 4&

Employment and Labour Practices

EBRSIER
Aspect B1 Employment
[EHEB1 B

General disclosure

—RIE

KPIB1.1
BASEEAIEIRB1 1

KPI B1.2
BRRENIEEB1.2

General disclosure

—RIE

KPI B2.1
BRB AR TRB2.1

KPI B2.2
RISt IENIEIRB2.2

KPI B2.3
BRBEIURIEB2.3

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
BRI mE BRRES  TERY RY - TERE Sl RE
RAREMFERBANEE « RETHETABEAZEBNORREELA
PIEER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-
time), age group and geographical region.

ZIER - BRER(N2BIRE)  FRAGIREAINERLE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

BRI FRARREEIDHEERKLE -

Health and safety
fEEEz s

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
BHREZ2TERGIREREREBENAENRRRETHETASR
EAVENRBEERROINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past
three years including the reporting year.

BEZF(BRESRER) BFRTTHMABRLER -

Lost days due to work injury.

ATHEXTIERE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

BRARANBEREEZ 2B AREBRTRERNE
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Employment and Labour Standards

(Bl &% TR

Employment and Labour Standards

(B K% TR

Employment and Labour Standards

(1R & % TR

Health and Safety
EERZ2

Health and Safety
BERZE

Health and Safety
EERZ2

Health and Safety
BERZ2
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Aspect B3

General disclosure

—RERE

KPIB3.1
RIS AAIEIRB3.1

KPI B3.2
BRBEARURIER3.2

General disclosure

—RIE

KPI B4.1
BRB R TRBA

KPI B4.2
B EMIEIERA 2

Operating Practices
BN

Development and training

BV GE]

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

BEARTHER BT TIFBE MM RIBERIR - IS -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
(e.g. senior management, middle management).

BUERNREESA(MBRERE +RERES)ANOXIERENIL -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

RUERILEEERRD  BHEETHZINTOEE -

Labour standards
AT R

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced
labour.
BHEMILETHRHS THRE NETHRITAREAY ENRBEERA
PIEVER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.
il RPN R R S B TREHAT -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

WEERERBELREREBERARROLSR -

Development and Training

BRI

Development and Training

BRI

Development and Training
BRI

Employment and Labour Standards

(Bl &% TR

Employment and Labour Standards

ERERSTER

Employment and Labour Standards

(1R & % TR

Aspect B5

KPI B5.1
BRSHAAURIRBS.1

KPI B5.2
B MIEIER5.2

Supply chain management

fEmEE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

BRHRRORE N ERBEE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR D NHEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored.

Ml EBERHEEENED - MARTERENNHRERHE  UREHE
PIRTRERERE -

Supply Chain Management
HERER

Supply Chain Management
HERER

HEFREEERAR
2022 5§

67



68

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BiE - HEREARARE

KPI B5.3
RIS 1ANIEIRB5.3

KPI B5.4
BRBERIERB5 4

General disclosure

—RIE

KPI B6.1
RIS AIEIRB6.1

KPI B6.2
BRBEARURIRB6.2

KPI B6.3
BRSEUR1RB6.3

KPI B6.4
BRBARUEIRB6 4

KPI B6.5
RAREAIRIRB6.5

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

AR ERE ERANRA RN BRBRNED - AREERIRE

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

TUH% EERRRES BRRER LRBNED - AREBRILER

Product responsibility

EmAf

Information on: the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress.
BHFREERNBBHRRELZSE  BS  RERLBSEARBRA A
MBRRETHETABEATENRBEEIAPINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety
and health reasons.
EERCEREREET AL 2 REFEAMARRNE DL «

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they
are dealt with.

RN E R RIS RORER B AR -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.
il ERRENEEREBERNED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HlEERTRAEREREKER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored.

HHEEERRERLBRE - UREBRTRERE -
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Supply Chain Management
HERER

Supply Chain Management
HIERER

Product Responsibility
Emaf

Not applicable
TEM

Product Responsibility
EmAfE

Product Responsibility
EmEME

Product Responsibility
EmRME
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Aspect B7
[BEB7

Anti-corruption

General disclosure

—RERE

Information on: the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BAMILER 9% RFEERENRERET
BERRROINER -

HETAREATENH

Anti-Corruption
RES

KPIB7.1
RIS ERIEIRBT 1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

RERARNHETAREEEROVERENESHARMOHE LA

During the year, no cases of corruption
reported

RER - WEREEESRIEER -

KPI B7.2
PR NIE1EBT.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how
they are implemented and monitored.

HRmERERRRER  AREERTRERFE

RES

KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Anti-Corruption
FBsRmERe7s EAmEFRATRGORRSES RES
Community
it
Aspect B8 Community investment
fEB8 HERE

General disclosure

—RIE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.
ﬁFﬁLﬂi[/,\KTﬁﬁé‘ﬁ/\ S EMEMHRRENRREERESEZEIH
& FE R

Community Investment

HERE

KPI B8.1
BRS AR 1RRS.

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).

TIPSR (NHE  BREFE SI1%% BE e 85)-

Community Investment

HERE

KPI B8.2
BRAHARURIRBB.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

ERIHEMPAER(PEELERH) o

Community Investment

HERE

HIEREEERAR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Board presents to shareholders their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group are construction and engineering, property
investment, property development and operations, healthcare investment,
and car dealership. Other ancillary and supporting businesses of principal
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures that are integrated with the
main businesses of the Group are shown on pages 217 to 224.

The Group's revenue and results for the year ended 31 March 2022,
analysed by operating segments, are set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the businesses of the Group during the year, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred subsequent to
the year ended 31 March 2022 (if any), a description of principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and discussion on the Group’s prospects
are provided in the Letter to Shareholders on pages 8 to 9, Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 10 to 16, Financial Review on pages
17 to 22 and note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
discussions on the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group, relationships with its key
stakeholders and environmental policy are provided in the Corporate
Governance Report and Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 32 to 44 and pages 45 to 69, respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 89. The Board now
recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.35 (2021: HK$0.39)
per share payable in cash to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members of the Company on Wednesday, 14 September 2022.
Together with an interim dividend of HK$0.15 (2021: HK$0.16) per share
paid on Thursday, 23 December 2021, the total dividends for the year
amounted to HK$0.50 (2021: HK$0.55) per share. Subject to the approval
by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the "AGM"),
the proposed final dividend will be payable in cash to shareholders on or
about Friday, 23 September 2022.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 26
August 2022 to Wednesday, 31 August 2022, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Hong Kong (or
17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong from 15
August 2022) for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 25
August 2022.

For determining entitlement to the proposed final dividend (subject to the
passing of an ordinary resolution by the shareholders of the Company at
the AGM), the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 13 September 2022 to Wednesday, 14 September 2022, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Standard Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong (or 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong from 15 August 2022) for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 9 September 2022.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are
set out in note 36 and note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company'’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to HK$2,047,286,000 (2021: HK$1,564,679,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in investment properties of the Group during the year are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year
are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EXEHRE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY/FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial summary and financial review of the Group are shown on pages 2
to 5 and on pages 17 to 22, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s revenue and purchases for the year attributable to the Group's
five largest customers and suppliers were less than 30% respectively.
None of the Directors, their respective close associates (as defined in
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) or any
shareholder (whom to the knowledge of the Directors owns 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company) as at 31 March 2022 had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set
out on pages 28 to 31.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group employed approximately 3,700 full-time staff globally as at
31 March 2022. Total staff costs amounted to HK$1,443 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022. The remuneration policies of the Group are
reviewed periodically on the basis of the nature of job, market trend,
company performance and individual performance. Other staff benefits
include bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis, medical schemes and
retirement schemes.

The remuneration package of the Directors and the senior management
is based on their contribution to the performance of the Group and is
supervised by the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations of HK$1,746,900 to charitable
bodies.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Bye-
Laws although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws in
Bermuda where the Company is incorporated.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of the
Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, every Director shall be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which
he/she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has taken out insurance against the
liability and costs associated with defending any proceedings which may
be brought against the Directors of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. KO Chan Gock, William
(retired on 23 August 2021)
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles
Professor POON Chung Kwong
Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws, Mr. Tam Kwok Wing, Mr.
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar, Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Mr. Sun
Leland Li Hsun shall retire from office at the AGM and, being eligible, may
offer themselves for re-election. The Non-Executive Directors are subject
to the same retirement requirements as the Executive Directors.

The biographical details of the Directors of the Company as at the date of
this report are set out in the “Management Profile” section on pages 23 to
27.
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DIRECTORS® MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Related Party Transactions” in
note 45 to the consolidated financial statements, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company’s subsidiaries was a party or were parties
and in which a director of the Company or his or her connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors have an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations, within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"),
which have been notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code were as follows:

Interests in the Company - Shares

EERRE ZHIAEGHZEK

e
BT X e B RS R MY s 45 BRI X 5
—EREEN  ARBEFHEMEE

B EEMAERRFNE AR PIRILE A
RAXBMEBRERZRS ~ RHEAE
WP (EFEIFREMNFBEDAER)
BERSEREE T EARES

EERHBFEURE 2ED
RER - EEFMEM BN K EBRH
FZERBHBETMERS -

EEREETHABZHEHFER
MN-EBE--—F=A=+—0 KXRATESE
Mm@ ITRABRAR B SR EBE AR (T
ERBERE GG (BERIPEEG )
EXVER) 2 B n ~ MERERR 15 ok & 5 AT
EEREFES REIRHIEXVEETRES
DHNEARBREBHERIMARRD
AITHERET ) 2 S AR (BIER SIRE
it H R EIEIHE SRS A kA8 B
BRZREZIORR) SN BWERRERR AR
AIRIERE 5 R B 10 536215 R E A T8
B RMAZERNAR  SIREEE
STAIBMEARR R 2 S RAR
LUl

RRBERE - RO

Numbers of ordinary shares held (Long Positions)

g ERROEE (FR)

Approximate

Personal Family percentage of

Name of Directors Capacity interests interests interest

ESE8 =37} BARER RikfEs FER A

%

KUOK Hoi Sang Beneficial owner 173,460 - 173,460 0.06
Edljstes BB A

TAM Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 209,583 40,265 249,848 0.08
EEIES BB A

HO Chung Leung Beneficial owner 40,000 - 40,000 0.01
fa] SRR BB A

Lily CHOW Executrix* - 189,490,248 189,490,248 62.76

JEVFIH] BERITA

#  According to the disclosure of interests form filed by Miss Lily Chow on 28 June
2021, such an interest was held by her as one of the executrixes of the estate of
the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching (the “late Dr. Chow") subject to the determination
of the High Court Probate Action HCAP22/2019.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2022, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, no other person had interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he was taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO); or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director offering for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract of significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was entered into or subsisted during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for the
benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution
schemes which are registered under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance (the "ORSO Schemes"”) and Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes (the "MPF Schemes"”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The ORSO
Schemes are funded by monthly contributions from both employees and
the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 7.5% of the employee’s basic
salary, depending on the length of service with the Group. For members of
the MPF Schemes, the Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs
per employee, at a maximum of HK$1,500 per month for the year ended
31 March 2022, to the mandatory contribution of the MPF Schemes.

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in countries
or locations where the Group operates. The Group is required to make
defined contributions at rates calculated as a certain percentage or sum of
the monthly payroll.

The Group's total contributions to these schemes charged to the
consolidated income statement during the year amounted to HK$34.53
million against which no forfeited contributions had been deducted.

Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS® INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, the interests and short positions of the persons
or corporations in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company which have been disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Number of ordinary shares

Substantial shareholders Capacity

EFRRR &

CHOW Yei Ching®@ (Deceased) Beneficial owner

TR Ee (B t) EnEEA
MIYAKAWA Michiko Beneficial owner
BIIEST EmEEA

@ Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet, Ms. Chow Vi Vi and Miss Lily Chow* have each
reported under Part XV of the SFO that they have interest in the shares of
the late Dr. Chow each as an executrix of the estate of the late Dr. Chow and
in addition, Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet has also reported to have interests in
14,551,162 shares (held as to 104,607 shares as beneficial owner, and as to
14,446,555 shares through wholly-owned corporations) of the Company.

#  According to the disclosure of interests form filed by Miss Lily Chow on 28 June
2021, such an interest was held by her as one of the executrixes of the estate of
the late Dr. Chow subject to the determination of the High Court Probate Action
HCAP22/2019.

* Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Miyakawa Michiko, the spouse of the late Dr.
Chow, is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of 189,490,248 shares
held by the late Dr. Chow.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, so far as is known to the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company, no other person had
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or, were directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of
the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company.
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189,490,248* 62.76
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ARRANGEMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The Company has adopted the applicable code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the code provisions throughout the year
ended 31 March 2022, except for the deviation from code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code which have already been stated in the Corporate
Governance Report of the Annual Report. Detailed information on the
Company's corporate governance practices is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 32 to 44.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, the change of Directors’
biographical details since the date of the Company’s Interim Report 2021-
2022 is set out as follows:

Mr. Irons Sze was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of Redco Healthy Living Company Limited on 14 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change of Directors’ biographical
details required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, the percentage of the Company’s
share which is in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares as at 28 June 2022, the latest practicable
date to ascertain such information prior to the issue of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
18 M BB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Chevalier International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set
out on pages 89 to 224, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

e revenue recognition from construction works;
e valuation of investment properties;

e recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale;
and

e impairment assessment of goodwill relating to senior housing business
in the United States of America.

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction works

Refer to notes 4(g) and 6 to Our procedures in relation to management's
the consolidated financial recognition of revenue from construction works
statements included:

obtained an understanding of the
management’s control procedures of
revenue recognition from construction
works and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors;

For the year ended 31 March e
2022, the Group recognised
revenue from construction works

of HK$3,009 million.

e evaluated and tested, on a sample basis, the
key controls over the revenue recognition
from construction works;
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B BERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed

the Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction works (continued)

The recognition of revenue from
construction works involves a
high degree of management
judgement in relation to the
determination of estimated total
construction contract value,
estimated total construction
costs, as well as the progress
towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligations.
Some of the construction works
takes more than one year to
complete during which the
project scope may change from
time to time. Management
estimates the total contract
value and budgeted cost at the
commencement of the contracts
and regularly reassesses these
amounts and the financial impact
with reference to the progress of
construction works.

Due to the existence of
significant management'’s
judgement required to
determine the amount and
timing of revenue recognised
from construction works, we
considered it a key audit matter.

in our testing of management's estimation
on the total construction contract value,
total construction costs and the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations of each contract at
the end of the reporting period, we selected
a number of construction works on a
sample basis and performed the following:

discussed with management and
the respective project teams on the
progress of the projects;

assessed management's estimates
in contract value and construction
costs with reference to the supporting
evidence such as contracts with
customers, suppliers and subcontractors
and other correspondences;

tested the construction costs incurred
for the construction works during the
reporting period by tracing to supporting
documents including architect’s
certificates issued to subcontractors
and invoices from subcontractors and
suppliers; and

tested the value of work done to
architect’'s certificates and other
correspondences as appropriate
and recalculated the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations based on the
latest management budget.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that management's judgement and
estimates in determining the amount and timing
of revenue recognised from the construction
works were supportable by the available
evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

How our audit addressed

the Key audit matter

Refer to notes 4(a), 8 and 14 Our procedures in relation to management's
valuation of investment properties included:

to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group's investment
properties were carried at
HK$4,749 million as at 31
March 2022 and a fair value
gain of HK$289 million was
recognised in the consolidated
income statement. The Group's
investment property portfolio
comprises of commercial,
residential and industrial
properties in the Mainland China,
Hong Kong and overseas.

Management has engaged
independent external valuers
to estimate the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as
at 31 March 2022 based on the
direct comparison approach and
income capitalisation approach,
where appropriate.

The valuation of investment
properties depends on certain
key assumptions that require
significant management
judgement, including
capitalisation rates and prevailing
market rents and comparable
market transactions.

Due to the existence of
significant management'’s
judgement and assumptions
used in the valuation of
investment properties we
considered it a key audit matter.

obtained an understanding of the
management’s control procedures of
valuation of the investment properties
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors;

evaluated the independent valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

obtained the valuation reports and discussed
with the independent external valuers to
understand the valuation methodologies
and the comparable market data used;

involved our internal valuation experts
to assess the appropriateness of
methodologies and the reasonableness of
the key assumptions used in the valuation
of a sample of properties selected by
comparing the data used against the
available market yields for capitalisation
rates, prevailing market rents of leasing
transactions of comparable properties
and recent market transaction prices of
properties with comparable conditions and
locations, where appropriate; and

checked the accuracy of input data, on a
sample basis, used by the independent
valuers including rental income by agreeing
them back to management’s records,
historical information or other supporting
documents including key terms of lease
agreements and rental income schedules.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that judgement and assumptions
used in management'’s valuation of investment
properties were supportable by the available
evidence.
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B BERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale

Refer to notes 4(e), 8, 24 and
27 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group had HK$1,696
million and HK$1,086 million of
properties under development
and properties for sale
respectively as at 31 March
2022. The Group's development
properties portfolio comprises
of completed properties and
properties under development
in the Mainland China and Hong
Kong.

Management assessed the
recoverability of properties under
development and properties
for sale based on an estimation
of the net realisable values
of the underlying properties
which involved analyses of
the current market prices of
comparable properties at similar
locations, and costs to be
incurred to complete and sell
the developments and where
applicable made reference to
the valuation report from the
independent external valuer.

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
assessment on the recoverability of properties
under development and properties for sale
included:

e obtained an understanding of the
management’s control procedures of
recoverability assessment of the properties
under development and properties for sale
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors;

e evaluated and tested, on a sample basis, the
key controls over the property development
cycle; and

e assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions used in management's
estimation of the net realisable values, on a
sample of properties selected, including:

e compared estimated selling prices
to the contracted sales prices of the
underlying properties or to recent
market transaction prices of comparable
properties at similar locations, where
applicable;

e compared total costs to complete
and sell the properties to the latest
approved budgets and checked those
budgets to supporting documents such
as suppliers’ contracts.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

REEEE(E)

HREITER BMNEMAEE

HREITER

BRPURRSEMRNTE Kt

F2ERAUTHR BRAHHEEEHMFEER

xMitde) -8 BHEMERGEWEMNA
24%27 BRI RIERF RIE
R-ZE-—%=A8
=t+t—HB B o THEEEHRNERTP
BEBEBESE WERFEME B
16.96 BILH B R M RERIRER - &
hYEREBEBE BEBERMEITRET M
10.86 BILH S REREMEERRE
mE- BEXEN =2RE  FHMEEKRE
MERRIBEHES R E R R
BIERF B A K&
EENETIYE
REBEREAPYE - o ST RAEOR R
BRI E 2T
EREENEER &
HERGFEDE
AERFENGE o WMEERMEFERND
SEEEENT REBEERTIHEERE
B - B R EETAT SR FENEE
[FIEER A AT HE L M BE:
WERERITISE
1% SER R SHEE o HAFEEEIAE
RBIBE EERK MENFINERBHK
KOS L2ER AR ER A A SR kb
SNSRI (ER A W R I BT 5 R
BRE (EA) - RER(NEA) &
T
o MEMKHEME
B 48 P A B B BT L
ERTEE#ETY
8] WHBREAX
(o EEE4)

ey ndavas sty
EEZEEE o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed

the Key audit matter

Recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale

(continued)

Due to the existence of
estimation uncertainty and
management’s judgement in
assessing the recoverability of
properties under development
and properties for sale, we
considered it a key audit matter.

e For property projects with independent
valuation reports,

e cvaluated the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e obtained the valuation report and
discussed with the independent
valuer to understand the valuation
methodologies and the comparable
market data used; and

e involved our internal valuation experts
to assess the appropriateness of
methodologies and the reasonableness
of the key assumptions used in the
valuation of a sample of properties
selected by comparing the data used
against the available recent market
transaction prices of properties with
comparable conditions and locations.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that management’s judgement in
assessing the recoverability of properties under
development and properties for sale were
supportable by the available evidence.
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B BERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill relating to senior housing business in the

United States of America

Refer to notes 4(c), 8 and 39
to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group had HK$561 million
of goodwill as at 31 March 2022
relating to the senior housing
business in the United States of
America.

Management assessed
whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment by assessing
recoverable amounts of cash
generating units ("CGU"),
being the higher of the CGU's
fair value less costs to sell and
value-in-use. Management's
value-in-use calculations use
cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved
by management which involve
the use of judgement applied
by management such as the
determination of revenue growth
rate, terminal growth rate and
discount rate.

Due to the existence of
estimation uncertainty and
management judgement in
the impairment assessment
of goodwill relating to senior
housing business in the United
States of America we considered
it a key audit matter.

The procedures performed to assess the
methodologies and assumptions used by
management in the impairment assessment of
goodwill are summarised below:

e obtained an understanding of the
management’'s control procedures
of the impairment assessment and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors;

e assessed the appropriateness of
methodologies used in preparing the
impairment assessment;

e agreed the input data to supporting
evidence on a sample basis such as
historical results and financial budgets
approved by management;

e assessed the reasonableness of
key assumptions such as revenue
growth rate, terminal growth rate and
discount rate applied by management
including comparing the current year
actual results with the prior year
forecast and comparing to available
market information, to assess the
reasonableness of management
forecasts; and

e performed sensitivity analysis on
the key assumptions adopted in the
impairment assessment to understand
the impact of reasonable changes
in assumptions on the recoverable
amounts.

Based on the procedures performed,
we considered that the assumptions
used by management in the impairment
assessment of goodwill were supportable
by available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

e cevaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e cvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chu Ho Kwan Raphael.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains/(losses), net
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses

Operating profit
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs, net

Profit before taxation

Taxation

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share
— basic and diluted (HK$ per share)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FRKER

A 6
EF
EmUgA 7,47
Haplezs,(E518) - 38 8, 47
HHE KA SR AR
T
e el
ikl NG E 18
Frih a8 ¥EE 19
BRI A 9
B8R 9
B ER  FE 9
FrEE AT T 10
T8 11
EERF
R

/N i

B3l G Fa
BRER

—HANEE(FREE) 12

The notes on pages 98 to 224 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.

2022 2021
—=E_= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$’'000
BT T BT IT
8,634,433 7,352,855
(7,597,577) (6,468,516)
1,036,856 884,339
125,825 179,152
153,488 (9,188)
(231,728) (169,064)
(400,151) (381,344)
684,290 503,895
144,756 240,064
82,013 99,464
911,059 843,423
27,073 34,422
(88,592) (87,035)
,,,,,,,,,, (61519) (52,613
849,540 790,810
(156,866) (105,906)
692,674 684,904
644,523 640,552
48,151 44,352
692,674 684,904
2.13 2.12

FIBHE224 B 2 MIFETIIL F4R & TSR

ZHBRREDD -

HIEBREEMAERALR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RETERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_TS-_—F=A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—=E_= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Profit for the year FERA 692,674 684,904
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHMEEWKE
Items that will not be reclassified to TEENREZERNER
profit or loss
Exchange difference attributable to BREBINE AR 2 XK
non-controlling interests on translation of HIEERERFTEE 2
operations of overseas subsidiaries HNE H IR E TR 12,597 23,216
Change in fair value of investments at fair value  1Z AR EFIAEM 2 EIES
through other comprehensive income BRIR BN AR BEED 45,594 11,265
Fair value surplus of right-of-use assets upon FREEEEREIREME
transfer to investment properties B2z AR EES - 1,746
Fair value gain of properties for own use BEMEC A ERE = 509
Share of an associate’s fair value surplus of K (e ] A/NCT
right-of-use assets upon transfer to EREEEEREERE
investment properties SN TN =R 2,031 -

Items that may be reclassified subsequently HENEENTREZERMN

to profit or loss IHH
Exchange difference on translation of operations 2 E ;G \B AT - BiE
of overseas subsidiaries, associates and REIREEDEES
joint ventures FREEHE 2 INE H IR EEE 130,630 344,092
Fair value adjustments on the derivative financial 87 2R & RS ¥ HHATAE
instruments designated as cash flow hedge T T EN AR EAE 116 348
Other comprehensive income for the year, FEEMEEWE  BREE
netoftax 1909688 381,176
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2HERREE 883,642 1,066,080
Attributable to: s R
Shareholders of the Company ZA/NSI S 822,894 1,002,387
Non-controlling interests Einliyy Fay 60,748 63,693
883,642 1,066,080
Note: B3R -
Items shown within other comprehensive income are disclosed net of tax. REMEEREMRZEE DENRBEE

W -

The notes on pages 98 to 224 are integral parts of these consolidated FI8H £ 2248 2 W I F4RE IR
financial statements. 2 ABRRERL ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mERBERRE

Non-current assets

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures

Investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Investments at amortised cost

Properties under development

Deferred tax assets

Amounts due from non-controlling
interests

Other non-current assets

Current assets

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from non-controlling
interests

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Investments at amortised cost

Inventories

Properties for sale

Properties under development

Debtors, contract assets, deposits
paid and prepayments

Derivative financial instruments

Prepaid tax

Bank balances and cash

Assets held-for-sale

FRBEE

BREWE

YE T &

B

HibE\EE
oUNCIPA:
BEhE R
BoREHNARMBEERE
WHERIE 2 IE
BonENARGREL
BE
BRI 2 B
BRPYE
EERIAEE

& e FE A AR S AR K

HibIERBEE

RBEE

R LBy 2 R AR AR
e A & B EARK
& YT FE A AR S AR K

BonENARRREL

FEME

BEREPYE

FEMBESR - AHBE
EfNFRERE RIEN A

TEMBETA

B #E

RITHEF MRS

RIELEEE

14
15, 29
16
17
18
19

21

22
23
24
37

20
25

18
19

20
22
23
26
27
24

28
30

31

46

2022

—s=-=

HK$'000
BET T

As at 31 March 2022
RZZE-_—_F=A=+—H
2021

T —F
HK$'000

BET T

4,749,247 3,661,401
3,377,007 3,254,284
634,564 629,796
26,955 37,919
676,946 643,475
1,193,344 1,131,401
91,738 46,097
750,707 607,122
101,800 50,534
214,449 441,289
69,055 49,184
47,183 -
76,841 89,442
12,009,836 10,641,944
25,242 29,219
102,263 118,867
33,031 46,835
484,665 387,100

- 15,554
304,138 306,324
1,086,268 258,097
1,482,036 2,200,966
1,995,399 1,660,013
65 -
21,947 28,402
2,667,092 2,782,183
8,202,146 7,833,560
2,913 137,485
8,205,059 7,971,045
Et+EREEERAT

2022 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R
As at 31 March 2022
RZE-—_F=RA=+—H

Current liabilities

Amounts due to joint ventures

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

Derivative financial instruments

Creditors, bills payable, deposits
received, contract liabilities and
accruals

Unearned insurance premiums and
unexpired risk reserves

Outstanding insurance claims

Current income tax liabilities

Bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities

Liabilities directly associated with
assets held-for-sale

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RBAE

FEf A Z B ERR
JE 5 FEAT AR SR AR K

TEMB TR

FEMERR - BN RE -
BlFARE  AHOAE
KIERE R

EERRE K RBHRR
i

RRRBRRE

EHMEHRARE

IRIT R LA AR

HERE

B EHEEERR
Bz RaE

REBEEFE

REERRBAR

19

20

30

32

33

34
29

46

2022

—s=-=

HK$'000
BET T

2021

T —F
HK$'000

BT IT

13,162 6,581
259,833 258,585

47 106

2,789,811 2,852,819
296,862 174,944

437,031 267,099

89,210 46,743
2,425,438 1,567,701
21,293 19,251
6,332,687 5,193,829

- 40,201

,,,,,,,, S 5234030
1,872,372 2,737,015
13,882,208 13,378,959




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE MBIk R

As at 31 March 2022
RZE-—_F=fA=+—H

2022 2021
—=E=-= —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Capital and reserves BARFHE
Share capital R A 35 377,411 377,411
Reserves B 36 10,211,964 9,552,109
Shareholders’ funds [RRES 10,589,375 9,929,520
Non-controlling interests JEIEALRE RS 637,218 639,705
Total equity AR L 11:226:5938 10,569,225
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Amounts due to non-controlling B FEIE PR 2R AR N
interests 20 239,187 206,751
Unearned insurance premiums BEEREBE 330,082 224,362
Bank and other borrowings HRITREMEFK 34 1,594,462 1,931,123
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 87,941 61,241
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIEAE 37 403,943 386,257
o =il 2,809,734
Total equity and non-current HERRIIERBAE
liabilities 13,882,208 13,378,959
Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2022 and signed on its behalf by: KEZTEgR_T__F~A=-+NH
i - WH THESERRES
KUOK Hoi Sang HO Chung Leung
L (AR
Director Director
EE EE

The notes on pages 98 to 224 are integral parts of these consolidated FO8E 22248 v Mz Th L F4r & M Bk
financial statements. ZHBRRE o

HEtEREEARAA | g3
2022 3



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GERBEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=A=+—-HILFE

Equity
attributable to
shareholders of Non-controlling

the Company interests Total equity
RATBRE
PR FEE IR HRERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BET T BET T BT T
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FmA—H 9,929,520 639,705 10,569,225
Profit for the year FEHF 644,523 48,151 692,674
Change in fair value of BRARBEIIAHKMEE
investments at fair value WamRRIg 2 AR
through other comprehensive NAEEE
income 45,594 - 45,594
Share of other comprehensive [ e /N ol
income of an associate HEm s 2,031 = 2,031
Exchange difference on BEGINIB AR -
translation of operations of BENRIRAEDEZ
overseas subsidiaries, ETEFTEA 2 HME
associates and joint ventures N ERE 130,630 12,597 143,227
Fair value adjustments on the EEARERELIIH
derivative financial instruments PTABIEIAR
designated as cash flow hedge NRERE 116 - 116
Total comprehensive income FE2HREERE
for the year 822,894 60,748 883,642
Dividends paid BIRE (163,041) - (163,041)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 2 T I pxtEzs
interests IS - (38,006) (38,006)
Acquisition of additional M FE PR AR s U P BT B
interest in subsidiaries from NSIEEEIN
non-controlling interests (12) (680) (692)
Disposals of subsidiaries HEMBAR 14 (760) (746)
Capital reduction by a non- — IR R R 2 IR AR
controlling interest ElN - (23,789) (23,789)
At 31 March 2022 R=-ZT=Z
=A=+—H 10,589,375 637,218 11,226,593
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREBR

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

Equity
attributable to
shareholders of

Non-controlling

the Company interests Total equity
ZAN/NGI[ S
JE(G R IR A s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT T
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-_ZSFWA—H 9,072,059 611,012 9,683,071
Profit for the year FE T 640,552 44,352 684,904
Change in fair value of BRARBEIIAEKMEE
investments at fair value WamRIg 2 AR
through other comprehensive NREEE)
income 15,140 (3,875) 11,265
Fair value gain of properties for ~ BRWE > AnEIES
own use 509 - 509
Fair value surplus of right-of- FRAEEEERERE
use assets upon transfer to VIR 2 AR ERS
investment properties 1,746 - 1,746
Exchange difference on BMEGINFBAA] -
translation of operations of HENRIRAEDEZ
overseas subsidiaries, ETSFTES 2 IMNE
associates and joint ventures S ERE 344,092 23,216 367,308
Fair value adjustments on the EE AR MELEIPH
derivative financial instruments PTABIE AR
designated as cash flow hedge NiEFE 348 - 348
Total comprehensive income FEFERERE
for the year 1,002,387 63,693 1,066,080
Dividends paid BIRE (144,926) - (144,926)
Dividends paid to B FIEE A
non-controlling interests [iEdSN - (35,000) (35,000)
At 31 March 2021 R=-B=-—F
=HA=+—H 9,929,520 639,705 10,569,225

The notes on pages 98 to 224 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n _\éiﬁﬁjﬁéﬁ

2022 2021
—=E=-= —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Operating activities R
Cash generated from operations KEEEZR® 38(a) 544,710 494,205
Interest paid on bank overdrafts and IRITIES RERIT R EHALE R
bank and other borrowings ZEHRE (84,507) (84,342)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEBGBZEHNFE (4,218) (2,693)
Profits tax paid B FIEE (121,702) (91,969)
Profits tax refunded FISHLR K 8,253 2,234
Net cash from operating activities REREEB2HETEE 342,536 317,435
Investing activities REEL
Interest received BUH B 27,073 34,422
Dividends received from associates RN i §) 142,763 111,924
Dividends received from joint ventures B2 UEEEZIRE 30,509 31,321
Purchase of investment properties BEREME (761,419) (19,157)
Purchase of property, plant and BEME - BB &&
equipment (299,972) (202,072)
Proceeds from disposals of property,  HEW% BERLES
plant and equipment FTiSsRI8 27,028 13,989
Purchase of intangible assets BEELEE (5,424) (5,392)
Net cash outflows from acquisition of Y88 ~%TEE 2
WL T
— a subsidiary ——EK B AT 38(b)(i) (7,969) -
— a senior housing property ——MHTEREME 38(b)(ii) - (151,125)
Net cash inflows from disposals of HEMBATZ
subsidiaries REMAFEE 38(b)(iii) 94,907 -
Advances to associates MBS DN RIFTEZ B (17,623) (6,167)
Investment in a joint venture R—EEEhEIRE - (1,039)
Repayments from/(advances to) joint ~ KEALM¥E 7 EEZRIE
ventures (MEETEMEZER) 22,810 (72,197)
Increase in short-term bank deposits =EAEREZ
maturing after more than three e EASRITIE FIE N
months (25,040) -
Payments for investments B2 - (443)
Net cash used in investing activities FRREEECREFE (772,357) (265,936)

96 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Financing activities

Capital reduction by a non-controlling
interest

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Drawn down of bank and
other borrowings

Repayments of bank and
other borrowings

Payments of lease liabilities

Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank
deposits

Payments to acquire additional
interests in subsidiaries from
non-controlling interests

Net cash from/(used in) financing
activities

Decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of changes in foreign
exchange rates

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash and
cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash
Less: Pledged bank deposits
Unpledged bank deposits
maturing after more than
three months

The notes on pages 98 to 224 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-_F=A=1+—HIEFE

BMEXK

FRIE R s 2 BXANEIRL

EffE
B T IR S 2 LS

PEENERTT R EAD AR
BIRIRTT R EAD K

HERBEMNK
BEHEMRITER

B, ()
QEEZIE: £

W B R Rl AR ME

PANEN

®E/ (AR MEXEEZ

REFHE

RERBRESEWRD

FH2RERREEEY

HEERSEH 2 HE

FRZRERREEEY

RERRELENZ

"R

RITEFLRS

o EHERERITER

=AAREIEZ
EHMIRITER

31

2022

—s=-=

HK$'000
BET T

2021

T —F
HK$'000

BT IT

(23,789) -
(163,041) (144,926)
(38,006) (35,000)
3,141,186 1,714,976
(2,621,452) (1,685,905)
(26,980) (16,129)
84,402 (177,855)
(692) -

. %s1628 (344,839)
(78,193) (293,340)
2,554,580 2,774,918
22,464 73,002
2,498,851 2,554,580
2,667,092 2,782,183
(143,201) (227,603)
(25,040) -
2,498,851 2,554,580

FI8EE224 B Z ML FAR G M BEHREK
ZHARERD -

HIEBREEMAERALR
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98

Chevalier International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public
listed company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda and 22nd Floor, Chevalier Commercial Centre, 8 Wang
Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong respectively. The Company has its
shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding while
the activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 49 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar, which is the same as the functional currency of the Company.
The consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by
the Board of Directors on 28 June 2022.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). These financial
statements also complied with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
investment properties, investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVPL").

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19") since January
2020, followed by declaration by the World Health Organisation as a
"Global Pandemic” on 11 March 2020, to a certain extent, brought
challenges to the Group’s business performance during the year
and ahead. The Group’s businesses are diversified which enabled
the Group to have a strong resilience to the impact of economic
downturns. The Directors have considered the existing and potential
impact arising from the outbreak of COVID-19 in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. The Directors will remain
cautious on the ongoing development of COVID-19 that may cause
further volatility and uncertainty in the global financial market and
economy, and will take necessary measures to address the impact
arising therefrom.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_TS-_—F=A=+—HIFE

1 GENERAL INFORMATION
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(i) Amendments to existing standards that are effective for the
Group's financial year beginning on 1 April 2021

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to existing
standards are mandatory for the financial year of the Group
beginning on 1 April 2021:

e HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
(amendments), “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase
o

e HKFRS 16 (2021 amendment), “Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021"

The adoption of these amendments to existing standards neither
have significant impact on the Group's consolidated results and
financial position nor any substantial changes in the Group’s
accounting policies and the presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BT _F=-A=t—-HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii) New standard, amendments to standards and interpretation
that have been issued but not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group

The following new standard, amendments to standards and
interpretation have been issued but not yet effective for the
financial year of the Group beginning on 1 April 2021 and have
not been early adopted:

HKAS 1 (amendments), “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current”2

e HKAS 1 (amendments), “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”2

e HKAS 8 (amendments), “Definition of Accounting Estimates”2

e HKAS 12 (amendments), “Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction"?

e HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37 (amendments), “Narrow-
scope amendments”?

e HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (amendments), “Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture"3

e HKFRS 17, "Insurance Contracts "2

e HKFRS 17, “"Amendments to HKFRS 17"2

e HK Int 5 (2020), “Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause "2

e Annual Improvements Project (amendments) — “Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020""
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE_Z-_—FZA=+HLFE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAZHBFEHME(E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) RBEAE(ME)
(i) ERMHERREN EAEE L E

(ii) New standard, amendments to standards and interpretation

that have been issued but not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group (continued)

T Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

HKFRS 17, “Insurance Contracts” ("HKFRS 17"”) and
Amendments to HKFRS 17

HKFRS 17 will replace the current HKFRS 4, “Insurance
Contracts”. HKFRS 17 includes some fundamental differences
to current accounting treatment in both insurance contract
measurement and profit recognition. The general model is
based on a discounted cash flow model with a risk adjustment
and deferral of unearned profits. A separate approach applies to
insurance contracts that are linked to returns on underlying items
and meet certain requirements. Additionally, HKFRS 17 requires
more granular information and a new presentation format for
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as well as
extensive disclosures. In October 2020, HKICPA issued HKFRS
17 (Amendments) which defer the effective date of the standard
to accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
provide additional transition relief when applying HKFRS 17 for
the first time. The Group is undertaking an assessment of the
impact of the new standard.

Other than the above, the Group anticipates that the application
of the amendments to standards and interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective may have no material
impact on the results of operations and financial position.
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March 2022.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of
a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed
to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with HKFRS
9, “Financial instruments” ("HKFRS 9”) with the corresponding
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_Z-__F=A=+t—HBItEE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued) (b) &SRB EHi# ()

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposal
to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in
the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control
is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss.

(c) Goodwill/discount on acquisitions

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an associate
or a joint venture, representing the excess of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s interest in net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree
at the date of acquisition. The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either
at the fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportional
share of the recognised amount of acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
If the Group recognises non-controlling interest in the acquiree
at fair value, goodwill includes the portion attributable to the non-
controlling interest.
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Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate or a joint venture
is included in the cost of the investment of the relevant associate or
joint venture.

Separately recognised goodwill is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if there is indication that goodwill might be
impaired. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates and joint ventures is
included in investments in respective associates and joint ventures
and is tested for impairment as part of the overall balance. For the
purposes of impairment testing, separately recognised goodwill
arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the goodwill may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a joint
venture, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary,
an associate or a joint venture represents the excess of the share
of net fair value of an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of the business combination and is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities of an acquiree are recognised at the date of
the acquisition if the fair value of the contingent liabilities can be
measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are initially measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwill/discount on acquisitions (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)

(CONTINUED)

(d) Interests in associates

(d) FrbEt&E A R 2 s

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the case
where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. The results and net assets of associates are incorporated in
the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from associates are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate,
any difference between the cost of the associate and the Group's
share of the net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. Where the Group’s share
of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the relevant associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

(e) Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties
have joint control and over which none of the participating parties
has unilateral control.

Under HKFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements”, investments in joint
arrangements are classified either as joint operations or joint
ventures, depending on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Joint arrangements (continued)

Joint operations

Joint operations arise where the investors have rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement. Investments
in joint operations are accounted for such that each joint operator
recognises its assets (including its share of any assets jointly held),
its liabilities (including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly), its
revenue (including its share of revenue from the sale of the output
by the joint operation) and its expenses (including its share of any
expenses incurred jointly). Each joint operator accounts for the
assets and liabilities, as well as revenue and expenses, relating to
its interest in the joint operation in accordance with the applicable
accounting policies.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. The results and
net assets of joint ventures are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint venture, any
difference between the cost of the joint venture and the Group's
share of the net fair value of the joint venture's identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. Where the Group’s share
of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
relevant joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_Z-__F=A=+t—HBItEE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (f) BT R

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received or receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, is cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid or payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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(i) Financial assets (i) BBEE
Classification S

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at FVOCI;

e those to be measured subsequently at FVPL; or

e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in other comprehensive income or profit or loss. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investments at FVOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERARM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)

Classification (continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

e Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group can classify
its debt instruments:

— Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets, impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and
losses, and gain or loss arising on derecognition are
recognised directly in profit or loss.

— FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the
carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of impairment losses
or reversals, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to, and recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)

(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) BIFE TR (&)
(i) Financial assets (continued) (i) I EEE)

Measurement (continued)
e Debt instruments (continued)

— FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

e Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’'s management has elected
to present fair value gains or losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss when the Group's rights to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with debtors, deposits paid, amounts
due from associates, joint ventures and non-controlling
interests, debt investments measured at amortised cost and
bank balances and cash. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade debtors, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the trade debtors.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost other
than trade debtors is measured as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk
of a financial asset has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022

FZA=+—HLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

Impairment (continued)

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the financial
assets are not settled in accordance with the terms stipulated
in the agreements, management considers these financial
assets as under-performing or non-performing and impairment is
measured as lifetime credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off.

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group's financial liabilities are classified into
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other
financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect of
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVPL are financial liabilities held for trading
on initial recognition. At the end of each reporting period
subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVPL are
re-measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) MBFETAE(E)

(ii) ¥BRERRATAE)

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including amounts due to joint ventures
and non-controlling interests, creditors, bills payables, deposits
received, lease liabilities and bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value
depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The
Group designates certain derivatives as either:

e fair value hedges, which are hedges of the fair value of
recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment; or

e cash flow hedges which are hedges of a particular risk
associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and
liabilities and highly probable forecast transactions.

At the inception of hedging, the Group documents the economic
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items,
including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging
instruments are expected to offset changes in the cash flows
of hedged items. The Group documents its risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions.

The fair values of various derivative financial instruments
designated in hedge relationship are disclosed in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements. Movements in the hedging
reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. The full fair value of a hedging
derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the
remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months;
it is classified as a current asset or liability when the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading
derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.
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(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)
(I) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in the hedging reserve within equity.
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When option contracts are used to hedge forecast
transactions, the Group designates only the intrinsic value of
the options as the hedging instruments.

Gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the change
in intrinsic value of the options are recognised in the hedging
reserve within equity. The changes in the time value of the
options that relate to the hedged item ("aligned time value”)
are recognised within other comprehensive income in the
costs of hedging reserve within equity.

When forward contracts are used to hedge forecast
transactions, the Group generally designates only the
change in fair value of the forward contract related to
the spot component as the hedging instrument. Gains or
losses relating to the effective portion of the change in the
spot component of the forward contracts are recognised
in the hedging reserve within equity. The change in the
forward element of the contract that relates to the hedged
item (“aligned time value”) is recognised within other
comprehensive income in the costs of hedging reserve
within equity. In some cases, the entity may designate the
full change in fair value of the forward contract (including
forward points) as the hedging instrument. In such cases, the
gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the change
in fair value of the entire forward contract are recognised in
the hedging reserve within equity.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, as
follows:

— Where the hedged item subsequently results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset (such as inventory),
both the deferred hedging gains and losses and the
deferred time value of the option contracts or deferred
forward points, if any, are included within the initial
cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately
recognised in profit or loss as the hedged item affects
profit or loss (for example through cost of sales).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued)
(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)
() Cash flow hedge (continued)

— The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of the
interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings
is recognised in profit or loss within finance cost at
the same time as the interest expense on the hedged
borrowings.

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated,
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, any cumulative deferred gain or loss and
deferred costs of hedging in equity at that time remains in
equity until the forecast transaction occurs, resulting in the
recognition of a non-financial asset such as inventory. When
the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging that
were reported in equity are immediately reclassified to profit
or loss.

(1l) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge
accounting. Changes in the fair value of these derivative
financial instrument are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

(iv) Offsetting financial instrument

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The Group has also entered into arrangements
that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the
related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such as
bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

(g) Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is
classified as investment property.

Investment property comprises land and buildings held under
leases. Land held under lease is classified and accounted for as
investment property when the rest of the definition of investment
property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including
related transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
property is carried at fair value. Fair value is determined by
professional valuation conducted as at the end of the reporting
period. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.
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Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the carrying amount of
the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the
asset can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed in profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
other gains/(losses), net.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as property, plant and equipment, and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. If an item
of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property
because its use has changed, any difference resulting between
the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of
transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation of property, plant
and equipment under HKAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment”.
Any resulting increase in the carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss to the extent
that it reverses a previous impairment loss, with any remaining
increase recognised directly to revaluation surplus within equity.
Any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the property, plant
and equipment is charged to profit or loss. Upon the subsequent
disposal of investment property, any revaluation reserve balance of
the property, plant and equipment is transferred to retained profits
and is shown as a movement in equity.

When an investment property undergoes a change in use,
evidenced by commencement of development with a view to sale,
the property is transferred to properties for sale at its fair value at
the date of change in use.

For a transfer from properties for sale to investment properties that
will be carried at fair value, any difference between the fair value of
the property at that date and its previous carrying amount shall be
recognised in profit or loss.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets initially measured on a
present value basis at the date at which the leased asset is available
for use by the Group. These are presented within “Property, plant
and equipment” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Investment properties (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_Z-__F=A=+t—HBItEE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)
(CONTINUED)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued) (h) 1% - BERZRE(E)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as
a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting
period in which they are incurred.

Staff quarters included in right-of-use assets are measured at
fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
recognised at the date of revaluation. Revaluation are performed
with sufficient frequency to ensure that the carrying amount does
not differ materially from the fair value of a revalued asset at the
end of the reporting period.

Changes in fair value are recognised in the other comprehensive
income. However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
deficit of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss,
the increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets an
existing surplus on the same asset recognised in equity.

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to the
retained profits is made for the difference between depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and original
cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation
date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset
being sold is transferred to retained profits.

Leasehold land commences depreciation from the time when the
land interest becomes available for its intended use. Depreciation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs or
fair values less their residual values over their estimated useful lives
at the following rates per annum:

Annual charge

Building Over the shorter of 20 to 50 years or
the remaining lease term

Leasehold land Over the remaining lease term
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining lease term
Right-of-use assets Over the remaining lease term

Machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures, office 10% — 33'/5%
equipment and motor
vehicles
Others 10% —20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B RS ER R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(i)

(j)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an asset is
determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Other intangible assets

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired separately and
from business combinations are recognised at cost and at fair value
respectively. After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of an intangible asset is
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceed and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Development cost of properties comprise
prepaid lease payments, development expenditure and borrowing
costs capitalised.

The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less selling expenses and costs to completion.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out or weighted
average method. Net realisable value is determined on the basis of
anticipated sales proceeds in the ordinary course of business less
applicable selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(I) Properties for sale

Properties for sale are initially measured at the carrying amount
of the property at the date of reclassification from properties
under development. Subsequently, properties for sale are carried
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value
is determined by reference to management estimates based on
prevailing market conditions.

(m)Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
rights to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer.

The combination of those rights and performance obligations gives
rise to a net contract asset or a net contract liability depending on
the relationship between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. An item of assets is recognised as contract assets
if a contract’s cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss
exceeds cumulative payments made by customers. Conversely, an
item of liabilities is recognised as contract liabilities if a contract’s
cumulative payments made by customers exceeds the revenue
recognised in profit or loss.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the same
approach adopted for impairment assessment of trade debtors
(note 2(f)(i)). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group transfers the goods or services to the customers and
therefore satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer are
capitalised and presented as contract related assets, if the Group
expects to recover those costs, and are subsequently amortised
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customers of the goods or services to which the assets relate.
The Group recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss to
the extent that carrying amount of the contract related assets
recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of consideration that
the Group expects to receive less the costs that relate directly to
providing those goods or services that have not been recognised as
expenses.
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Non-current assets are classified as assets held-for-sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale
transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use, except for assets
such as deferred tax assets and investment properties.

A remeasurement loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent
write-down of the asset to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is
recognised for any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to
sell of an asset, but not in excess of any cumulative remeasurement
loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised
by the date of the sale of the non-current asset is recognised at the
date of derecognition.

Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are
classified as held-for-sale.

Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale are presented
separately from the other assets in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Liabilities directly associated with non-current
assets classified as assets held-for-sale are presented separately
from the other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks with original maturities of three months or less and
bank overdrafts.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and cash
equivalents.

(p) Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and
a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses. Where the Group expects a
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Assets held-for-sale
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)
(CONTINUED)

(p) Provisions and contingencies (continued)

(p) BERIAEE(E)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it
will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is
recognised.

The Group regards its financial guarantee contracts in respect of
mortgage facilities provided by banks to certain property buyers, and
credit facilities provided by financial institutions to its subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures as insurance contracts.

(q) Unearned insurance premiums and unexpired risk reserves

Unearned insurance premiums represent the estimated portions
of the premiums written which relate to periods of insurance
subsequent to the end of the reporting period and are deferred to
subsequent accounting periods. Unearned premiums are computed
on the basis of net premiums written for all classes of insurance.
Net premium written represents gross premiums received or
receivable after deducting reinsurance premiums.

Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from the expected
value of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods
of policies in force which, at the end of the reporting period,
exceeds the unearned premiums provision in relation to such
policies.
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Claims paid and outstanding comprise claims paid, claims reported
but not yet paid and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported
(“IBNR") as at the end of the reporting period which is calculated
with reference to foreseeable events, past experiences and trends.

Insurance claims are recognised when they are incurred and
reported. Incurred claims include the losses, related costs and
expenses paid during the year and the change in the reserve for
outstanding claims during the year. Reserves for outstanding claims
are reported on an undiscounted basis which include reserves for
reported claims and reserves for IBNR claims.

Every notified claim is assessed on a case-by-case basis. The
reserve of a reported claim is made by the claims handler based
on his experience and based on the information, documents and
the claim amount submitted by the claimant and is checked by the
officer before updating the information into the claims system. The
reserve is reviewed and revised regularly to reflect the development
of the claim and the change of the market practice.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performs a liability
adequacy test to ensure the adequacy of the insurance claim
liabilities. In performing these tests, current best estimates of
all future contractual cash flows are made. Any deficiency is
immediately charged to profit or loss.

(s) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RAR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)
(CONTINUED)

(t) Revenue and income recognition

(t) WA Rz R

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS
15") establishes a comprehensive framework for determining when
to recognise revenue and how much revenue to recognise through
a b-step approach: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer;
(i) identify separate performance obligations in the contract; (iii)
determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price
to the performance obligations; and (v) recognise revenue when
a performance obligation is satisfied. The core principle is that a
company should recognise revenue when control of a good or
service transfers to a customer.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the goods or
service is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
goods or service may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

e creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or service transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable, are
capitalised as contract assets and subsequently amortised when
the related revenue is recognised.
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The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation of a construction contract is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depict the Group's performance in
satisfying the performance obligation:

e direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group to
the customer; or

e the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected efforts or
inputs.

Income from sale of properties is recognised when the legal
assignment is completed or the property is accepted by the
customer, which is the point in time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all of
the remaining benefits of the property.

Income from sale of goods such as information technology
equipment, motor vehicles and food and beverage are recognised
when goods are delivered and title to the goods has passed to
the customers. Revenue is arrived at after deduction of any sales
return, discount and relevant local tax.

Income from rendering of services such as provision of maintenance
and property management, warehouse and logistics services and
hotel and senior housing operations are recognised over time when
services are rendered. Receipt in advance of provision of services
are accounted for as contract liabilities.

Premiums for direct insurance business and reinsurance are
recognised at date of risk inception.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis,
with reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to its net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group's
rights to receive payment have been established.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the terms of the respective leases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t) Revenue and income recognition (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)
(CONTINUED)

(t) Revenue and income recognition (continued)

(t) WA Rz EEsR (&)

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the
customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year, except
for retention receivables which may not be fully settled within 12
months after the end of the reporting period. As a consequence,
the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time
value of money.

(u) Leases

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee at the date when the leased
asset is available for use by the Group, except for short-term leases
(defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and
leases of low value assets (defined as leases with a lease asset of
US$5,000 or below, equivalent to approximately HK$39,000). For
short-term leases and low value leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased assets are consumed.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u) Leases (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual
value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)

(CONTINUED)

(u) Leases (continued) (u) HE(E)
The Group as lessee (continued) AEBEREEA(E)
Right-of-use assets EHERE

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs; and
e restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. They are
depreciated over the remaining lease term on a straight-line basis.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in "“Property, plant and
equipment”.

Lease modifications

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components.
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(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

Provision for bonus plans is recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

(iii) Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
charged as an expense as they fall due.

(w) Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss or
capitalised over the period of the borrowings using effective interest
method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting year.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
B2 - —F-A=-+—HItFE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)
(CONTINUED)
(x) Taxation (x) Bi1E

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes profit or loss
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, and interests in
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from
investment properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore are
determined based on the presumption that the carrying amount of
such investment properties will be recovered through sale with the
corresponding tax rate applied.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12, “Income Taxes”,
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(y) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional currency
(i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
has determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEBMEE)
(CONTINUED)

(y) Foreign currencies (continued)

(y) 5hE5 (%)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part
of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation, which are
recognised in equity in the consolidated financial statements.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period
except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in equity, in which cases, the exchange components of that gain or
loss are also recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income as a separate component of equity, the exchange fluctuation
reserve. Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Exchange differences so arising are recognised in the exchange
fluctuation reserve.
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Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Directors of the Company that
make strategic decisions.

Segment assets mainly consist of non-current assets and current
assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except prepaid tax, unallocated bank balances and cash,
deferred tax assets and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, bank and
other borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated
liabilities.

(ab) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include investments at
FVPL and FVOCI, investments at amortised cost, derivative financial
instruments, debtors and receivables, creditors and payables, amounts
due from/to related companies and non-controlling interests, bank
balances and bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

3.1Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk

(i)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bills payable,
amount due from a joint venture, amount due from/(to) non-
controlling interests, bank and other borrowings and bank
deposits at floating rates. Majority of the Group’s bank and
other borrowings carry interests at floating rates and expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The management
monitors interest rate exposure and hedges significant
interest rate exposure by using financial instruments such
as interest rate swap contracts. Certain instruments are
qualified for hedge accounting.

As at 31 March 2022, if interest rates had been increased/
decreased by one percentage point and all other variables
were held constant, the post-tax profit of the Group, would
decrease/increase by HK$23,274,000 (2021: HK$17,307,000),
resulting mainly from the change in the borrowing costs
of bank and other borrowings and interest income of bank
deposits.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from various currency exposures.
Foreign currency risk arises when the Group’s recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies that are
not the entities’ functional currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERARM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3
(CONTINUED)

3.1Financial risk factors (continued)

B REREEBBRRBK(E)

3B EREE ()
(a) T E R ()
(ii) SME/RfR ()

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group’s financial assets that are exposed to foreign
currency risk mainly comprise of investments in debt and
equity securities, accounts receivable balances arising
from sales to overseas customers, bank balances and
cash and amounts due from related companies and group
companies (on entity level). The Group's financial liabilities
that are exposed to foreign currency risk mainly comprised
of accounts payable balances arising from purchases from
overseas suppliers and amounts due to group companies (on
entity level). It is the Group's policies to ensure that the net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling
foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances. The management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and hedges significant foreign currency
exposure by using financial instruments such as foreign
currency forward contracts. Certain instruments are qualified
for hedge accounting.

Financial instruments under foreign currencies (other than
the functional currencies of the Group's entities) that are
exposed to foreign exchange risk are mainly denominated
in Australian dollar, British Pound, Canadian dollar, Euro,
Hong Kong dollar, Japanese Yen, Macau Pataca, Renminbi,
Singapore dollar, Swiss Franc, United States dollar (“US
dollar”) and Vietnam Dong. The carrying amounts of the
Group's foreign currency denominated financial assets and

R £2 (B T S 1 E R B 2 B 7
BETBBREDMEAE
HIRE - MEIMNERIELH
EmEL 2 RUBRRAE R -
RITHEF MRS LRI E
NAREBRRRR(EEE
) o 75 B 5 SME LB 2
MBAEEERBERAEIME
FEEELIRBMEL Z BN
R ESRMENEERRR
R(EEEE) - AEEZK
R HER I AR R 1 R]
BRZKF o WiE BN
EXEFINE(MAFE) A
BRI MKERER - B
& B2 ¥ SINE LR 30 ) A a0 iR
HISNEE & W05 B 75 T AL ¥
BEXRIMNERR - BT TREN
B EFHER o

0 e SINEEE [ 2 NS B 75 T
A(TBERAKREEE 2T
BEE®)EEURTT - HE
MEARTT - BE BB
RPIE AR - FTA0
It~ IEARD - RIT([3E
T RBEE KB - KAE
BANE BB 2 M EE

financial liabilities at the end of the year are as follows: LB BERFRZIEEEE
o
Assets Liabilities
BE =0
2022 2022
—E=-= —E—=

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T
Australian dollar SRIT 13,900 15,022 (249) -
British Pound RgE 46,314 215 - (1
Canadian dollar mEAxT 235,333 233,613 = -
Euro Br7E 10,009 28,442 = -
Hong Kong dollar e 27,575 44,073 (2,460) (19,981)
Japanese Yen H 7,647 8,919 (972) (662)
Macau Pataca SRPIHE 3 3 (814,563) (661,629)
Renminbi AR 186,414 151,126 (25,164) (473)
Singapore dollar AT 66,168 76,803 - -
Swiss Franc I AER 7,539 5,816 = -
US dollar e 2,224,829 2,213,800 (816) (1,911)
Vietnam Dong BER 91,948 48,182 - -
Others Hi 3,319 2,158 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.1Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to every
percentage point increase and decrease in the functional
currency of corresponding group entity against the above
foreign currency. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period
for every percentage point increase in foreign currency
rates. Positive numbers below indicate an increase in profit/
investment revaluation reserve where the above foreign
currency strengthens every percentage point against the
functional currency of corresponding group entity.

At el

Increase in post-tax profit

Increase in investment revaluation WA EHEEEN
reserve

(iif) Price risk

The Group is exposed to listed debt and equity securities
price risk because investments held by the Group are
classified on the consolidated statement of financial position
either as investments at FVOCI or investments at FVPL.

If the prices of the respective quoted debt and equity
instruments of the Group had been increased/decreased by
one percentage point and all other variables held constant:

— the post-tax profit and investment revaluation reserve
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 would
increase/decrease by HK$3,991,000 and HK$903,000
(2021: HK$1,911,000 and HK$447,000) as a result of
the changes in fair values of investments at FVPL and
investments at FVOCI respectively.

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

B REREEBBRRBK(E)

3.1 RERE R (&)
(a) Wi ER ()
(i) SME/R R (48)

TRANARE Z HASE
EEINEEEH A LINEZ
FIRMERD —EE DR
BRRE - RREDITR B
MONERBR 2 mARBEER
BHIHE > YERRERR
REXGEM—EaIHZ
BMETLARE - AT ERUA
TRIAESNE R AR R B
X EeE—EE
DEZER RN, RE

EIHFHEERTEM o
2022 2021
—=E—_— —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST
19,937 20,964
917 461

(i) (BT8R 2

AEBER EHES MR
EFERER - L TIERA
KEMBAZRERGZEY
BARRKRFDEBLANE
SIAR M2 mEEIE 2 &
BXRAREIIABREE
B -

HAREEBRBATAS
A A B R T, R
—EE S - AT
SRZOMHTE - Al

— AEHEEE—_T -
—A=Z+—"HIEFEZ
RERMRREEME
&5 B, w A
# 3,991,000 7T K& 6 &
903,000 5t ( = & = —
& HE¥1,911,0007T &
HHA447,0007T) 0 T
HAREARETAEBRE
B2 ERIEARBEIIA
Hip 2 AN RIEZRE
ZRARERETE -

HIEBREEMAERALR
2022 3R
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FZA=+—HLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.1Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk

The Group’s holdings of investments at FVOCI, investments
at FVPL, investments at amortised costs, derivative financial
instruments, debtors, contract assets and other receivables,
amounts due from related companies and non-controlling
interests and bank balances which are subject to expected credit
loss model, expose the Group to credit risk of counterparties.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at the end
of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position after
deducting any loss allowance.

Debtors of the Group may be affected by the unfavourable
economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation which
could in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts owed.
Deteriorating operating conditions for debtors may also have an
impact on management’s cash flow forecasts and assessment
of the impairment of receivables. To the extent that information is
available, management has properly reflected revised estimates
of expected future cash flows in their impairment assessments.

The Group has established different credit policies for customers
in each of its core businesses. The average credit period granted
to trade debtors is 60 days, except for insurance business where
credit period granted to certain debtors is over 60 days.

Bank balances and cash are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9 but the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 ERMREEBERBIE(E)

(CONTINUED)

3.1Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade debtors and contract assets

3.1 RERE R (&)
(b) FE R ()
(i) BESRERFAREHEE

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade debtors and contract
assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade debtors
and contract assets have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The Group
used expected loss rates based on the ageing for classes
with different credit risk characteristics and exposures.
The expected credit loss rates are estimated based on the
historical credit losses experienced over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 and
2021 was determined as follows for trade debtors based on
the days past due:

SLPTA B S RUSRF A K
BEMS  AREEREE
PR R S 2E R 95k < LB
BE  EREMEREE
EIERETTERBEESSE -

REITERMEEER  E5
FEMBR A K & W EBEECDIRIE
AREERBRSHFRAH A
BnE - AREMERZE
HEBRERIEAETREER
B A5 B R R B AR R R 2
BRI 2 BRI TORTE - FBHIE
EEERTREREIRRZ
BHMHPRAZBEEEER
e AE > WAEH BRI
RER BT P B WA
BN RBRER R ZRF
NEABRELZER -

BIEZEE - LB B REWER
HME RZEZZFRZ
E-—F=-A=1+—HRE
mEAR S BERESE
TEWR

Up to 61-90 Over
60 days days 90 days Total
60K 61-90X HBiBIOK nE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
31 March 2022 —E-_F
=A=+—H
Gross carrying amount  BEEI{E £ %8 806,542 27,428 53,538 887,508
Loss allowance gisEe (3) (348) (29,975) (30,326)
Expected loss rate TR IE R 0.00% 1.27% 55.99%

Up to 61-90 Over
60 days days 90 days Total
60X A 61-90K HBE90K 1EEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST ST I ST I
31 March 2021 —E-—F
=A=+-—H
Gross carrying amount  BRE{BE42%E 682,973 24,129 57,405 764,507
Loss allowance ES1E R (1,369) (357) (33,695) (35,421)
Expected loss rate TEHAE A R 0.20% 1.48% 58.69%
HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERARM

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE-_T-_—F=

RA=+—RHLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.1Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Trade debtors and contract assets (continued)

Trade debtors are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a
period of greater than 90 days past due.

Contract assets were not past due and no loss allowance
was provided as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Other debtors, amounts due from associates, joint ventures,
non-controlling interests and bank balances

The loss allowance for other debtors, amounts due from
associates, joint ventures, non-controlling interests and bank
balances as a result of applying the expected credit risk
model was immaterial as they have a low risk of default.

(iif) Debt investments carried at amortised cost

All of the Group’s debt investments at amortised cost are
considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance
recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12
months expected losses. Management consider “low credit
risk” for debt investments when they have a low risk of
default and the issuers have strong capability to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

(iv) Financial guarantees

The Group has assessed the credit risk arising from
guarantees given to financial institutions for credit facilities
granted to certain property buyers and associates taking into
consideration the realisable value of the underlying projects/
assets. The Group does not expect any significant credit risk
arising from these guarantees.

The Group does not have any significant exposure to any
individual debtors or counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 IEREEEERBEK(E)
(CONTINUED)
3.1Financial risk factors (continued)

318 EREE (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) E€RE AR

The Group aims to maintain prudent liquidity risk management
and flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient cash and cash
equivalents, readily realisable marketable securities and to have
committed short term and medium term credit lines available.

The Directors believe that the Group has obtained sufficient
committed and uncommitted general credit facilities from banks
for working capital purposes.

The Group’s liquidity position and compliance with loan
covenants are monitored closely by the management of the
Company. The following table details the Group’s contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities at the end of the reporting
period. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

Less than

AEEBDEFEEZ ELRD
AREBREBRE AR R
Re%EY  ARHER AE
EH R OAHE R
MR AT -

BEERE  AEEERTHEZ
BARBERREFE —REERE -
RUFEMZEESE °

ARREREEYNESARE L
MBE AN LG T BRI
Mo TRANAKERHFEHR
MBRBEZAHNEMIER - &K
& TR IR AN G2 8] m] B A B SRS A
ZERFARZHBABEZ KRR
RenEme - 2 RBERENE
RAEZBERE

Total
More than  undiscounted Carrying

1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years cash flows amounts

RER
HR-F -ERE MELE BBIE REREAE R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BYTR BRI BRI AR AR

2022 ZE-C
Amounts due to joint ventures ERALLEEN 13,162 - - - 13,162 13,162
Amounts due to non-controlling AR RERER

interests 259,833 239,187 - - 499,020 499,020
Creditors and payables B RERE 732,834 176,197 - - 909,031 909,031
Derivative financial instruments (gross fT4 815 T A& (B ERE)

settled)

- outflow —in 1,119 - - - 1,119 1,119

~inflow -A (1,731) - - - (1,731) (1,731)
Bank and other horrowings HITRAMIER 2,488,276 730,605 531,664 693,182 4443727 4,019,900
Lease liabilities fgaE 25,249 19,795 51,448 32,349 128,841 109,234
Financial quarantees in contingent ~ SABEAZEHER

ligbilities 154,465 89,193 93,198 - 336,856 336,856

HIEREEERA A

2022 3R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022

HE-Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BRREEEERBEE)
(CONTINUED)
3.1Financial risk factors (continued) MBI KERREE(E

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) E&RE A ()
Total
Less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Hyears  cash flows amounts

IR-F  -ERF  WMERF  BRLF BBRE W
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ARt ERtr A%t #RTr BRTr ANTn

2021 “B--f
Amounts due to joint ventures  EFTA SRR 6,581 - - - 6,581 6,581
Amounts due to non-controlling FEf3EIERRIE RS

interests 258,585 206,751 - - 465,336 465,336
Creditors and payables ERER R ERTE 518,687 156,911 - - 675,598 675,598
Derivative financial instruments 74817 T B (8L Z)

(gross settled)

- outflow it 2,729 - - - 2,729 2,729

~inflow —"A (2,623) - - - (2,623) (2,623)
Bank and other borrowings T RAEMEH 1645383 1,459,606 102,118 712132 3919239 3498824
Lease liahilties kst 23,058 11,500 28,811 28212 91,581 80,492
Financial guarantees in FRBENZHBER

contingent liabilities 89,320 87,715 15,565 - 192,600 192,600

3.2Capital risk management 32EXEKER

AEBEEREAZ BRAREBALE
BREGLEZEN  RBEBHRIE

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern while maximising the

138

returns to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balances.

The Group regularly and closely reviews and manages its capital
structure to provide cost efficient funding to the Group and its
companies and make adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes of economic conditions or corporate needs.

The Group monitors the capital on the basis of net debt to equity
ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of net debt (comprises
total debt less bank balances and cash) over total equity. Total debt
represents bank and other borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.2Capital risk management (continued)
The net debt to equity ratio of the Group is as follows:

Total debt (note 34) #ER(MIEE34)

Bank balances and cash (note 31) R174F RIRE (HFE31)
Net debt RS

Total equity B

Net debt to equity ratio FEBEER LR

Net debt to equity ratio increased from 6.8% as at 31 March 2021
to 12.1% as at 31 March 2022 mainly representing the increase of
the Group's bank and other borrowings for financing the acquisition
of new properties and projects during the year.

Pursuant to Chapter 41 of The Hong Kong Insurance Companies
Ordinance, all authorised insurance companies are required to
maintain an excess of assets over liabilities of not less than a
required solvency margin. For the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021, the Group's relevant subsidiaries complied with the solvency
margin requirements as set out by the relevant authorities in Hong
Kong.

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

PR EE B RREEH)

32EAEREE(E)

AREEZFER RS R T

2022 2021
—=E—_— T
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
4,019,900 3,498,824
(2,667,092) (2,782,183)
1,352,808 716,641
11,226,593 10,569,225
12.1% 6.8%
FEFEERERA T - —F=
A=1+—HHB8%IERE_ZT -
FZHA=+—HW121% ' =TZH

RAREIRTT R EMERERFR
WissmE AR REHRES MR
SEVEFTEN

RIEEZBRBAFHED (BNE) -
FIBERERBARHARSEE
BHEEZBEETVORBRT 2 EN
KL BHE_TE-__FR=-F
——F=ZA=+—BH1LFE 4%
EERIM B A EST BB HKE
B2 ENEESRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERARM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

3.3Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried
at fair values by level of inputs to valuation techniques to measure
fair values. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair

value hierarchy as follows:

e (Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets

or liabilities (level 1).

e |nputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair values as at 31 March

2022 and 2021:

2022
Financial assets
Investments at FVPL

— debt securities
— equity securities
Investments at FVOCI

— equity securities
Derivative financial
instruments

Financial liability
Derivative financial
instruments

—E-_F
BREE
BARENABTE
RIEZ A
—BETEEH
—IRARFE 5
BARENAEAM
EHEHNGREZ
wE
—IRARFE 5
PTEMBIA

HEasE
PTHEMBIA

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Level 1

E—®

HK$'000
BET T

3 BMREAKREERZERBEKGE)

33 A REME
TRERANRFAEAARBEZMEENE
FIRBmABIENER  HiTA%E
BARBEINRZMETA - BHEH
ABEBIDBERAARBERBAZT
S = fEREAR :

s ERNEREENBBEERTS
ZHRE(RBE)(F—H) -

s EREENABZHABIETE
ERFE-RAZERE  HRIEEK
(BIEH) s (BN B ERS
FBR(E=_R) -

s EREENABZHABIRILIF
RIBERBR 2 T 5 8UR (BN A]
BR2BARE) (F=R)

TEHIR-_E-——FR T —
FZAZ+—BEARBEFEZAR
SEUBEERMBKALRL

Level 2 Level 3 Total
et B4 B
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BET T BT T BT T

243,619 11,121 692,396 947,136
208,820 - 79,416 288,236
90,311 - 1,427 91,738
- 65 - 65
542,750 11,186 773,239 1,327,175
- (47) - (47)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BRREEEERBEE)
(CONTINUED)

3.3Fair value estimation (continued)

3.3 fEME ()

Level 1 Total
F—H E_M BE=1R k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT IT BT IT BT IT
2021 —E-—F
Financial assets BKEE
Investments at FVPL BARESAEBT
BRIEZIRE
- debt securities —EEE 116,763 137,672 644,689 899,124
— equity securities —IRARFE S 95,098 - - 95,098
Investments at FVOCI BAREIAEMER
IR IR 2 128
— equity securities —IRAFE S 44,727 - 1,370 46,097
256,588 137,672 646,059 1,040,319
Financial liability g S =R
Derivative financial PTEMBIA
instruments - (106) - (106)

The Group uses quoted market prices for financial assets included
in level 1. The quoted price which is used, is the price within the
bid-ask spread that is most representative of the fair value.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

IE—MAZHBEEMS @ A%
BERATIS®RE - AANKRER/SE
BEEETHRERRAABEZER -

VEAERRBRTIZ LEE M B TA
(EIMTET R) 2 R A BERAME
ENEEE - 2 E[ETERER
AABR zmEEE (A EE)
Y EE D FEERFEMF o MHat
ETARREMBZIMEERBA
BEAER - AIRTASFAFE
Ao

fH—HKZHE NG ARBIBL IFE
RABRTISEE - R TASE
AEB=MR -

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 IEREEEERBEK(E)
(CONTINUED)
3.3Fair value estimation (continued) 33 RAEMF(E)
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments RLGETH BT EAE L SFEME
include: FERE

. BUTAZTHREXZHHH

e (Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;

142

The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated as
the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on
observable yield curves;

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is
determined using forward exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period with the resulting value discounted back to
present value;

For unlisted securities or financial assets without an active
market, the Group establishes the fair value by using valuation
techniques including the use of recent arm'’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same,
reference to net asset value of investee and discounted cash
flow analysis, making maximum use of market inputs and relying
as little as possible on entity-specific inputs; and

Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis,
are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial
instruments.

Debt securities classified as financial assets at FVPL comprised
a debt instrument with fair value of approximately HK$596
million (2021: HK$490 million). The debt instrument relates to
the financing (committed amount of HK$800 million, of which
HK$461 million had been drawn as at 31 March 2022). The fair
value was derived by an independent external valuer based on
discounted cash flow method. The estimated cash flows used in
the assessment are based on assumptions, such as estimated
cash proceeds generated from the senior housing facility,
estimated development cost and discount rate. The assumptions
used in the fair value assessment determination involve
estimates and judgements, any deviation from the estimates
may result in increase or decrease in fair value. For example, any
increase in the discount rate, any increase in the development
costs or any decrease in the estimated cash proceeds, with
other variables remain constant, if adopted, would result in a
lower fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

3.3Fair value estimation (continued)

There were no transfers of financial instruments between levels in

the hierarchy for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value
hierarchy of financial instruments for the years ended 31 March

2022 and 2021:

At 1 April 2021

Additions

Receipt for capital returns

Fair value gain recognised in
other comprehensive income

Fair value loss recognised in
profit or loss

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2022

At 1 April 2020

Additions

Receipt for capital returns

Fair value loss recognised in
other comprehensive income

Fair value loss recognised in
profit or loss

Disposals

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2021

RZEZ—FMHHA—H

NE

g 1 2

REMEEWSEERZ
NN EL G

REBSEERZ AR EEER

BEE 3¢, S

RZE-Z—F=R=+—H

RZE-—ZEFWMA—H

NE

I qEEE %N

REMEEWREERZ
NREEE

RIERERZ AN EEE

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_ZT-_F=A=t+—HLFE

3 BMREAKREERZERBEKGE)

33D AEMEE(E)

BE_T_—_FR-FT-_—%=A
_+ BIEFE x@ﬂ@ﬁ@%

TRENE=RDAERBOHTB
TEBE-_ZTZ-_—_k-_T-—%F

ZA=tT-HLEFEZES

Debt Equity
securities securities Total
BEXE S R A58 25 ELEC]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AUET T BT AT
644,689 1,370 646,059
100,100 79,320 179,420
(28,848) - (28,848)
- 10 10
(26,874) - (26,874)
3,329 143 3,472
692,396 80,843 773,239
Debt Equity
securities securities Total
BEFES &N 4z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
489,098 23,530 512,628
163,957 443 164,400
(5,250) - (5,250)
- (7,750) (7,750)
(8,107) - (8,107)
- (14,944) (14,944)
4,991 91 5,082
644,689 1,370 646,059
HIEBREEMAERALR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal to
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

(a) Fair values of investment properties

The valuations of investment properties held directly by the Group
are made on the basis of the “Market Value"” adopted by the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (“HKIS") and/or the International
Valuation Standards Council (“IVSC") and/or the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors (“RICS"). They are performed in accordance
with the HKIS Valuation Standards on Properties published by the
HKIS and/or the International Valuation Standards published by
the IVSC and/or the RICS Valuation — Global Standards published
by the RICS. The valuations are reviewed annually by qualified
valuers by considering the information from a variety of sources
including (i) recent market transaction prices in an active market
for properties of different nature, condition or location, adjusted
to reflect those differences; (ii) recent market transaction prices
of similar properties in less active market, with adjustments to
reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and (iii) rental income
derived from existing tenancies with due provision for reversionary
income potential based on market conditions existing at the end of
the reporting period.

These methodologies are based upon estimates of future results
and a set of assumptions specific to each property to reflect its
tenancy and cash flow profile. The fair value of each investment
property reflects, among other things, rental income from current
leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases
in light of current market conditions including open market rents,
appropriate capitalisation rates and reversionary income potential.
For the year ended 31 March 2022, discount rate in the range
of 3.89% to 13.25% (2021: 2% to 13.25%) were used in the
discounted cash flow analysis. The fair value also reflects on a
similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect
of the property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
Bz ZF=A=T—HILFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4 BERESTETTRAE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(a) Fair values of investment properties (continued)

(a) REME 22 AE(E)

As at 31 March 2022, if the market values of investment properties
had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the carrying values of the Group’s investment properties
would have been HK$474,925,000 (2021: HK$366,140,000) higher/
lower respectively.

The valuations of investment properties were based on the
economic, market and other conditions as they exist on, and
information available to management as of 31 March 2022. Given
the outbreak of COVID-19 has caused significant disruption to
economic activities around the world, this disruption has increased
the uncertainty of the assumptions used in the valuations being
achieved and materialised. Consequently, the ongoing development
of COVID-19 may cause unexpected volatility in the future fair value
of the investment properties subsequent at 31 March 2022.

(b) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts
of property, plant and equipment have been determined based on
the higher of their fair values less costs to sell and value-in-use,
taking into account the latest market information and past
experience.

(c) Impairment assessment for goodwill

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with accounting policies stated in note 2(z) to the
consolidated financial statements. The recoverable amounts of
CGUs have been determined based on value-in-use calculations
or their fair values less cost to sell, whichever are higher. Where
discounted cash flow forecast is used to estimate the recoverable
amount, it requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from CGUs and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
or estimated transaction price, which applicable, are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The Group expects
that any reasonable change in the key assumptions on which
the recoverable amounts are based would not cause the carrying

RZZTEZZF=—A=+—8 " &M
EﬁﬁﬂT PRARRBTEZER

Wxé%%Zmﬁt%/TM
0% —E—F 1 10%) KAEH
WEWEZERED B LA T’
7 ¥ 474,925,000L( ZF = — 4 ¢
75 #366,140,0007T) °
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SRERMABCI R Z THEEK
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amounts of goodwill to exceed their recoverable amounts. Please Z.ziﬁﬁﬂj\@grﬁﬁii FRmEE

refer to notes 16 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements for F’ETW@?E‘E - HIEBE2MERE

details. B IS 3RRMIFE16 239 ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HLFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(d) Fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL and

derivative financial instruments

The fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL and
derivative financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market are determined by using valuation techniques as detailed
in note 3.3. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of
methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period, including the
purchase price paid by the Group, the investees’ financial position
and results, risk profile, prospects, including trend and other factors.
Any change in any of the key assumptions used would result in
increase or decrease in fair values.

(e) Net realisable values of properties under development and

(f)

properties for sale

The Group writes down properties under development and
properties for sale to net realisable value based on assessment of
the realisability of properties under development and properties for
sale which takes into account cost to completion and cost to sell
based on past experience and net sales value based on prevailing
market conditions. If there is an increase in cost to completion or
cost to sell or a decrease in net sales value, the net realisable value
will decrease which may result in writing down properties under
development and properties for sale to net realisable value. Write-
downs are recorded where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be realised. The identification of
write-downs requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate, the carrying
value of properties under development and properties for sale is
adjusted in the period in which such estimate is changed.

Determination of insurance liabilities

The Group's insurance liabilities mainly comprise provision for
outstanding claims. The Group determines these estimates on
the basis of historical information, actuarial analysis, financing
modelling and other analytical techniques. The estimated insurance
liabilities are affected by assessed net loss ratio. As at 31 March
2022, assessed net loss ratio was 61% (2021: 50%). Differences
resulting from reassessment of insurance liabilities are recognised
in subsequent consolidated financial statements. The Group
continually reviews the estimates and makes adjustments as
necessary, but actual results could differ from what is envisioned
when these estimates are made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4 BERESTETTRAE(E)
(CONTINUED)

(g) Construction contract (g) BEEX

Revenue from construction works is recognised over time, and
is dependent on management’s estimation of the total outcome
of the construction contract, as well as the work done to date.
The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract value
contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses. Revenue
from construction works is measured in accordance with progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligations.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by the management
on the basis of correspondence between the Group and its major
contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of the
management. In order to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
the management conducts periodic reviews of the management
budgets by comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. A considerable amount of judgement is required in
estimating the contract value, contract costs, variation works and
contract claims which may have an impact in terms of progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligations and
recognition of profit.

(h) Income taxes

As at 31 March 2022, deferred tax asset of HK$102,613,000
(2021: HK$65,854,000) in relation to unused tax losses had been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future taxable profits or taxable temporary differences will
be available in the future. In cases where the actual taxable profits
generated are more or less than expected, additional deferred tax
assets or reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such an addition
or a reversal takes place.

Also, the Group, including associates and joint ventures, is
subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions, mainly in Hong
Kong, Mainland China and overseas. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(i)

()

Control over investees accounted for as subsidiaries

Certain investees are considered to be subsidiaries of the Company
despite the equity interests therein are not more than 50% of the
relevant investees. Based on the contractual power pursuant to
the relevant shareholders’ agreement between the Group and
the other shareholder, the Group has the majority voting power
in the board of directors in the respective investees, by which the
relevant activities that significantly affect the return of the investees
are determined, and hence has control over these investees.
Accordingly, those investees are accounted for as subsidiaries of
the Company.

Consolidation of senior housing business in the United
States of America (“the US”)

The Group's senior housing business in the US is operated
by different professional senior housing operators. Significant
judgement is required in determining whether Group is a principal
and similarly, whether the operator is an agent in this business.
Management considered the Group has exposure to the risks and
return associated with rendering of services and therefore regarded
the Group as the principal. Accordingly, the financial results and
operations of this business is consolidated in the Group's financial
statements.

(k) Determination of lease term and discount rate for lease

liabilities

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an
extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension
options (or periods after termination options) are only included in
the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or
not terminated).

In determining the lease term, the following factors are normally the
most relevant:

e if there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the
Group is typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate);

e if any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant
remaining value, the Group is typically reasonably certain to
extend (or not terminate);

e otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical
lease durations and the costs and business disruption required
to replace the leased asset.

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required to exercise
considerable judgement in relation to determining the discount rate
taking into account the nature and location of the underlying assets,
and the terms and conditions of the leases at the commencement
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the Directors, the chief operating decision-maker,
that are used to make strategic decisions. The Directors consider the
business from a product/service perspective.

Principal activities of the segments are as follows:

Construction and engineering: Construction and engineering work for
aluminium windows and curtain walls, building construction, building
supplies, civil engineering, electrical and mechanical engineering,
environmental engineering, and lifts and escalators.

Property investment: Properties rental business.

Property development and operations: Property development and
management, cold storage and logistics and hotel operations.

Healthcare investment: Senior housing business and medical office
building investment.

Car dealership: Retailing, trading and servicing of motor vehicles.

Others: Sale and servicing of information technology equipment and
business machines, food trading, general insurance business (except
aircraft, aircraft liabilities and credit insurance), investment in securities,
food and beverage and freight forwarding services.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated income statement, except that it also includes the Group's
share of revenue of associates and joint ventures on a proportionate
consolidated basis. The sales from associates and joint ventures to the
Group and sales between individual associates and joint ventures are
not eliminated.

The Directors assess the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. This measurement includes
the Group's share of results of associates and joint ventures on a
proportionate consolidated basis. Unallocated corporate expenses,
unallocated finance income and costs and taxation are not included in
segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current assets
as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except
prepaid tax, unallocated bank balances and cash, deferred tax assets
and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-current
liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position
except current income tax liabilities, bank and other borrowings and
deferred tax liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2EER(E)

(a) Revenue and results

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE-E-CE-A=t-R
LEE

Construction
and
engineering

RER
BHIE
HKS'000
BT

Property
investment

HK§000
BRI

Property
development
and
operations
NRERR
HK$'000
ARt

(a) WA R %4&E

Healthcare Car
investment  dealership

RESR
RE  REAR
HK$'000

HK$'000
BT ENTR

Others

2t
HKS'000
BRTR

Total

A%
HK$'000
AR

REVENUE WA
Total revenue BITA 3,292,750 152,901 1,491,087 806,304 1,811,137 1,280,693 8,834,872
Inter-segment revenue AR (132,098) (2,034) (44,782) - - (21525 (200,439)
Group revenue £EIA 3,160,652 150,867 1,446,305 806,304 1,811,137 1,259,168 8,634,433
Share of revenue of associates and FBERARAELEMA

joint ventures 1,835,359 - 64,655 123,522 479,466 93,877 2,596,879
Proportionate revenue from a joint BHEREHRELEL

venture eliminated BB (398) - - - - - (398)
Segment revenue k[0 4,995,613 150,867 1,510,960 929,826 2,290,603 1,353,045 11,230,914
Revenue from contracts with customers:  EPA#ZUA :
- recognised at a point in time i 23,785 - 1,089,002 - 1765531 607,614 3,485,932
~recognised over time - BEERT 3,136,832 - 352,759 806,304 14,766 39,800 4,350,461
Revenue from other sources EfREELZBA 35 150,867 4544 - 30,840 611,754 798,040
Group revenue SEA 3,160,652 150,867 1,446,305 806,304 1811137  1259,168 8634433
RESULTS B+ |
Segment profit/(loss) before NREKERANIE

finance cost, net BH/(BR) B8 334,476 379413 267,949 (2,232) (38,008) 20,363 961,961
Finance income BHA 2421 1,034 8,488 2,496 2,402 2311 19,224
Finance costs SHBER (359) (2,141) - (44,385) (7,906) (1,539) (56,330)
Segment profit/loss) after ThEBERENIE

finance cost, net afl/(FE) 58 336544 378306 276437 (44121)  (43512) 21,201 924,855
Included in segment profitfloss) are: AERF|/(BR)RE:
Share of results of associates FiRBeEnTEE 163,254 - (5) - - (18,493) 144,756
Share of results of oint ventures il 15 - (14,720) 95,371 1347 - 82,013
Depreciation and amortisation, RERBE MBoRE

net of amounts allocated to ANTIEVSE

contract work (9,633) (647) (60,171) (81,583) (40,533) (19,250) (211,817)
Impairment loss on properties forsale  FENEZREEE - - (732) - - - (732)
Impairment loss on property, % BREREECAE

plant and equipment EE - - - (8,158) (19,520) - (27,678)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZREER - - - (4,040) - - (4,040)
Increase in fair value of investment RENEZDREREN

properties - 288,719 - - - - 288,719
Unrealised floss)gain on investments at — BAR EFI A BREIEZ RE

fair value through profit or loss HAZH(EE) s - - - (25,283) 45552 (66471)  (87.202)
Provision written back/irecognised) for [ /(B EEEEER

inventories to net realisable value, net MERIE 34 15 - - - (5,967) 7 (5,173)
Provision recognised for trade and ERTESRAMENES

other debtors, net B 58 (133) - (18251 (14,083 (67) (149)  (32643)
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Revenue and results (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_ZT-_F=A=t+—HLFE

2EER(E)

Car
dealership

)

QOthers

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-E--FZA=t-R
I3

REVENUE WA
Total revenue BIA 3,019,669 141,608 463376 964,785 2125422 883442 7,598,302
Inter-segment revenue PEIARA (138,036) 2,332) (44,239) - - (60840)  (245447)
Group revenue £EIWA 2,881,633 139,276 419137 964,785 2125422 822,602 7,352,855
Share of revenue of associates and FlEBERARAELE

joint ventures WA 1,753,256 - 52927 117,695 526,982 65,716 2,516,576
Proportionate revenue from a joint BHERE—AELEL

venture eliminated LA 18,960) - - - - - (18,960)
Segment revenue AEUA 4,615,929 139,276 472,064 1,082,480 2,652,404 888,318 9,850,471
Revenue from contracts with customers:  KPAL)ZHA :
- recognised at a point in time - -BRET 23998 - 243675 - 210707 401806 2,776,756
- recognised over time ~F-REHER 2,857,635 - 172,470 964,785 6,983 55,242 4057015
Revenue from other sources EfpREE A - 139,276 2992 - 11,262 365,554 519,084
Group revenue SEWA 2,881,633 139,276 419137 964,785 2125422 822,602 7,352,855
RESULTS -
Segment profit before NRERERNNLIE

finance cost, net BA B8 468,065 110,573 39,697 158,145 12931 98582 887,993
Finance income BHA 1362 41 7,056 49 853 3,747 13478
Finance costs HHER (440) 617) #12) 62,882) 4,867) (756 69,974)
Segment profit after %DI‘%EJT BERENIE

finance cost, net af 5 468,987 110,367 46,341 95,312 8917 101,573 831,497
Included in seqment profit are: HEENAE
Share of results of associates FEBERmEE 212817 - ) - - (2749 240,064
Share of results of joint ventures it 375 - (5,020) 95,322 8787 - 99,464
Depreciation and amortisation, TERESR NBARZE

net of amounts allocated to ANIRZEE

contract work (7,690) (583) (63,256) (84,595) (32,261) (13.444) (201,829)
Impairment loss on properties forsale  FENE ZEEE - - (2,185) - - - 2,185)
Impairment loss on property, % BREREECAE

plant and equipment 2 - - (1,550) - - - (1,550}
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZHEER - - - (1,738) - - (1,738)
Increase in fair value of investment REMELABEN

properties - 1424 - - - - 11,424
Unrealised gain on investments atfair AL EFINEREE

value through profit or loss RENRERUA - - - - 1,767 3,985 5,752
Provision written back/irecognised) for @ /(EHA ) EEEEER

inventories to net realisable value, net  AIEEEE 19 - - - (2,562) 2171 (366)
Provision written back/[recognised) BE/(BER)ESREM

for trade and other debtors, net UGS B 28 181 - 6 10,066) - 2,039 (7,.840)
Provision recognised for properties under  2EZEERYERET

development to net realisable value MERZE - - (30,000) - - - (30,000)

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prices determined by DEZEABWAZZSEBRHEEERE
management with reference to market prices. IRIETISBIRET -
HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2EER(E)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) MAREE(ME)
Total segment revenue are reconciled to the Group's revenue in the BBk AEAEFBRGEAEKRER
consolidated income statement as follows: AZWAEBRAT -
2022
—E—-=

HK$°000

BT T
Total segment revenue O FEWA 11,230,914 9,850,471

Add: Proportionate revenue from B0 DY E ARy
a joint venture eliminated IR A 398 18,960
Less: Share of revenue of associates S TREEE AR R A B
and joint ventures WA

Construction and installation contracts BENTEESL 1,145,268 1,098,858
Maintenance and other services 1RE R E MRS 690,091 654,398
Sales of motor vehicles and others REREMZ HE 479,466 526,982
Leasing of properties YERE 123,522 117,695
Food and beverage ZER 93,877 65,716
Sales of properties YEHE 38,177 29,206
Hotel operations G E 26,478 23,721
2,596,879 2,516,576

Total revenue in the consolidated income — R4&RakzEsE 2 B A

statement (note 6) (Mg5E6) 8,634,433 7,352,855
Reconciliation of segment profit to profit before taxation is provided DR AT HEEWT -
as follows:

2022 AOVA

—E-— —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Segment profit DR 924,855 831,497
Unallocated corporate expenses Kol H (50,902) (44,570)
Unallocated finance income R BLEATEUWA 7,849 20,944
Unallocated finance costs RO B E R (32,262) (17,061)
Profit before taxation B F A 849,540 790,810
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At 31 March 2022
ASSETS
Segment assets

Included in segment assets are:
Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures

Amounts due from associates
Amounts due from joint ventures
Additions to non-current assets (note)

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities

Included in segment liabilities are:
Amounts due to joint ventures

At 31 March 2021
ASSETS
Segment assets

Included in segment assets are:
Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures

Amounts due from associates
Amounts due from joint ventures
Additions to non-current assets (note)

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities

Included in segment liabilities are:
Amounts due to joint ventures

Note:

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(b) Assets and liabilities

R-B-Z%#=B=1-A
EE

AREE

NRARRE:
BE0AEL
RELEVEL
EUBEDAE
ERAELEER
REFRYEE (W)

&
2EAE

NRARRE:
BenAcRE
RELRER
EABELAER
ERARLEER
REFRIER(E)

8f
ARAR

NEAREE:
ERRELEER

Construction
and
engineering

RER
BHIE
HKS'000
BB

Property
investment

ET
HK§000
BB

Property
development
and
operations
NEBRER
gE
HK$'000
BT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE-Z-__F=-A=+—HIHFE
PEENGE)
(b) EERER

Healthcare Car
investment  dealership

AERE St ug
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
B®TT  ARTn ERTR

Others Total

HKS'000
BB

1956,671 4858354 5516915 2812213 1210953 2942580 19,297,686
656,467 - - - - 20,479 676,946
13,846 = 335,436 755,506 88,556 - 119334
25,034 - - - - 208 25242
- - 102,263 - - - 102,263
18,872 765,105 724,890 83,025 41,194 144343 1171429
1,876,013 88,294 417,534 355,340 451987 1286081 4475249
- - 12,876 - 286 - 13,162
175370 4019187 5387486 2,930,281 1167264 2,085,114 17,344,702
626,301 - - - - 17,174 643475
13,830 - 349,290 681,776 86,505 - 1131401
24,001 - - - - 5128 29219
299 - 118,568 - - - 118,867
4189 19,874 298,679 176,986 203275 0213 724276
1,763,363 42,980 701,422 312410 425,578 806,197 4,111,940
- - 6,407 - 174 - 6,581

FHeE -

In this analysis, the non-current assets include interests in associates and
joint ventures but exclude financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

EARDIH - JERBEERIFE N E
RAIRAEDEZ HSETBEMHET
HNRIERIRARE

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERARM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Assets and liabilities (continued)

5 ZEERE)
(b) EERAE(E)

154

Note: (continued)

Reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to total assets and liabilities is
provided as follows:

fEE - ()

DHEENABBHBEERAGBZHK
LI

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT IT

Segment assets DEEE 19,297,686 17,344,702
Prepaid tax AN 21,947 28,402
Unallocated bank balances and cash AOERITEENES 807,707 1,176,731
Deferred tax assets RLEFIEEE 69,055 49,184
Other unallocated assets Hitb kDB EE 18,500 13,970
Total assets 1B E 20,214,895 18,612,989
Segment liabilities NEAaE 4,475,249 4,111,940
Current income tax liabilities EHAEHAE 89,210 46,743
Bank and other borrowings RITREMIER 4,019,900 3,498,824
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 403,943 386,257
Total liabilities ®waE 8,988,302 8,043,764

(c) Geographical information

The Group's operations in construction and engineering businesses
are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Macau and
Australia. Property investment businesses are mainly carried out
in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Canada, Singapore and the United
Kingdom. Property development and operations businesses are
mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Canada.
Healthcare investment businesses are carried out in Hong Kong and
the US. Car dealership businesses are carried out in Mainland China
and Canada. Other businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong,
the US and Thailand.

The associates’ and joint ventures' operations in construction and
engineering business are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, Singapore and Macau. Property development and operations
businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Healthcare investment businesses are carried out in the US.
Car dealership businesses are carried out in Mainland China. Other
businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and Australia.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

(c) tHEE R

AEBRERBBRTIEXEIEE
BE - PEAM - B RRMNE
tE-MEREXBIEGCERE -+
B - EAX  F0R R R EE
tE-MEBRLEZEXBHIEAR
B RERM R INEAEE o K2
EEREXBHERBENEEEE -
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BIF - R EBRETEAERE - X
B e Z=BUE L -
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BIF - REERRE XK EXEE
tEe RBEBREXBETBERIMLE
1E o H BRI E2HEEE FORM
&I



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Geographical information (continued)

5 7EERA)
(c) EEH (&)

Segment revenue by geographical areas

BB 22 EHA
Company  Associates Company  Associates
and  andjoint 2022 and and joint
subsidiaries ventures Total subsidiaries ventures
FAFAK BEARR —B-= , B R
WEAR  AEL¥ fag =N *
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETn  B%TR BETT
Hong Kong B 4,473,158 665,585¢ 5,138,743 45 2,952,933 640,104¢ 3,593,037 36
Mainland China Rl 2,306,027 1,479,206 3,785,233 34 1942341 1460742 3,403,083 35
The US E3E 946,055 123522 1,069,577 10 1,237,803 117,69 1,355,498 14
Macau Pt 373,496 18,807 392,303 3 707,745 26,380 734,125 7
Canada mnex 381,806 - 381,806 3 317,744 - 317,744 3
Singapore Epb 12,586 289,831 302,417 3 12,563 234,243 246,806 3
Australia 2 74,265 19,200 93,465 1 123,963 17,998 141,961 1
Thailand ZH 60,204 - 60,204 1 57,763 - 57,763 1
The United Kingdom RE 6,836 - 6,836 0 - - - -
Others Eth - 330 330 0 - 454 454 0
8634433 2596481 11,230,914 100 7,352,855 2,497,616 9,850,471 100

#  The proportionate revenue from a joint venture is eliminated.

The Group maintains a healthy and balanced portfolio of customers.
No customer is accounted for 10% or more of the total revenue of
the Group for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of non-current
assets, excluding interests in associates and joint ventures, financial
instruments and deferred tax assets analysed by geographical
areas:

Hong Kong a8
Mainland China A B A D
The US ESE

The United Kingdom HE
Singapore N
Canada nex
Macau S
Thailand EE
Others =)

foRkE-HAE

WE I o

REZREHIBAD

AEBRBEREERFEEZ2EFRAE
A VWEXFHEAEEEE_Z
T oFERZFE-_—F=A=+—H
IFFEBRATI0%IA L o

AT R TEREMEBERAT RS
EZED - PHTEMELERA
BEZZWEE D ZIFRBDEER
EEDH -

Non-current assets

FRBEE
2022
— g2
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
3,581,504 3,205,304
2,030,828 2,296,534
1,848,273 1,880,230
703,836 -
461,250 449,402
256,795 228,865
43,663 45,816
7,268 7,854
252 126
8,933,669 8,114,131
HEEBREARAS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(d) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related
to contracts with customers:

5 7EERA)
d) BEFENERNEERER

AEERAATEEFAOE/MN
BEMAE:

31 March 31 March

2022
S =

— e

=A=t—H =A=1+—H
HK$'000 HK$ 000

Contract assets BREE
— construction and engineering — RN TR
Contract liabilities AHEE
— construction and engineering — BN TR
— property development and operations —MEERKEE
- healthcare investment —REEERILE
— car dealership —AERE
- others —HAth

Contract assets have increased as the Group has performed more
construction and engineering works ahead of the certified progress
by customers and/or their consultants.

Contract liabilities from construction and engineering have increased
as the Group has more prepayments received from customers
and an increase in overall contract activities. Contract liabilities
from property development and operations have decreased due
to revenue recognised from contract liabilities for the sales of
residential properties in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong
Kong.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AR T BETT

179,035 165,267
223,975 6,195
8,987 415,372
5,532 6,847
21,811 21,526
13,723 15,590
274,028 465,530

BHEERNRBRASENEP
R/ S S B R B R B E AT AT
BEZEERMMRTIE -

BEFEWMTIEZANEEENE
HAAEE A EPREERZ AN K
HAREREHEEIEM - REY
XERNEEZAMAGBRLEH
REHETFREAMEERBEEE
MERN A KB EEBLA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_ZT-_F=A=t+—HLFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 DEER(E)
(e) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (e) MENEBZCERARA
The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised TREFINARESHASBEREA
in the current reporting period relates to contract liability balance at HEYEHAERTBHEBPNESERL
the beginning of the year and the amount relates to performance HANBTHRBEITNENETHE
obligations that were satisfied in previous period: KIS FE :

2022 2021
—=E_-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT

Revenue recognised that was included in st AFEHE B EHRE S

the contract liability balance at the B2 HERUA
beginning of the year
— construction and engineering — B M T A2 5,183 9,455
- property development and operations —EBE MBS 423,734 -
— healthcare investment —(REEEIRRE 6,338 5,027
— car dealership —REBENRIE 18,471 26,040
- others —HAh 15,590 -
469,316 40,522
Revenue recognised from performance RERBEEREETT, 3%
obligations satisfied/partially satisfied in BITRBHNEFEZE
previous period [ @N
— construction and engineering — BN T AR 11,895 44,311
(f) Unsatisfied performance obligations (f) MARBITHENERE
The following table shows the amount unsatisfied performance TREFHRTEHAHAR & —F gk A
obligations resulting from construction and engineering for contracts LWENThEERKRITIZESED
with an original expected duration of one year or more: MABITRANBEENDEE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Expected to be recognised within one year FEEIRA —F RNFER 4,134,896 3,790,108
Expected to be recognised after one year  FEERIR —F &R 3,672,409 3,705,476
7,807,305 7,495,584
For all other contracts with an original expected duration of one FRIEHREAR A—FHisk — F AR
year or less or are billed based on time incurred, as permitted under B B fth & 4 AR 48 35 A B FE W ER
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied El"j,TAIE m%}%ij,ﬁﬁﬁ%#&ﬂ:/iﬁlj
contracts is not disclosed. 1658  DEEZERTHEOHNR
%{ET%EIT{’E&E% o
(g) Assets recognised from costs to fulfil a contract (g) BERENMAEREERBEE
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, there is no asset recognised from RZEBEZ_Z_FR_ZZTE-Z—F=A
costs to fulfil a contract. =+—8" I?ﬁz%mﬁk #9118 B

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

6 REVENUE 6 WA

2022 2021
—_E__ —EF - —F

- =

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Revenue represents amounts received and IWAFEREATEEZEW R

receivable from: FEMGRIA
Construction and installation contracts BERTEELD 3,009,325 2,729,316
Sales of information technology equipment, BARGRE - REREAM

motor vehicles and others ZiHE 1,936,302 2,243,907
Sales of properties VI E 1,055,546 44,974
Senior housing operations LTERELE 806,304 964,785
Insurance premium R & 577,917 347,062
Warehouse, logistics and freight BE - MRk EERE

forwarding services A% 548,258 391,420
Maintenance and property RERVEEERY

management services 449,561 444,539
Leasing of properties YERE 165,010 151,372
Dividend and interest income from REKEZRERFE

investments WA 33,261 17,880
Leasing of vehicles and equipment RERRERE 23,984 12,892
Hotel operations G E 20,480 4,708
Food and beverage B 8,485 -
Total revenue (note 5) L ONCEET)) 8,634,433 7,352,855

7 OTHER INCOME 7 Higg A

2022 2021
== —EF= - —F

=

HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT

Sales and marketing services income from an KB —EEZ A B ZHE R

associate (note 45) TG HE RS (I 5E45) 36,465 35,177
Management fee income from an associate KE—fEE AR REEDE
and joint ventures (note 45) ZEIBEBIWA (H3E45) 22,755 22,455
Service fee income from associates (note 45) R EFHEE A T 2 RIS EUA
(Pt5E45) 594 460
Government grants E4SRERY) 24,557 119,678
Compensation income mEWA 24,604 -
Others Hih 16,850 1,482
125,825 179,152

1 58 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

8 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 8 Hftthz (B58) B8

2022 2021
= —E - —F

=

HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT

(Loss)/gain on investments at fair value through 227 EFIABREIE 2 I8E

profit or loss (E518) Wz (79,974) 16,490
Gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments T4 T B2 Uz (EiE) 8 (242)
Increase in fair value of investment properties & &% > N 5t (B 0

(note 14) (Fg3E14) 288,719 11,424
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plantand HEW% - HE&KEHEZ

equipment (B18), W (5,878) 3,204
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEKE AR

(note 38(b)(iii)) (F#E38(b)(iii)) 8,471 -
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BB RRE 2 REETE

equipment (note 15) (fF3E15) (27,678) (1,550)
Impairment loss on properties for sale FEWMEZ BERE (732) (2,185)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 16) BB R EEBE(MET16) (4,040) (1,738)
Provision recognised for trade and other BHERE S RHEMERET

debtors, net B - 55 (32,643) (7,840)
Provision recognised for properties under EHREETYERES

development to net realisable value (note 24) A &3R5 (& (Fiz124) - (30,000)
Exchange gain PE 5 ez 7,235 3,249

153,488 (9,188)
9 FINANCE COSTS, NET 9 MKER . FH
2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Interest expenses on lease liabilities, HEBE  RTEL -

bank overdrafts, a non-controlling interest — IR S R IRTT

and bank and other borrowings HEmERzF e 104,113 102,481
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties under ¥ : B{ERRETWE 2 S5

development (note) (Ff3E) (15,521) (15,446)
88,592 87,035
Less: Interest income from bank deposits, S RBIRITIER A
promissory notes, an associate, A NS B
joint ventures and a non-controlling BEDER—IHERE
interest F=AF B A (27,073) (34,422)
61,519 52,613
Note: Hi3E
The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed and used for the development JERNERERIT BIEDERRZESHN
of properties was 1.40% per annum (2021: between 1.05% and 2.79% per BAMEERR 40% (2B —F : FENT
annum). 1.05%%E2.79%) °

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

10 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 10 BRBLATE R

2022
e

— e

Profit before taxation has been arrived at
after charging/(crediting) the following:

BB RS M2 (GEA)
NHEE -

HK$°000
BET T

AOVA
—E-—F
HK$'000
BT TT

Depreciation of property, plant and Y BELEEZTE
equipment (note 15) (ffF5E15) 198,675 178,207
Less: Amounts allocated to contract work W PREENIR S5 (3,335) (2,565)
195,340 175,642
Staff costs (note a) B T (MFa) 1,442,622 1,326,044
Less: Amounts allocated to contract work B PREENIR &5 (267,357) (207,512)
1,175,265 1,118,532
Short-term lease payments in respect of HENTIERE 2 EHHEE
leasing of &
- premises (note b) —EF(Ki7Eb) 7,166 7,821
- equipment — %1 2,657 2,753
9,823 10,5674
Auditors’ remuneration ZE RN B <
- audit services (Company'’s auditor and —IZEAR T (A RIAZEED
its affiliates) KEBEEAT) 8,167 7,734
— audit services (other auditors) — I HRS (L Az BREM) 8,679 7,806
- non-audit services (Company's auditor and — IR EURAS (AR BlRR &R
its affiliates) R EBEAR) 285 279
— non-audit services (other auditors) — FERZ BRI (L Ah A EREm) 2,372 2,235
— under-provision in prior years —BEFERETRE 382 400
19,885 18,454
Amortisation of other intangible assets HE R A
(note 17) (fF5E17) 16,483 26,187
Less: Amounts allocated to contract work B PREENIR &5 (6) -
16,477 26,187
Provision recognised for inventories to ERATEREEIERF
net realisable value, net (ERRIDE 2t 5,173 366
Cost of construction contracts BES A 2,888,555 2,612,465
Cost of inventories sold FEHERKAK 1,747,953 2,055,058
Cost of properties sold YDA B ER K 801,031 28,617
Gross rental income of HK$165,010,000 YER S BULN B
(2021: HK$151,393,000) from properties 165,010,0007T
less direct operating expenses (note ¢) T —F B
151,393,0007T ) &
HELE T (M) (122,052) (116,037)

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) Details of Directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are disclosed in
note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Included in staff costs are amounts of HK$723,000 (2021: HK$979,000)
in respect of termination benefits made to staff and HK$34,531,000
(2021: HK$29,520,000) in respect of contributions to defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes.

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2022, no contingent rental is included in
operating lease payments in respect of leasing of premises.

(c) Included in rental income is an amount of HK$5,380,000 (2021:
HK$5,487,000) less outgoings of HK$1,135,000 (2021: HK$1,328,000)
from a joint operation. Included in rental income is a gross amount of
HK$157,667,000 (2021: HK$143,926,000) derived from investment
properties less direct operating expenses of HK$41,817,000 (2021:
HK$35,136,000).

11 TAXATION

Current tax RELEHIE
Hong Kong B
Mainland China HR B
Overseas N
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE (GRRERE),/
BETR
Deferred tax IEER IR
Origination and reversal of temporary = R 7 E A N O]
differences (note 37) (FF5E37)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits. Taxation on Mainland China and
overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable
profits for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Details of deferred taxation are disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

10 BRBE AR ()
GEE

@ EFMSCRRERERIAXA - HFE
AR & M IRR M 40 R EE -

EIMYAEREME IIEH 2 EBERILE
F B 8723000 (Z T = —F : Bk
979,0007T) K 55 # 5B IR 18 A FT #44
FRE#34,531,000 (=T =—F : B
29,520,0007T) °

b) BE-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE -
HERF 22 EHEERTRERAE

(c) MERABER—HELEEREZH
& %5,380,000 T ( — T = —F : HE
5,487,000 7T ) J& 32 7% #5 1,135,000 7T
(Z=——4 : #11,328,0007T) °
SRABEREEEMEZBHAS K
A6 #157,667,0007C ( =& — —4F ¢
75 15143,926,00070 ) M EE K& E L B
B #541,817,000 (Z T =—F : B
35,136,0007T) °

1 B\
2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
48,774 48,595
87,914 13,675
35,112 17,423
(62) 2,355
171,738 82,048
(14,872) 23,858
156,866 105,906

EBFEBR IS AT ERBUEFIEH R
165%(—ZF = —% : 16.5%)5t& - &b
B P 3t 2 S8 S ek R iR A0 D3R 4E N 51 e
AR FR A EE L EEBAERER
WITHERAE -

EREFIRZ BN A M B A M 5E37
WIKEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

11 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per
the consolidated income statement as follows:

1" HE(E)
bR & Wz 3 PO B BT i ) B AN FE R 08
ZEBRINN ¢

2022 2021
—=E—_= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Profit before taxation MR F B A 849,540 790,810
Adjusted for: FHEE
Share of results of associates iR NI E (144,756) (240,064)
Share of results of joint ventures Frih & &b EEE (82,013) (99,464)
622,771 451,282
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% IRAMFT15FHFE16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) (ZZF=—% :16.5%)
HE A 102,757 74,461
Effect of different tax rates on subsidiaries EEMAEEERELE 2B
operating in other jurisdictions RNAEIAERATRE 2 58 5,085 (242)
Changes in applicable tax rates HAMEEE (131) 3
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AN 2 FTa s & 40,914 46,446
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERTBA 2 BIa s & (29,998) (47,647)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RAFHERABMIEEEBZRBYE 45,175 31,615
Tax effect of deductible temporary difference K FHERAIHERFMEEZRE 2
not recognised TR 2 12,274 14,773
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses and FABAR TR ZHIEER
deductible temporary difference not R AT A = B 2 FiIE
previously recognised & (48,960) (18,265)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEHREERE (370) (1,960)
Land appreciation tax deductible for calculation FtEtZE TS5 2 Al F05E
of income tax purpose T HIE(ERL (9,630) -
Mainland China land appreciation tax A B A D+ P (B R 37,794 -
Others EHib 1,956 6,722
Taxation for the year FEEFIB 156,866 105,906
12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 BIREF

The earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2022.

2022

—s=-=

HK$'000
BT T

R EF TR AN A B IR FEAG % A
WBE-Z-_—_F=A=+—HIFE
BEITITERZ NEFIEETE -

AR EBER AR

Profit attributable to shareholders of the

Company 644,523

640,552

BRI TR T

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue ('000 shares) (Fh) 301,928 301,928
Basic and diluted earnings per share (HK$) BRERREERF(EE) 2.13 212
There were no potential diluted ordinary shares in existence for the HE_T—_— —E—F=H

years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

13 DIVIDENDS 13 RE

2022 2021
—g== —z-—c

=

HK$°000 HK$000
BT BT

Interim dividend of HK$0.15 (2021: HK$0.16) =k HAf% 2 G E10.157T

per share paid —E-—F : B¥0.167T) 45,289 48,309
Final dividend of HK$0.35 (2021: HK$0.39) B R B B 8 0.357T
per share proposed —T -4 F¥0.397T) 105,675 117,752
150,964 166,061
Final dividend of HK$0.35 per share totalling HK$105,675,000 has EERRARPREEREK035TT - &
been proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the H B #105,675,0007C © HAFAEA
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting. The amount BZREREFAE FERFILER - 7
will be reflected as an appropriation of retained profits for the year AEE - @BENEBE_Z-_=F=H
ending 31 March 2023. =T—HIEFEINERBENZDIK ©
14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14 REYE
2022 2021
—E-= —E - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At beginning of the year F9) 3,661,401 3,431,894
Exchange realignment ME H % 31,988 130,954
Addition NE 761,419 19,157
Transfer from property, plant and equipment  BEEE Y% - MEMK 5,720 67,972
Increase in fair value (note 8) NREEIN(HIEES) 288,719 11,424
At end of the year FR 4,749,247 3,661,401
The Group's investment properties at their carrying values are analysed AREEBZREYEREREZ DTN
as follows: s
2022 2021
—E—_= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Hong Kong B
On long-term leases (over 50 years) RAEFAH(RE+FLAE) 7,950 8,320
On medium-term leases (10 to 50 years) FHBEAO(FER+F) 2,071,651 1,855,524
Mainland China and overseas P i o o
Freehold KA ZERE 564,822 549,359
On long-term leases (over 50 years) FEERG(E+FULE) 743,140 39,015
On medium-term leases (10 to 50 years) REIRAN(+ER ) 1,361,684 1,209,183

4,749,247 3,661,401

HIEBREEMAERALR
2022 %ﬁ 163



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B RS ER R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and overseas as at 31 March 2022 had been arrived at on the basis
of valuation carried out on that date mainly by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal
Limited and Carter Jonas LLP, which are independent firms of qualified
valuers having appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of
properties in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms to the
HKIS Valuation Standards on Properties published by the HKIS and/or the
International Valuation Standards published by the IVSC and/or the RICS
Valuation — Global Standards published by the RICS, was arrived at with
reference to market evidence of transaction prices of similar properties
or calculated on the net income allowing for reversionary potential. For all
investment properties, their current use equates to the highest and best use.

Investment properties in Hong Kong with a total carrying value of
HK$73,667,000 (2021: HK$74,333,000) represented the Group's share of
interest in a joint operation.

Charges were created on the investment properties with a total carrying
value of HK$1,011,150,000 (2021: HK$275,439,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

Valuation of investment properties

The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value hierarchy of
investment properties for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021:

Commercial properties

14 &3

Residential properties

i

(a)

(c)

m

ESC Y

AEBMRED - FRERM RGN E
EMEN_ZT-_—_FZA=+—RH2ZA
REDBRBEEHEHFATEERA
A K Carter Jonas LLP(Ilt &Y & B
FHEENTT C WA BB ERETYE
HEZEHERRER)RZRETZ
HEAELEMSE - ZHEETES
REMESHERIEENEMESY
¥HAEENR KERGHEEIESS
M B EEER & 2 R
EMEeRmhz ERXFTNESMB S
B IRIZEWE 2B L EUME
ZRPEBE - RIRBRAFESE - I
AREREMES AR EMEM
= HBAAREREESN&ERS -

NREBSZREYEZEBRES
73,667,000 C(—F = —F : B
74,333,00070) BAEE TG — & &K
MR o

BR T 42 (2 7% % 1,011,150,000 T ( — &
——4F : B0275,439,0007T) 2R EY
¥EEEE  FARTAEEETREER
ZHER o

WEMEZHE
TERHBINE=ZBRARBERENEEY
¥BE_ZE-_—_FR-_F-—F=A
=t+—HILFEZEEF:

Industrial properties

EEL/E e IE%
Hong  Mainland Hong  Mainland Hong
Kong China  Overseas Kong China Kong  Overseas
B FER 28 B FE R BA 48
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BEIT BT BT BETT BT BT
At 1 April 2021 N—E-—FNA—H 419,244 131,638 39,120 38,130 1,077,545 1,406,472 549,252 3,661,401
Exchange realignment i 5 % = 5,519 (21,443) - 46,927 - 985 31,988
Addition NE - - 743,679 - - 16,700 1,040 761,419
Transfer from property, ERENE BER
plant and equipment HfE(E15)
(note 15) - - - 5,720 - - - 5,720
Increase/(decrease) in DREEN/ (D)
fair value (note 8) (H3x8) 16,773 (659) (17,582) 40 100,713 176,525 12,909 288,719
At 31 March 2022 S —a
ZA=1-H 436,017 136,498 743,774 43890 1225185 1,599,697 564,186 4,749,247
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_ZT-_F=A=t+—HLFE

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 14 REYE(E)
Notes: (continued) BaE : ()
(d) Valuation of investment properties (continued) (d) HEMEZIHEE)

Commercial properties
Hong  Mainland

Kong China  Overseas
BE  HERM i)
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
gt BT BB

Residential properties Industrial properties
FEmE IxXM=

Hong  Mainland Hong

Kong China Kong  Overseas

BE  ERM BB k]
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT ARt BETT A%

At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZFWA-A 463,117 66,948 34,161 244,315 957,935 1,157,046 508,372 3,431,894
Reclassifications EEiby 8,200 - - (207,415) - 199,215 - -
Restated at 1 April 2020 —E-TF
E])E] BEEY 471,317 66,948 34,161 36,900 957,935 1,356,261 508,372 3,431,894
Exchange realignment B 5 AR - 6,230 4,252 - 88,951 - 31,621 130,954
Addition NE - - - - - 19,157 - 19,157
Transfer from property, EEANE BEX
plant and equipment FfE(FE5)
(note 15) - 55,930 - - - 12,042 - 67,972
(Decreaselfincrease in DRECRD), /8
fair value (note 8) (Fi8) (52,073) 2,530 707 1,230 30,659 19,012 9,359 11,424
At 31 March 2021 N-E-—F
=A=t—-H 419,244 131,638 39,120 38,130 1,077,545 1,406,472 549,252 3,661,401

The Group includes a team that reviews the valuations performed by the
independent valuer for financial reporting purposes and reports directly to
the senior management. Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the senior management and valuers at least once every six
months, in line with the Group's interim and annual reporting dates.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group:

e verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

AEE R = B i 8 7 AT B 5 B 15
SERMAEHREZEE - BZERER
AEREEAERE  SREEARR
DENEA (B E SR FERE R
Hi—B0) AP RETT — R EBR R4S
RETam °

REREHR - NEE
s REHWBEUMGERSHMEEANR

AEHE
e assesses property valuation movements when compared to the prior . ;,Hamﬁmﬁéﬁiii (HERSL
year valuation reports; and BNHYES

e holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Fair values of commercial, residential and industrial properties in Hong
Kong, Mainland China and overseas are generally derived using the direct
comparison method and wherever appropriate, by the income capitalisation
method. Direct comparison method is based on comparing the property to
be valued directly with other comparable properties, which have recently
transacted. However, given the heterogeneous nature of real estate
properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for any
qualitative differences that may affect the price likely to be achieved by the
property under consideration. Income capitalisation method is based on
the capitalisation of the net income and reversionary income potential by
adopting appropriate capitalisation rates, which are derived from analysis
of sale transactions and valuers' interpretation of prevailing investor
requirements or expectations. The prevailing market rents adopted in the
valuation have reference to recent lettings, within the subject properties and
other comparable properties.

o BBV ATAENETTA ©

HE @@Wﬁ’g&}@ﬂ\ﬁéﬁ}ﬂ CEERT
EMEZARE-REBERZLEE
&m;@ﬁﬂmﬁﬁuﬁlﬁn§$1tjﬁ£§+§%
H o BERLEEDENEEMEZME
BT B 5 B LR EREE
BILE - Rl - \REWEMEZ S
EE - BERREMNATREFEETE
FROMETEZ BENERERELE

ERE - W é$1b§ﬂ%ﬁ’\ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ%
iﬁ*“2§$ﬂ:$ U A F 7R L U A
LENFAERE ﬁ’ﬁ$fb$ﬁ%ﬁi@
HIHER D2 AN M EEE 2R E
EZERFYENEBRMGSE - £fE
mERAzBRITHSEE HREHZWE
REMTH LB E R HAEB R
BT -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 14 REYE(E)
Notes: (continued) 5T - (B

(d) BEWE 2 HEGE)

(d) Valuation of investment properties (continued)

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year, except
for income capitalisation method was used for valuation of residential
properties in Mainland China in prior years and direct comparison method
was used during the year given more market data were available.

Significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair values
Prevailing market rents are estimated based on recent lettings for

investment properties, within the subject properties and other comparable
properties. The lower the rents, the lower the fair values.

Prevailing market rents used in the income capitalisation method:

HEDENFALEES) - ERBESF
Es PR A EEME 2 EERB RS
BARNMEE - MERNEAEE Z 5 8E
A AR EOE -

EFRAEIHZEXT A BB A

#

BIOTMGHSDENLEYR - NMER
HENYEREMATHLBMENZ &
MERR B R G - HEeBE - Bk
EMIE -

W BAME T EMARITH S AR -

bl

Residential properties FEWE
- Mainland China (per square metre (“sq. m.”) —fRE AN (FAEFFH X
per month) (IFEHKD)
Commercial properties [EEXVES

— Mainland China (per sg. m. per month)

— Overseas (per square feet (“sq. ft.”)
per month)

Capitalisation rates are estimated by valuers based on the risk profile of the
investment properties being valued. The higher the rates, the lower the fair
values.

Capitalisation rates used in the income capitalisation method:

— RN (EAEFITK)

—BINEBATFAR(FITRI)

HK$180 to

- HK$995

B80T E

FEEE9957T

HK$17 to HK$16 to

HK$42 HK$40

BEI1ITE BEE16TLE

B¥427T BEE40TT
HK$43 to

HK$52 -
BHEAZTTE
BEEB27T

BTy EEERIEEZIRE
W2 BBARRIEE - LRS- BIA
REBIE -

WaREAMEITEMMERMEE

Residential properties FEMZE
— Mainland China — R E A
Commercial properties [EEX/ES
— Mainland China — R E A
- Overseas —gsh

Comparing price per sq. ft. or per sq. m. with other recently transacted
comparable properties formed the inputs under direct comparison method,
which is in average of approximately amounted to HK$7,500 per sq. ft.,
HK$27,400 per sg. m., HK$11,600 per sq. ft., HK$62,400 per sq. m. and
HK$5,400 per sq. ft. (2021: HK$7,200 per sqg. ft.,, HK$18,800 per sg. m.,
HK$11,800 per sq. ft.,, HK$Nil and HK$5,100 per sqg. ft.) for commercial
properties in Hong Kong and Mainland China, residential properties in
Hong Kong and Mainland China, and industrial properties in Hong Kong
respectively as at 31 March 2022.
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- 2% t0 6.5%
2%%6.5%
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7%%£13.25%
3.89% to 4.75%
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HEMA b RYENEGFHTRKEGF
FARAHR S EREREZLBEATH
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NHEEMER B L TEYMEZBRF
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% - MERRE

Furniture,

fixtures,

Plant, office

machinery  equipment

Cold storage Hotel Other and  andmotor Right-of-use

warehouse  properties  properties  equipment vehicles assets (¢l

B 28

BE #ER  BOERE
REEE il HfpE By khE  EREEE &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iEi ;[ ) 7__ ] %ﬁ%ﬁ % :[ %%‘T”TE iEt#_r%_“[

Cost or valuation AAGfE
At31 March 2020 WEZTEZA=1-H 62,149 1280 1524110 89,531 473364 1712148 3989354
Exchange realignment [ - 14488 41,648 18308 (958) 3,779 112,265
Acquisition of a senior housing property VE-Hreheng

fnote 3810l (zE38b)i) - - 126,47 - 2607 - 128,774
Additions AE - - 26897 17,19% 34,490 123,488 202,01
Disposals it - - - (16,107) (20,420 - 136,527)
Transfer from assets heloforsele (note 46) ~ ERAREHEEE (Hizk46) - - 3,234 120 11915 - 45,269
Transfer to investment properties note 14) ~ BEZRENZ(H14) - - (2,709) - - 68,270) (70,979)
Lease modfication REBIT - - - - - 250 250
Lease expiationftermination BEER/KL - - - - - (3.989) (3989)
Change in far value MEEY - - - - - 540 540
Transfer from other non-current assets ERpitEgAE - - - - - B4TTT BT
At 31 March 2021 RZE--F=F=1-H 62,149 142,540 1,749,321 109,048 501,018 1,857,123 4,421,805
Exchange realignment EXAE - 1516 16523 2,65 3,169 21,552 45,412
Acquisition of a subsidiary Inote 38(0)l) Y- RHEAR (s - - - - 3,968 2,369 6,337
Additions RE - - 32,876 24,896 75,549 222,400 355,721
Disposals it = - (24328) (12297) (15,439) - (52,064)
Transfer to assets heldorsale note 46) ~ ERZRHEHEEE (Hzk46) - - (11,275 - (2,082) - (13.357)
Transfer to investment properties note 14)  BEZRENEZ(H14) - - - - - (5,720) (5,720)
Lease modification ) - - - - - 128 128
Lease expiration/termination BEEN /1AL - - - - - 4,036) (4,036)
A3 March 2022 e S BM) A0 17BIZ 14289 SEGIE 2004416 4754206
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHEZ-F=-A=+—HILFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15 Y12 - BERRZE (&)

Furniture,
fixtures,
Plant, office
machinery  equipment
Cold storage Hotel Other and  andmotor Right-of-use
warehouse  properties  properties  equipment vehicles assets (¢l

G 28

BE HBE  BOERE
REER BENE ﬁf’fh’%% B ke [EREEE i
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
S T T EEIT BETT AT AT

Accumulated depreciation and impairment i*‘r#ﬁﬁ&ﬁ{ﬁ

At 31 March 2020 W_F-FF=A=1-H 30,576 56,674 210572 50,199 293597 313282 954,900
Exchange realignment A% - 5,934 30,05 14,683 2,567) 4566 52671
Charged for the year (note 10) EgREM0) 3238 218 53,464 899 13,007 86,779 178207
Disposals it - - - (6411) (19331) - (25,742)
Transfer from assefs heloforsele (note 46) ~ ERAREHEEE (Fizk46) - - 5,760 U 8445 - 14239
Transfer to investment properties (note 14~ EAZRENZ (H14) - - (605) - - 2400 (3007)
Impaiment loss (note 8} (note c) EEB(I3E) (Hzkc) - - m - - 121 1,650
Lease expiationftermination BEER/KL - - - - - 3.641) (3641)
Change in fair value MY - - - - - (1,656 (1,656
31 Merch 200 e Sl B BB MEE G BB W 16T
Exchange realignment 5% - 691 3,064 1332 1,650 314 9,878
Charged for the year (note 10) EgREM0) 3238 1,681 55,461 11530 52,069 14,696 198,675
Disposals HE - - (2374) (4,894) (8572) - (15,840)
Transfer to assets heldforsale note 46) ~ EERZR{EHEAE (Hi46) - - (8,362) - (2,082) = (10,444)
Impaiment loss note 8) (note AR S) (k) - - 16,757 2136 860 1925 21,678
Lease expiration/termination HERER/BL - - - - - (249) (249)
At 31 March 2022 AZE--E=f=1-H 37,052 67,703 364,071 77,605 367,076 463,712 1377219
Carrying value FEf
At 31 March 2022 R-E--E-f=+-H 25,097 76,353 1,399,052 46,694 199,107 1,630,704 3,377,007
At 31 March 2021 KB -F=f=1-H 28,335 71209 1449802 41547 177,867 1479524 3,254,284
Notes: PR -
(a) The carrying value of properties comprise: (a) MEZEMERE :
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT LR
Freehold land and buildings thereon AL RENE F2EF 1,242,045 1,296,876
Leasehold land and buildings thereon HETHRERE E2ETF 1,889,162 1,737,994
3,131,207 3,034,870

1 68 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Charges were created on the property, plant and equipment with a total
carrying value of HK$1,408,881,000 (2021: HK$1,344,472,000) for the
purpose of securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, impairment loss of approximately
HK$27.7 million (2021: HK$1.6 million) was recognised. For the year ended
31 March 2022, impairment provision was made on property, plant and
equipment during the year and to reflect management’s latest assessment
on the future business for the car dealership business. The estimated
recoverable amount of the two CGUs were HK$19.6 million. The impairment
loss recognised for the year represented the difference between the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment of the CGUs and their
estimated recoverable amount.

Revaluation of staff quarters included in right-of-use assets

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying value of the staff quarter included in
right-of-use assets was HK$5,720,000 and the change in fair value for the
year ended 31 March 2021 was HK$310,000. The carrying amount of staff
quarter of HK$5,720,000 has been transferred from right-of-use assets
to investment properties during the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
carrying value of the staff quarter was nil as at 31 March 2022.

If the staff quarters included in right-of-use assets were measured under the
cost model, the carrying value would be as follows:

Cost BRAR
Accumulated depreciation 2 E
Carrying value BREE

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

15 Y15 ~ BB R&E (&)
GERNC)

(o) BR M 42 {8 % % 1,408,881,000 7T ( = F

— — 4 B¥1,344,472,0007T ) 2
¥ BWEREEDERR  EAETA
EERITEEZER -

BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=+—HItEE "
REBEYEE27708 (T - —
FABI60BIL)ETHER -HE-T
T FE=ZA=1+—HILEE FREH
ME - BEREEHERERE AR
MEEEARAERIERRES 2 &
G o MERSEAEM 2 BT kE
SERBE1,9608 7T - FAERZME
ERERSELSEMNDE  BERK
ZHEEEREEGAIRESE B E
B o

ERIIAERREEZBTES

RZEBE-—F=A=Z+—8  JAfF
FAEEEZEIEEZRAEBEABE
5,720,0007T * MAEE_T=—F =
AR=+—BLEFEZARBEHAE
#310,0007T - BETHEE 2 REESE
5,720,000 tEREE—T-_—_F=A8
=+ —HIEFERFAREEESREER
EYWE MEIBEN-_T-__=A8
—t—RAZEAEAT -

i AR AE G EIIAEREEEZ
BTES  AEREENT

2021
—E-—F

HK$'000
BT

165
(165)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

16 GOODWILL 16 &
2022 2021
—E-= =B
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T ST I
At beginning of the year F14] 629,796 643,979
Exchange realignment PE H a2 4,768 1,644
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 38(b)(i)) U BE — R B A A
(F7E38(b)(i) 4,040 -
Impairment loss (note 8) BEEE (MIFE8) (4,040) (1,738)
Reallocation to assets held-for-sale (note 46) EM N ERHFIEHELE
(MiEE46) - (14,089)
At end of the year FR 634,564 629,796
Details of the impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in B8 R BT ERERGE V%R
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements. F=MKIFE39 ©
17 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 HbEBEEE

Cold storage
Roads,  and public
drainage and bonded Computer
waterworks ~ warehouse Lease-in- software and
licence licences place system Others

BRBER  AHANR
ABIE  ARRBA REHE
kB BE  BEER  REE it a8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BMTT METT BETR METR #ETR

Cost KA
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-ZE=-fA=1-H 26,534 3,000 84,736 2,132 13,494 129,896
Exchange realignment R - - 276 - 471 747
Additions RE - - - 5,334 58 5,392
Acquisition of a senior housing - ExEhenz
property (note 38(0)(ii) (U5E38(0)i) - - 22,351 - - 22,351

At 31 March 2021 WZE-—%#=A=+—-H 26,534 3,000 107,363 1,466 14,023 158,386
Exchange realignment EHAR - - 798 = (183) 615
Additions NE - - - 5,872 128 6,000
Disposals HE - - (6,029) - - (6,029)
At 31 March 2022 A\E-—EZA=+-H 26,534 3,000 102,132 13,338 13,968 158,972
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

17 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

17 b B EE (&)

Cold storage
Roads,  and public
drainage and bonded Computer
waterworks  warehouse Lease-in- software and
licence licences place system Others
EE RBR  RERER
KEIR DARRHE EREk
MR MR ARHE R%# Hfth 4%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETTT BETTT BETTT BETTT BETTT
Accumulated amortisationand ~ Z:HEHEREE
impairment
At 31 March 2020 WZE-FE=R=1+—H 26,534 3,000 58,071 2,006 3,999 93,610
Exchange realignment AR - - 216 - 454 670
Charged for the year (note 10) FEAE(E0) - - 25,647 488 52 26,187
At 31 March 2021 WZE-—F=f=1—H 26,534 3,000 83,934 2,494 4,505 120,467
Exchange realignment [E 5% - - 697 2 (179) 520
Charged for the year (note 10) FRIE(E0) - - 15,010 1,380 93 16,483
Disposals HE - - (5,453) - - (5,453)
At 31 March 2022 WZE-—F=f=1+-H 26,534 3,000 94,188 3,876 4419 132,017
Carrying value REE
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZ#=f=+-H - - 7,944 9,462 9,549 26,955
At 31 March 2021 WZZE-—F=f=1+-H - - 23,429 4,972 9,518 37,919

Other intangible assets (other than roads, drainage and waterworks
licence (“Licence”)) are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of following estimated useful lives or licence period:

HipEEE (RER  RHRKBET
TRRRIR([RRER 1) 5N Th A B A EIR T 51
EEr A A E SRR ES 288
EEITH

Cold storage and public bonded 10 years REEBN +&
warehouse licences NERRBEER
Lease-in-place 3 years P eich=1 =

Computer software and system Shorter of 5-10 years or B S E S ES HEE+Fetp T~
remaining subscription period SIEER (AR &
BLEE)

The Directors are of the opinion that the upkeep of the Licence is at
minimal cost and the Group would renew the Licence continuously.
The Licence is considered by the management of the Group as having
an indefinite useful life and will not be amortised until its useful life is
determined to be finite upon reassessment of its useful life annually by
the management of the Group. The amount was fully impaired in prior
year.

The lease-in-place of senior housing business was purchased as part
of business combination. The lease-in-place is considered by the
management of the Group as having finite lives of 3 years. The lease-in-
place will be tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that
is may be impaired.

EERn EEMRERARE  MA%
BN ESER T E R AEBEEIRE
REREAERAFERES - BUL
SWHE  EEEASEEEERER
ERFHRSFERNER  HEAARE
g%gﬁﬁﬁ'&%t c FHERBEFES

REREEBIRAFRENERERE
Pt MEA - AREERER SR
FHEZARAERFERR=F - Ry
HESRABRKRAREHRRERE
TTRERIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18 BEE AT 2R
2022 2021
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT
Non-current: FERED
Interests in associates, including goodwill Bt N 2R BIREE 655,346 643,475
Amount due from an associate (note b) JE UG — B & B BR SR
(KizEDb) 21,600 -
676,946 643,475
Current: mE
Amounts due from associates (note b) JE LBt 2 R B BR 3R (P RED) 25,242 29,219
The movements in the Group's interests in associates during the year AEFBREXNEEE AT 2 EREH)
are analysed as follows: 2T
2022
—E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
At beginning of the year F1] 643,475 495,671
Exchange realignment b H 7,847 19,664
Share of results Frib 4 144,756 240,064
Share of other comprehensive income Frib E b 2 E WS 2,031 -
Dividends &% 8 (142,763) (111,924)
At end of the year FR 655,346 643,475
Notes: BRRE -
(a) Particulars regarding the principal associates as at 31 March 2022 were set (@) RZE-_—_F=ZA=1+—HZEZEHL
out in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements. DRZERBERERA M HRERMIFER0 ©
(b) Amount due from an associate under non-current assets of HK$21,600,000 (b) FEREBEEE 2 EKR—FEBE QR
(2021: HK$Nil) is considered equity in nature and denominated in Hong Kong FBH21,600,0007C(ZF=—4F : B
dollar. TR R BRI E RABERHE -
Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on FEUEENRRRAEERM - 2B &
demand, except for the balance of HK$21,600,000 (2021: HK$3,128,000 and AR ESK(EE - 1B ¥ 21,600,000 7T
HK$2,000,000) which bear interest at 5.41% per annum (2021: 8% and 4% —Z T —4F ¢ #1#3,128,0007T M B
per annum respectively). 2,000,0007T ) Z & 8RB AN - FZE IR

FEEMN%(ZE-—F : DRREE
8% K 4%)FHE ©

The carrying amounts of amounts due from associates under current assets RENEEE NEWEE ARIBRRZER®
approximate their fair values and are denominated in Hong Kong dollar. BEHEERNAERE RAEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

18 Br& N Bz ()
P - (48)
0 EL(F8)BRATRENEAE(GIE

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c) Chevalier (HK) Limited and its subsidiaries (together, “CHK Group”), Toshiba

Elevator (China) Co., Ltd. (“TCE") and Toshiba Elevator (Shenyang) Co., Ltd.
("STE") which have a similar risk profile, are engaged in similar business
activities and related to each other which, in the opinion of the Directors, are
material to the Group. Set out below is the summarised financial information
for CHK Group, TCE and STE. CHK Group, TCE and STE are engaged in the
manufacturing, marketing, installation, repair and maintenance of the lift and
escalator business and are accounted for using equity method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

[ELEEEE]) FHZER(HEDER
RA([RZER(PED D R ZEECE
B AERAR(TRZEH(ER) AR
REBAR - e BRCEBRB R 2
FHERE  BERR  HAEEWME
BEK - ATHIELEFBER - RZ
BH (PR RRZEHROES) ZWBE
FHE - HERBEE RZEH(F
BORRZEROES)EEGELE
ERHRE - 2 K BERREX
% AR

FEMBERRRBE

Non-current assets FEREBEE 405,179 303,955
Current B
Assets BE 4,211,993 4,127,973
Liabilities aE (2,846,595) (2,791,068)
Net current assets REEEFE 1,365,398 1,336,905
Non-current liabilities EREBAE (61,515) (9,636)
Net assets EEFEE 1,709,062 1,631,224
Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income FREZERERPE

Revenue WA 6,540,634 6,135,741
Profit before taxation R 5 A4 ) 405,280 696,567
Taxation TRI18 (53,929) (35,062)
Profit for the year FERF 351,351 661,505
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHM2EE 8,622 23,858
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHEKGZHAE 359,973 685,363
The Group's share of total comprehensive AEFBMEFEEEA

income for the year ey th] 167,480 255,133
Dividends received from associates B A EIRRE 142,763 111,924

The information above reflects the aggregated amounts as presented
in the consolidated financial statements of the associates, adjusted for
differences in accounting policies between the Group and the associates.
The information above is the amount before inter-company eliminations.

B R R MR N R AR S ISR
25480 - I AR EEEBE N ®
ABREARMELRAE - L EHTIR
ARIEEHATZ S8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHEZ-F=-A=+—HILFE

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18 ¥ NEl 2w (48)
Notes: (continued) BaE : ()
(c) (continued) () (8&)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information MBEERME YR
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the 258 ER I EEBEANT 2R
carrying amount of the interests in associates is provided as follows: BRI B SEEENT -
2022
—E—=
HK$°000 HK$ (0]0]0]
BEET T BT IT
Net assets at beginning of the year FHOZEERE 1,631,224 1,134,406
Exchange realignment T 5 R 27,200 39,871
Profit attributable to shareholders IR B R 351,351 661,505
Other comprehensive income &R PG Eofh 2 U aR
attributable to shareholders 8,622 23,858
Dividends %8 (309,335) (228,416)
Net assets at end of the year ERCEEZRE 1,709,062 1,631,224
Interests in associates* i RN e 641,773 611,607
Goodwill, net of impairment loss EE - HRIEEESE 14,694 14,694
At end of the year F£R 656,467 626,301
# As at 31 March 2022, the interests held by the Group in CHK Group, # E" T —F=ZA=+—H X%
TCE and STE as associates were 49%, 20% and 20% respectively (2021: DAEBEELEEEE REZE
49%, 20% and 20% respectively). *% (PR RRZEHCER) (A

5&%/‘7)249% ©20% R 20% (=
T-—F HREFEF49% - 20% &
20% )HE o

(d) The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's associates that (d) ERTERZ ANEER S NG ETKEE
are not individually material is set out below: BHEZ T -
2022
—E_— =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
The Group's share of total comprehensive AEEMEEAE Y K458
expenses (18,499) (2,753)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEBEFELEHE R EER 2
interests in these associates BREBE 20,479 17,174
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19 G ER
2022
—E—=
HK$'000
BT T
Non-current: FERED
Interests in joint ventures, including goodwill A& X7 - BIEEE 929,235 867,301
Amount due from a joint venture (note b) W —REE B RN
(BizEDb) 264,109 264,100
1,193,344 1,131,401
Current; TR :
Amounts due from joint ventures (note b) R A LR (D) 102,263 118,867
Amounts due to joint ventures (note b) JE & AP ERR(MFD) 13,162 6,581
The movements in the Group's interests in joint ventures during the AEBRFARFGEEREZEREE
year are analysed as follows: 2T
2022
—s—-=
HK$'000
BT T
At beginning of the year F4] 867,301 769,707
Exchange realignment PE 3 EE 10,430 28,411
Addition NS - 1,040
Share of results BIK=E S 82,013 99,464
Dividends s (30,509) (31,321)
At end of the year FR 929,235 867,301
Notes: FisE
(a) Particulars regarding the principal joint ventures as at 31 March 2022 were (a) RZEZZF=A=+T—HAFTELE
set out in note 51 to the consolidated financial statements. 13 2 BRIE SRR E SRR MIFES -
(o) Amount due from a joint venture under non-current assets of b) IEMBEEE TN BN —HEELER
HK$264,109,000 (2021: HK$264,100,000) is considered equity in nature. HEB264,109,0000( Z T = —F : &
#264,100,0007C) R ABERIEE -
Amounts due from joint ventures under current assets are unsecured, MBEEBET 2 EKEECERRAE
repayable on demand or expected to be recovered within a year and bear B BREREELEREN—FA
interest rate at one-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") ImE - Wiz— @A BEBRITRAEFRE
plus 1.3% per annum (2021: HIBOR plus 1.3% per annum) except for the (TBBRITRAZEFRE ) MFEFE1.3%
balance of HK$717,000 (2021: HK$299,000) is interest-free. (ZZ2=—F : REBRITEERSMNF
ME1.3%)1 8 - HEAERBET717,0007T
—ZT 4 : BH299,0007T) AR A o
Amounts due to joint ventures under current liabilities are unsecured, MBABET ZENEERERIRE
interest-free and repayable on demand. B BB RBREKER -
The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures under current TBEE/(BE)EBETZEWR (FER)
assets/(liabilities) approximate their fair values. BEDEERRCREERAAERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19 & hEIERE)
Notes: (continued) s« (5%)
(b) (continued) (b) (%)
The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures are U (PR AEEBRERZREmETY
denominated in the following currencies: ARSI AL
2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEET T BT IT
Hong Kong dollar B 365,655 382,967
Renminbi AR (12,445) (6,581)
(c) Seavest Core Fund |, LLC and its subsidiaries (together, “Seavest Group”), (c) Seavest Core Fund I, LLCRXEKIEB AR
that invest in the three medical office buildings in the US which, in the (e[ SeavestS B NIREM N EREM =
opinion of the Directors, are material to the Group. Set out below is the REERAEAE  EERAHEAE
summarised financial information for Seavest Group and accounted for using BEmMsBEAK o LA NEHYSeavestEEH 2
equity method. HIISEREE - W AERENE -
Summarised consolidated statement of financial position SERBRIRUE
2022 2021
—s=-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,770,395 1,703,091
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents e MASEEY 31,607 27,292
Other current assets HEitRBhEE 6,048 6,681
37,655 33,973
Current liabilities REBEE
Other current liabilities HibmeaE (9,041) (10,763)
Net current assets REBEEFE 28,614 23,210
Non-current liabilities ERBARE
Financial liabilities (excluding creditors, M aE (T eEEMAER
accruals and provisions) TEIRE A R EHE) (860,599) (912,467)
Other non-current liabilities Hi3EmEh ek (123,690) (83,900)
(984,289) (996,367)
Net assets EEFRE 814,720 729,934
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19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

(continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Revenue
Interest expense

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

The Group's share of total comprehensive

income for the year

Dividends received from a joint venture

WA
A

B A5 A )
A

FREEN R
2E WA

AEEMEFE2ERRARE

Bl —HaErEZRE

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the consolidated
financial statements of a joint venture, adjusted for differences in accounting
policies between the Group and the joint venture. The information above is

the amount before inter-company eliminations.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the
carrying amount of the interest in a joint venture is provided as follows:

Net assets at beginning of the year

Exchange realignment
Profit attributable to shareholders
Dividends

Net assets at end of the year

Interest in a joint venture

At end of the year

FHNzEEFE
T 5 R

R SRR 45 )
5]
FRZEERE

—HaEhEzER

%

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

EELEER(E)
BEE : ()
(c) (&
FEZERBERBE
2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
BT IT
130,023 123,889
(39,555) (39,379)
146,378 146,592
(38,943) (39,050)
107,435 107,542
95,371 95,321
27,256 24,149

N EEMRR—REEEEERAMBR
RAZIINERE - D AEEES Ed
FEABETRMELRE - LA
TR AR HATH 5 -

MBERBE B

F2FIS AN RAS O E Y s
BE T HERRBIIT

2022
—E-— —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
AT AT
729,934 645,934
6,042 1,944
107,435 107,542
(28,691) (25,486)
814,720 729,934
755,506 681,776
755,506 681,776

HIEREEERA A
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19 ¥ ER(E)

178

Notes: (continued)

(d) The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's joint ventures
that are not individually material is set out below:

feE - ()

o BRFEAZAREARDEBAIE
HEET

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E_—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
The Group's share of total comprehensive AEEMEEE

(expenses)/income (ZH),Wamtase (13,358) 4,143

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AREBMELEEECEERZ
interests in these joint ventures BREEE 173,729 185,524

20 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Amounts due from non-controlling interests under current assets are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, except for the
balance of HK$979,000 (2021: HK$NIl) which bears floating interest rate
at one-month HIBOR plus 3.6% per annum.

Amounts due from non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2022 under
non-current assets are unsecured, interest-free and not repayable
within one year from the end of the reporting period, except for the
balance of HK$13,703,000 (2021: HK$Nil) which bears floating interest
rate at one-month HIBOR plus 3.6% per annum.

Amounts due to non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2022 under
current liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand,
except for the balance of HK$979,000 (2021: HK$Nil) which bears
floating interest rate at one-month HIBOR plus 2.1% per annum.

Amounts due to a non-controlling interest as at 31 March 2022 under
non-current liabilities are unsecured balances of HK$168,973,000 (2021:
HK$206,751,000) and HK$13,703,000 (2021: HK$Nil) which bear fixed
interest rate at 10% (2021: 10%) and floating interest rate at one-
month HIBOR plus 2.1% (2021: Nil) per annum respectively. They are
not repayable within one year from the end of the reporting period.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) non-controlling
interests approximate their fair values.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

20 FELL(FEAY) SRR RAE AR AR

RBEAEZRBSEERESRRAE
B RERBREREE  HBE
979,000L( =T =—%F : BEZL) 2
R —MARBRITRERENSF
3.6% Z)FEFIEETE ©

N-T-—F=A=+—B3AFnxK
)& B 7 FEUR SR AR 55 IR BRI
1 R EROARRSBHREBT—FR
BiE  HB%13,703,000c(— = —
F:BET L) ZEBRIE—@ATER
TREREINETFI6% 2 ZFEFIE:T
B o
N-B-—F=A=+—RBiARDE
B2 A IEERER RN AEERT - &
BRAREREE - HE%979,0007T
(Z2=—F BT ) Z2&E#IE—@
REBBITRERENETF21% 2%
EYFIEETE ©

R-E-—F=F=+—B3AFiLE
BEZEMN—FFEREZERAER
- 5%168,973,000T( ZE = —4F :
78 #206,751,0007T ) & 13,703,000
T(ZEZ—F : BT L) 2&8BD
AR EEEFEI0% (ZF = —F ¢
10%) k—E A HBRITEEFENE
F2I1% 2 FBFNE(ZE_—F + ])
FTE o RERIEBERRE BRET —
FNEE -

FEU () SFE R s AR BRI (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

21 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 21 BAREIAREMEEKSEEE

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ZRE
2022 2021
s —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEETIT
Listed investment: A
— equity security listed overseas (note) — BN LT 2 RS
(B%E) 90,311 44,727
Unlisted investments: JFEFHEE -
- equity securities —BAE 1427 1,370
91,738 46,097
The carrying values of investments at FVOCI are denominated in the BEARBEINAEMEERGRE ZIRE
following currencies: ZEREETIA T & BB
2022 2021
s —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T B IT
Vietnam Dong WA 90,311 44,727
Renminbi AR 1,427 1,370
91,738 46,097
Note: M3E -
The fair value of the listed investment of the Group is determined based on the AEEETREZ AR BENIEBEBR S
quoted market bid prices available on the relevant exchange. MZMIEEABET °

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

22 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 2 BARBEINERZEEZRE

Listed investments: EmigE
- debt securities — (BB 243,619 116,763
— equity securities listed in Hong Kong — BB LT ZRARES 172,807 63,136
— equity securities listed overseas — 8GN T2 IR FE S 36,013 31,962
452,439 211,861
Unlisted investments: FELTHIRE :
- debt securities — (BB 703,517 782,361
- equity securities —ARNE 79,416 -
Iy 5236
1,235,372 994,222
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MIREREIITA
Non-current assets FERSEE 750,707 607,122
Current assets MENEE 484,665 387,100
1,235,372 994,222
The fair values of the listed investments of the Group are determined REF 7 FHREZ ARETIREBER
based on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant SHFMTEBEAEBET  MAEEH
exchanges and the unlisted investments of the Group are determined ZIELTEREZ AR ETIRBSERES
based on financial models or with reference to quoted prices from T KB ERE BB S RE o
relevant financial institutions.
Charges were created on investments at fair value through profit or AR T 48 (B 75 584,441,000 (=T = —
loss with total carrying value of HK$84,441,000 (2021: HK$35,080,000) £« 35 080,0007T) 2 A L ES
for the purpose of securing banking facilities granted to the Group. MNERRIBE VIR EC/EER - EARET
REBRTEEZER -
The carrying amounts of investments at FVPL are denominated in the HAREYIABGRIE ZHE ZERE
following currencies: ThLA TR EHE BB -
2021
—E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
British Pound HeE 30,870 -
Euro Bl 7 8,254 31,056
Hong Kong dollar it 768,808 553,410
Japanese Yen H - 1,357
Renminbi AR 62,896 59,479
Swiss Franc WA RER 7,539 5,816
US dollar ETT 355,736 337,326
Vietnam Dong B 1,269 5,778
1,235,372 994,222
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

23 INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST 23 HEERAYRZRE
2022 2021
—E-= —ET—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Listed corporate bonds LEHRARIES 79,319 66,088
Unlisted corporate bonds I EMARIES 22,481 -
101,800 66,088
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MMmEREI TR -
Non-current assets JEMENEE 101,800 50,534
Current assets MENVEE = 15,664
101,800 66,088
The carrying values of investments at amortised cost are denominated WS AR 238 & 2 BREE AT
in the following currencies: BB RSB
2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
US dollar e 91,826 66,088
Hong Kong dollar B 9,974 -
101,800 66,088
Note: BT
The fair values below are determined by reference to the published price T RAREDZRBERMSARBREET -

quotations in an active market.

2022 2021

—E—— =
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Listed corporate bonds EHARIES 72,273 66,195
Unlisted corporate bonds LT ARES 21,234 -
93,507 66,195

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

24 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 20 BREPYE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
At beginning of the year F1] 2,642,255 2,324,139
Exchange realignment PE H a2 28,484 65,690
Additions NE 637,240 282,426
Provision recognised to net realisable value ERBEE A EIRFE
(note 8) (Mg5E8) = (30,000)
Transfer to properties for sale RS EYE (1,611,494) -
At end of the year FR 1,696,485 2,642,255
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MMmEREI TR -
Non-current assets JEMENEE 214,449 441,289
Current assets MENVEE 1,482,036 2,200,966
1,696,485 2,642,255
As at 31 March 2022, the balances are related to property development KRB _F=A=+—08 ' Z#tExpHE
projects in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong Kong. PERHRET KBS EERIEE
B -
The borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development is BRAPYEE R ZEREARERE B
disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. TR FEOMEER ©
Properties under development are classified as current assets unless BRPAMEADERTDEE - BRI
the construction period of the relevant project is expected to complete BREIER ¢ XN HEBBLHERL
beyond normal operating cycle. The amount of properties under EHETK  c D ERRBEECEE
development classified as current assets expected to be recovered PYEBERR —FREKRE 2B RB
after one year is HK$1,482,036,000 (2021: HK$1,726,140,000). The #1,482,036,0007L( ZF = —F : B
remaining balance is expected to be recovered within one year. 1,726,140,0007T) ° #RFBTE AR —F A
g -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

25 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 25 HiIERBEE
2022 2021
—s=-= =B
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T
Deposits paid for a property development BEN—EMEZRREEZ
project (note) Tk (M) 21,997 33,010
Non-current receivables (note 38(b)(iii)) FE7R B FE YA (B 538 (b) i) 21,008 -
Non-current deposits paid and prepayments FERBENEREZRER
TERTFIE 27,637 18,441
Others Hip 6,199 37,991
76,841 89,442
Charges were created on the other non-current assets with total AR AR(EE%12,715,000L( = F = —
carrying value of HK$12,715,000 (2021: HK$16,571,000) for the F 1 116,671,000 ) 2 E A SERED
purpose of securing banking facilities granted to the Group. BEDEER  EARTAEBERITE
B2ER-
Note: 5T -
The balance represents deposits paid for a property development project in ZESAPRAMEET —BYERRIEL
Changchun, Mainland China. ZERTFHES -
26 INVENTORIES 26 7§
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST
Raw materials M 20,227 11,558
Finished goods AT 281,808 292,256
Consumables FEA YR 2,103 2,510
304,138 306,324
The costs of inventories sold, used and written down recognised as EEZAETHITINABEEKRRNZE
expenses and included in cost of sales amounted to HK$1,783,000,000 € DR NEMBETFEKRKEBEIE
(2021: HK$2,165,000,000). 1,783,000,0007C (=& — —4F : B

2,165,000,0007T) ©

Charges were created on the inventories with total carrying value of BR 48B4 191,493,000 ( — & = —
HK$91,493,000 (2021: HK$145,280,000) for the purpose of securing F 1 B1145,280,0007T) 2 FE D EK
banking facilities granted to the Group. W EAR T AREBRIETEEZIER -

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

27 PROPERTIES FOR SALE 2] FEWE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Unamortised prepaid land leases R BN T HEE
- Hong Kong —&B 15,882 15,882
— Mainland China — R E A 126,849 40,992
Development costs RN 943,537 201,223
1,086,268 258,097
Properties for sale included the Group's share of a joint operation with HFEDEBERERAEARAE
an aggregate book value of HK$18,129,000 (2021: HK$18,129,000). 18,129,000 gt (Z E = — F : B
18,129,0007T) 2 NEEFIE—E& &
KB EE o
The cost of properties sold and included in cost of sales amounted to EEWIIAHEEKR 2 MEKKR RSB
HK$801,031,000 (2021: HK$28,617,000). ¥801,031,0007c (=T = —F : B¥

28,617,0007T) ©

28 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS PAID AND 28 EWERR - EHNEE  ENFH

PREPAYMENTS BERFEANFIE

2022 2021

—=E—_= T

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T ST

Trade debtors =GN 887,508 764,507
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (30,326) (35,421)
Trade debtors, net B o EKR - F5E 857182 729,086
Retention receivables FEU IR 5RIE 301,398 231,029
Less: Provision for impairment o RE R - (8,597)
Retention receivables, net FEWRBEZRIE - JF5E 801,398 222432
Contract assets awEE 179,035 166,047
Other debtors HAth FEUER SR 421,361 298,095
Less: Provision for impairment T RE R (33,145) (4,596)
Other debtors, net HibfeURBE 7k - (558 - 388216 293,499
Deposits paid and prepayments e FEHIES RENRE 269568 258949
1,995,399 1,660,013
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS PAID AND

PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group has established different credit policies for customers in
each of its core businesses. The average credit period granted to trade
debtors is 60 days, except for insurance business where credit period
granted to certain debtors is over 60 days.

The ageing analysis of trade debtors, net of impairment provision, is
presented based on the invoice date as follows:

0-60 days 0-60X
61-90 days 61-90K
Over 90 days #190K

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit loss
allowance for trade debtors. The movement in the provision for
impairment for trade debtors during the year is as follows:

At beginning of the year F1)

Exchange realignment M 5 38 B

Impairment loss recognised BHERRERSE

Provision written back B [o] 3 4

Uncollectable amounts written off MSE T AUk 2 58
Transfer (to)/from assets held-for-sale ®wE(R)/ BRIEHEEE
At end of the year FR

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade debtors are denominated in
the following currencies:

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

28 BWERN - EHNEE ENFH

BERANRR(E)
AEEDHEAROEE 2 EP L
RAZEEBR - BARTREEBZET
BEBANEEHBE60X L TEHE
BAZFEEEHRE0OXK -

B 5 1IR30 R A R E A B
252 BRI -

2021

—E-—F

HK$'000

BT IT

622,671 556,048
32,997 49,810
201,514 123,228
857,182 729,086

NSRBI SRR E B A 75 T S R Rl SR OSR  R
LA EFEMERER B HRK
ERERERBEREEERERE - RF
NE SRR AR B2 ZEnT -

2022 2021
—E—_= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T TSI
35,421 28,962
267 90
5,285 10,819
(559) (3,151)
(5,695) (6,979)
(4,393) 5,680

30,326 35,421

REBEE F YRR Z REETIA T
SRR

Australian dollar SBIT
Hong Kong dollar ot
Macau Pataca P
Renminbi AR
US dollar e
Others Hh

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
3,274 23,963
707,187 555,803
103 25,363
75,961 54,699
51,222 54,354
19,435 14,904
857,182 729,086
HIEREEERA A

2022 3R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERARM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

28 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS PAID AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of retention receivables and other debtors as at

31 March 2022 and 2021 were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar
and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of debtors and receivables as at 31 March 2022
and 2021 approximated their fair values.

Retention receivables amounted to HK$66,406,000 (2021:
HK$25,575,000) are expected to be settled within 12 months after the
end of the reporting year.

Included in debtors, contract assets, deposits paid and prepayments
was the Group's share of receivables of HK$71,857,000 (2021:
HK$23,495,000) in relation to joint operations.

Charges were created on the debtors, contract assets, deposits paid
and prepayments with total carrying value of HK$124,479,000 (2021:
HK$102,996,000) for the purpose of securing banking facilities granted
to the Group.

29 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(a) Right-of-use assets

28 BWERN - EHNEE ENFH

BERFBEANFRE(E)

R —FrR - —F=A=1+—
B EURREZRENMEMEWEERZ R
HETZUNEBERARKSERM -

R —FR - —F=A=1+—
B EBUERR R ERZIE REEREE
NAERSE -

JFE U 1R B 7 TE 7B 566,406,000 T (=&
——% : &¥25,575,0007T ) FEEIRN 2
WEEKREBI2AARNGEE -

JEWERER - BB E ENTFHEER
FENFEREAEEREEAE EEER
i 2 U FIE - &5 % 71,857,000 7T
—Z——4 : /5#23,495,0007T) °

BRE (B8 124,479,000L( — & ——
£ 7#1102,996,0007T ) 7 EUWBRRR -
AWEE ENTFHRZRe REMFRED
BRI - (EAR TALERITEEZE
R o

29 FREEEREERE

Leasehold land HELH
Buildings gF
Equipments B

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 March
2022 amounted to HK$222,400,000 (2021: HK$123,488,000), due
to acquisitions of new leasehold land and new leases of buildings
and equipments.
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(a) EREEE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT
1,534,652 1,403,891
94,970 73,882
1,082 1,751
1,630,704 1,479,524

ARWESFRET LR HEEE
FhEH BE_T-__-_F=A8
“+—HBULEFEZAEFEHREEE
B 78 #5222 400,000 L ( Z&F = —
9 7¥5123,488,0000T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

29 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

29 EREEERBEERE(E)

(b) Lease liabilities

(b) HEEE

2022 2021

—=E_= T

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T FEHET T

Non-current IERE 87,941 61,241
Current FEp 21,293 19,251
109,234 80,492

(c) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement

2022 2021

—=2—_ —ET—4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Depreciation expense on FREEEZINERS

right-of-use assets 74,696 66,779
Less: Amounts allocated to contract work 3§ : DEREAXN TRz &% (1,794) (1,412)

72,902 65,367

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEGBENF BT 4,218 2,717
Less: Amounts allocated to contract work 3§ : DEEEAXNTIRZ &% (133) (24)

4,085 2,693

Expense relating to short-term leases BRARBHEEN S 9,823 10,574
The total cash outflow for lease liabilities during the year ended 31 REBEE-_ZE-__F#=A=+—HI1t

(c) REREWBERERAZEH

March 2022 amounted to HK$31,198,000 (2021: HK$18,822,000).

(d) The Group's leasing activities

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, retail stores,
equipment and vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of 2 years to 10 years.

FE fHeEaGEzReRtEEE
75%£31,198,000C( T =—%F + &
#18,822,0007T) °

(d) ZX&EE 2 EEED
AEEEEZERAE BB F
EEW RERAE -HEAH—
IZMFE+F 2 BEMRIYL

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

30 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30 STHEMBIA
2022 2021
—s=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T
Financial (liabilities)/assets in respect of PTEFB I A%
derivative financial instruments (BE) EBE
— foreign currency forward contracts (note) — iR HBANE A 49 (MIFE) (47) (55)
— Cross currency swap — RN EIEH 65 (51)
18 (106)
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MMmEREI TR -
Current assets MENEE 65 -
Current liabilities mEaE (47) (106)
18 (106)
The derivatives are measured at fair value at the end of each PTTHETERERERAR I AREE ©
reporting period. Their fair values are determined with reference to TTHETEREZ ARBEREBERHILERTA
fair values of comparable instruments in the market or quoted prices B ALBESRETREMmMETE - 074
from counterparties. The net carrying amounts of derivatives are TEZEREFEIA TG AN

denominated in the following currencies:

2022 2021

s —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT IT

US dollar ETT 65 (51)
Others Hith (47) (55)
18 (106)

Note: HIsE

Foreign currency forward contracts of the Group with a total notional amount up AEBABTRMNSERAEMI N ERT
to HK$1,729,000 (2021: HK$2,620,000) were entered to swap various foreign RIERHNESH  HBERRSERSAD
currencies to other cross currencies. These contracts matured on 23 May 2022 #1,729,0007t( = F = —4F : %2, 620,000
(2021: within the period from 6 May 2021 to 20 May 2021). L) o WEENER TS _FRA=+=

B(ZZE-—F: RZZT-_—FHAXEAZE
—E-—FRA-THEEREA)RIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held, short-term bank deposits
with an original maturity period over three months, short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less and cash
placed with financial institutions. The carrying amounts of these assets
approximate their fair values.

Cash and unpledged bank deposits maturing ~ =1&H RZ|E 2
within three months
Unpledged bank deposits maturing after more

=EAREIEZ

than three months FEARIRIRITIF 3K
Pledged bank deposits BEIFRITIFR

The carrying amounts of bank balances and cash are denominated in
the following currencies:

Australian dollar SBIT
Canadian dollar Yy
Euro BL7E
Hong Kong dollar kit
Macau Pataca SEPYEE
Renminbi AR
Singapore dollar T
US dollar ETT
Others Hh

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's bank balances of HK$143,201,000
(2021: HK$227,603,000) were pledged to banks for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 March 2022, the effective interest rates on short-term bank
deposits of the Group were 0.5% (2021: 0.4%) per annum; and these
deposits had an average maturity of 67 days (2021: 42 days).

As at 31 March 2022, bank balances and cash of HK$477,269,000 (2021:
HK$487,235,000) were held in Mainland China and are subject to local
exchange control regulations, under which the balances could not be
exported freely out of Mainland China. The repatriation of funds out
of Mainland China is possibly conducted by way of dividends or other
means as complied to the regulations.

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_ZT-_F=A=t+—HLFE

N R/ITEERES

RITHEEMREBEMFRE  RHD
HIMR BB = A 2 B HRITER - R
B 2B HARR 23 = B A S A R 2 B B IR 1T
Tm&f)\ﬁﬂ%%ﬁzfﬁi HEEE

R e M EEIPRITER

ZEEERE AR BERS
2022 2021
B —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT TT
2,498,851 2,554,580
25,040 -
143,201 227,603
2,667,092 2,782,183

RITAEF MRS ZBREETIA TG

BEN
2022 2021
—E—_= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT
7,740 4817
104,411 59,270
1,755 5,642
1,579,477 1,705,576
20,017 27,660
492,001 499,331
2,272 5,987
382,689 420,554
76,730 53,346
2,667,092 2,782,183

R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H A&EBZ
RITAETEAE£143,201,000T( —F = —

& B #227,603,0007T) 2K TR
17 EBRTAEBRITEEZER -

RZE-_—F=ZA=+—H x£EZ
CHIRTT R 2 ERF A EA05% (=
T__E 04%) ' WEFERZFHF
HIRROTR(ZEZ—F 1 42K) °

RZBE-_—_F=ZA=+—H8 #5
REBRAMZRTETFRESBE
477,269,000 T( — T = —F : B
487,235,000 ) 7B 818 & Hb HMNEE Hll 48
E oL WEETF TS EhAELFER
it o B A BB E S EMEBETHETE
2 B B o

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHEZ-F=-A=+—HILFE

32 CREDITORS, BILLS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS RECEIVED, CONTRACT

LIABILITIES AND ACCRUALS

32 EIRRR

EBNRE - EREFEA

B aNABERERER

Trade creditors and bills payable
Retention payables

Deposits received

Contract liabilities

Accrued contract costs

Other creditors and accruals

5 M8 [ Bk MBS SRR

JEH R ,T:’KIE
BRFARS
m%’]ﬁ{ﬁ N
%E}E'A%WZ!K

Hib RS R TBRE R

The ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable is as follows:

340,400 287,718
234,873 191,464
79,319 49,839
274,028 465,530
1,110,794 1,245,984
750,397 612,284
2,789,811 2,852,819

%%%EEHEE%&&BEH%‘%T@ZEE&%%TMD

0-60 days
61-90 days
Over 90 days

0-60K
61-90%
H#WI0K

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade creditors and bills payable
are denominated in the following currencies:

TIATHE ?—“157%@14:

2022
—E-C
HK$'000
BT
268,598 221,551
29,263 2,488
42,539 63,679
340,400 287,718
AEEE S EMNER R EMN TR ZEEE

Hong Kong dollar
Macau Pataca
Renminbi

US dollar

Others

The carrying amounts of retention payables and other creditors as at
31 March 2022 and 2021 were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, US

dollar, Macau Pataca and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of creditors and payables as at 31 March 2022

and 2021 approximated their fair values.

Retention payables amounted to HK$58,676,000 (2021: HK$34,553,000)
are expected to be settled within twelve months after the end of the

reporting year.

Included in creditors, bills payable, deposits received, contract liabilities
and accruals are the Group's share of payables of HK$184,739,000
(2021: HK$43,438,000) in relation to joint operations.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

226,839 191,112
11,659 20,680
65,489 41,939
29,431 27,045

6,982 6,942

340,400 287,718

i — Y G e
B EAHRERIEREMENRR 2R
EEAEE - T BPIBRARKER

B

R=-Z __¢&_ = _—i_ =t-

B EERRRENE

NREHESE -

KR Z PR S A

J%W%%?klﬁﬁ,%?ﬁ%s 676,0007T (=
— % : ¥ #34,653,0007T ) T8 HAR
%i&irﬂ%ﬂzmﬂ A -

FENBRRR - ENRE - CBFALRS - &

MRERBIREMAD BREAKEA EE

A)ﬁfmﬁzrﬁ’h‘ RIEB 184,739, 00075(f
—% : ¥#43,438,0007T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 OUTSTANDING INSURANCE CLAIMS

Insurance claims of the following business classes are not usually
settled within one year:

— Employee compensation
— Motor third party liability

— Public liability

The claims development, net of reinsurance, are disclosed as follows:

Estimate of cumulative claims {43t Z:1E[E

At end of accident year
One year later
Two years later
Threg years later
Four years later
Five years later
Sik years later
Seven years later
Eight years later
Nine years later
Ten years later

Cumulative claims
Less: Cumulative payments

Claims outstanding at
31 March 2022

Claims outstanding at
31 March 2021

B)FRRLR
—Fl
AEk
SEf
mE
fik2
R
K
Nt
NEE
+EE

EE
B ZTHR

h=tm
K128

e —d
ZR=1-8¢
KRR

2012 and
hefore
ZE-C
RO
HK$'000
BT

2013

-g-=
HK$'000
BT

014

2015

2016

07

Z3-BE 3-3F S3RE R4
HK§ 000
#hF7

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

33 RRRBRE
THEBER 2 RREE—RTE—F
LS

2019 2020 202 2022 Total

Z8-)\%
HK§ 000
#hF7

=
HK$ 000
EETT

SRORF CEo-F 8- 28
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000
TRt BETn BETR

191560 1800 1570 6159 10112 12198 84T 9028 808 1721 278882

105091 120021 10004 109443 109851 84489 TR M8 65677 148906 -

N33 13053 1912 11453 114990 T9EE 6713 48l BTN - -

U5 10451 1227 %1% 8178 505 40 274 - - -

g0 T 1387 029 T 41918 4020 - - - -

8145 11208 11139 8539 54 37664 - - - - -

B2 10088 1195 800 T340 - - - - - -

§231 109060 111298 80879 - - - - - - -

B2 108870 108094 - - - - - - - -

B2 10884 - - - - - - - - -

821 - - - - - - - - - -

85231 108802 108994 80879 T30 3B 402 274 5182 1806 278852 1050616

8231 108816 108994 80818 7B AN 52 BB /W %12 9 613565
- 2% - 6 2102 18 3705 508 32600 12784 269569 437031
- TR AT 8§ 50 477 1B B40 452 165879 - 2709

The risk under an insurance contract is the risk that an insured event
will occur including the uncertainty of the amount and timing of any
resulting claim. The principal risk the Group faces under such contracts
is that the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying
amount of insurance liabilities. This is influenced by the frequency of
claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid which are greater than

originally estimated and subsequent development of long tail claims.

The Group manages its insurance risk through underwriting limits,
approval procedures for transactions that involve new products or
that exceed set limits, pricing guidelines, centralised management of
reinsurance and monitoring of emerging issues.

RBRELAT 2ARIIEECAREMF
ZE - BEERZ T HEERE R ER
MUEL 2 RERHE - AREREILE
BHHEZTERRASERREREN
SHRBRRREBEREE - LEDEIR
EEE - REBRERE  EEENBH
REM RERBLEREZERETE -

REBEFEBEGAREE - GIEESH
EmdBHRER S 2EBMERF - 7L
EEES - EPEIER BRI MR T
PR ERERBRER -

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERARM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

33 OUTSTANDING INSURANCE CLAIMS (CONTINUED) 33 RRREREE)

The Group manages the variability of risks by careful selection and
the implementation of underwriting strategies, arrangements of
reinsurance, strict claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing
claims as well as the investigation of possible fraudulent claims.
The Group also enforces a policy of actively managing and promptly
pursuing of claims, in order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable

REBFRUATHTAERRRZZHE
FARERERAREKR - ZHBR
%~ BRI REBORAH S E 25
NFFEEE 2 REE AN E B REFHREE
ZRE - AEENETEGE R LB
BRIBREE 2R - LAURAD AR AN B

future developments that can negatively impact the Group.

ERANMTEZ A EIARRERZR

% -

The Group's underwriting strategy seeks diversity to ensure a balanced
portfolio and is based on a large portfolio of similar risks over a number
of years and, as such, reduces the variability of the outcome.

AEE Y FRE ASR—ED KT E
WEE - WHEZSERMEREN—E
B B2 EUERER AL S LURIE
HIR BT

34 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 34 SRITREMER

2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Bank and other borrowings are repayable as  $R1T M EMEEBEMT ¢

follows:

Within one year or repayable on demand —FRNHBREREE 2,425,438 1,567,701
More than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years ~ —%F A B NBBRASE 683,306 1,421,314
More than 2 years but not exceeding 5 years R A FB BB R F 437,933 43,780
Exceeding 5 years BiBRE 473,223 466,029
4,019,900 3,498,824
Less: Amount due within one year B EREBEBEARELR
or repayable on demand —FRRHS AR EK
disclosed under current liabilities BEZ&E (2,425,438) (1,567,701)
1,594,462 1,931,123
Represented by: E5AE
Secured HEM 1,872,900 1,596,731
Unsecured E 2,147,000 1,902,093
4,019,900 3,498,824
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As at 31 March 2022, the Group had secured bank loans for certain US
senior housing businesses with a carrying amount of HK$1,145 million
(2021: HK$1,192 million), of which HK$1,080 million (2021: HK$1,114
million) was without recourse to the Group other than the borrowing
subsidiaries. These loans are subjected to covenant clauses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not fulfil certain required financial
ratios associated with these secured bank loans. The outstanding loan
balances with a carrying amount of HK$664 million, of which HK$349
million was reclassified from non-current liabilities to current liabilities
as at 31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2022, the Group did fulfil the
requirements associated with these secured bank loans.

The carrying value of the bank and other borrowings approximate their
fair values as majority of the borrowings carried interest at floating
rate. The bank and other borrowings are denominated in the following
currencies:

British Pound S
Canadian dollar hmeXxT
Hong Kong dollar ki
Renminbi AR
US dollar E

The effective interest rates per annum of the bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March were as follows:

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

34 BT RAMER(E)

RZZBE-Z—F=A=+—H XKEX
ERETHEZSARRRITEREH
WREMBLEE R_T-—F=H
=t+—R  KMEEEFEREREERBE
#oe.6487C - EPIBE349ETHIER
HRESHHIRERPEE R=-F
“HF=ZA=1—8 AEECDEKHE
ZEREMRITEFBEBIRE -

ER B ERIT R EAR BT LB
AR ERZEREEREERAEREE -
RITREAERTIA T B RER

2022 2021
—E_= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
407,987 -
1,325 12,337
2,241,950 2,102,013
223,805 185,422
1,144,833 1,199,052
4,019,900 3,498,824

British Pound g
Canadian dollar hEXT
Hong Kong dollar kit
Renminbi AR
US dollar E

Bank and other borrowings of HK$1,872,900,000 (2021:
HK$1,596,732,000) were secured by charges on the assets of
the Group as set out in notes 14, 15, 22, 25, 26, 28 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

2.3% -
1.7% 1.9%
1.4% 1.4%
4.1% 5.0%
3.3% 3.4%

SR 17T N B 18 5108 % 1,872,900,000 7T

—Z=——4% : #¥1,596,732,0007T)
TIAAREBEEERIR - RRETHR
RMEE14 - 15222~ 25~ 26 ~ 28 %31
REF

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHEZ-F=-A=+—HILFE

35 SHARE CAPITAL 35 R
Number of
shares Share capital
RAEE S
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$1.25 each ERREEAE 2602 BB
Authorised: EERA
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and RZZEZZTFWA—H -
31 March 2022 —E-—F=-A=+—HK
—E-_#=A=+—H1 540,000,000 675,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRBERE :
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and RZZEZTFMF—
31 March 2022 :;:—EfﬂerfEl&
—E-—#=A=+—H 301,928,440 377,411
36 RESERVES 36 f#fE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
KAARRES
Other
Capital  Investment assets  Hedging  Exchange
Share Capital redemption revaluation revaluation revaluation fluctuation  Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits el

E4BD  RABf HAMEE  HREf  NERR
BikR  &4RE 8 e EfERS B YEEE  RERA u%
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
AT BRTr  BW¥Tn BRTn A¥Th ABfn  ERTn RRTR RMTR

(note)

(M)
At 1 April 2021 W-Z--£RA-R 704087 377,863 8785 19092 24948 (51 284616 7932769 9,552,109
Profit for the year L3yl - - - - - - - GME3 64452

Change in fair value of ivestments at -~ FAREFIAEM2ENE
fair value through other comprehensive B2 REHALERS

income - - - 45,594 - - - - 45,594
Exchange difference on translation of ~ AZEHNELE - BELAR

operations of overseas subsidiaries,  AEAE7EREHELY

associates and joint ventures SNERAEE - - - - - - 130630 - 130630
Share of other comprehensive income of  FTE—EIEE LA E2E

an associate e - - - - 2,031 - - - 2031
Fair value adjustments on the dervative £ B2 R B4 814

financial instruments designated as SEIENDL AR

cash flow hedge - - - - - 116 - - 116
Total comprehensive income for the year 2 EELE = - - 45,594 2031 116 130630 644523 82289
Dividends paid BfkE - - - - - - - (183041 (163,041)
Acquisition of additional nterest in FERE I

subsidiaries from non-controling BiEn

interests - (12) - - - - - - (12)
Disposals of subsiciaries HEMBAT - 8 - - - - (75) - 14
At 31 March 2022 R-E--E=B=1-A 704,087 377,940 8,785 64,686 226,979 65 415171 8414251 10,211,964
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

At 1 April 2020 W-E-R%MA-A

Profit for the year EFET

Change infair value of investmentsat -~ RAZEFINEM2ENE
fair value through other comprehensive B2 RARIA L R
income

Change in fair value of properties for ~~ BRMENALES
oWn Use

Fair value surplus of rightofuse assets ~ (FREEEERZRENEE
upon transfer to investment properties A% ER&

Exchange difference on translation of ~ AEENHBAT - BERAR
operations of overseas subsidiaries,  AREVEHHELY
associates and joint ventures SNEREEE

Fair value adjustments on the derivative T B4R EHRAVTH
financial instruments designated as BRI AMALEER
cash flow hedge

Total comprehensive income for the year  EE2EUNREE
Dividends peid BfRE

At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-£ZB=1-H

Share
premium

Capital
resenve

AREh
HK$'000
ERTT

Capital
redemption
feserve

x

HK$'000
T

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

36 {7 fE ()

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Investment
revaluation
eserve

REEf

i)
HK$000
AT

Other
assets
revaluation
resenve

Exchange
fluctuation
reserve

Hedging
revaluation
16S6IVe

Retained
profits

- BB

04087 SR 8T 3% 2068 0% B4 74714 8634608
- - - - - - - B0 6H05R2

- - S AT - - - - 150

- - - - 509 - - - 509

- - - - - - -1

- - - - - - -

- - - - - (l - - (I

- - - B 20 Y6 MR  BO5 100037

- - - - - - - M%E (149
04087 G 87B 190 2438 Bl 616 79769 95109
Wi AR EIEREBESELEEMAE

Note: The balance arose mainly from various Group reorganisations in the past
including redomicile of the Company, spin-offs and privatisation of group

entities.

B BREARFEM  FEEEZS
HRILAAE

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHEZ-F=-A=+—HILFE

37 DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting years:

37 EEBIIE

IXHAESIAZRFEIBEZRFE

TJEMZ?EE EiEBAAE(BE) R E

,,,,,

Amortisation
Accelerated  of goodwill
tax and Revaluation
depreciation  trademarks of properties  Tax losses Others Total
MEHE Hans
ik 3 kg BiN% HEESE Htt fag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2021 AE-—-FNA—H 38,809 76,596 295,241 (65,854) (7,719) 337,073
Exchange realignment ERN’z (1,893) 629 16,598 (2,417) (230) 12,687
Charged/(credited) to consolidated ~ REFAYERANE /(GEA)
income statement (note 11) (BsE11) 2,915 7173 25,245 (34,342) (15,863) (14,872)
At 31 March 2022 \E-F=F=1—H 39,831 84,398 337,084 (102,613) (23,812) 334,888
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-ZENA—H 34173 67,99 266,649 (63,488) (9,547) 295,783
Exchange realignment ERA% 748 (689) 21,928 (73) 121 22,035
Charged/(credited) to consolidated R AYEsRAME /(BT A)
income statement (note 11) (BzE11) 3,752 9,289 6,664 1,220) 5373 23,858
Transfer from assets held-forsale  EEHFELELE
(note 46) (izt46) 136 - - (1,073) (3,666) (4,603)
At 31 March 2021 RZE_—F=A=+-H 38,809 76,596 295,241 (65,854) (7.719) 337,073
For the purposes of consolidated statement of financial position BRAEAMBHRREZEI AR &

presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset.

TEEHRAEEMBEEDERE -
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The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

Mg mERR RTEH BRI
T

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Deferred tax assets BIEHIEEE (69,055) (49,184)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIEAE 403,943 386,257
334,888 337,073
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of RZZB-_—_F=A=+—H8 ' ~EEX
HK$3,102,887,000 (2021: HK$2,942,674,000) available for offset E Z%RIE}%%E?%?MMJ02,887,000
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets had been recognised TT(ZF = —F : B ¥20942674,000
in respect of HK$272,978,000 (2021: HK$243,683,000) of such losses. T0) AP 4 TR A SRR T -
No deferred tax assets had been recognised in respect of the remaining H & #272978000 L ( =T = —
HK$2,829,909,000 (2021: HK$2,698,991,000) due to the unpredictability & 1 B %243,683,0007T ) 2 B IEE 1B
of future profit streams. Included in tax losses were losses of EHRAELHIEEE o &I EF

HK$107,427,000 and HK$123,177,000 (2021: HK$108,909,000 and 2 LATE R

HK$137,863,000) of subsidiaries in Mainland China and the US that will
gradually expire until December 2025 and March 2038 respectively; the
remaining tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_ZT-_F=A=t+—HLFE

37 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED) 37 IEELEBE (&)

As at 31 March 2022, deferred tax liabilities of HK$170,519,000 ﬁ_z::iz A=4+—H "X

(2021: HK$117,643,000) had not been recognised for the withholding BETHB AR ADIKRERNMA

tax that would be payable on the unappropriated earnings of certain YN BB EREERIBEREEE

subsidiaries. Such amounts were expected to be reinvested. 170,619,000 C ( =& = — & : &K
117,643,0007T) ° TEEALERIEE A
BigE o

N-ZEBE-_—_E=A=+—0 Xx&EH
Zﬂiﬁﬁ AR EREEREABE
26582500075(_ S —F B
285,187,0007T) ° %EJE?KXI@%E%J
ZIERT R A AR ER A 2 Al 08
ERFEER - MR ERIARE 2 AT HR

o F X’ @

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had unrecognised deductible
temporary differences of HK$265,825,000 (2021: HK$285,187,000). No
deferred tax asset had been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary differences as it is not probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

ERMEEERELEHAEE -

38 iR EREBRMEE
(a) REEEZES

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Cash generated from operations

2022
—s—=
HK$’000
BT T
Profit before taxation BREL AT 849,540 790,810
Adjustments for: AR
Share of results of associates FribEs & N B 3E4E (144,756) (240,064)
Share of results of joint ventures TG & e EEE (82,013) (99,464)
Interest income from bank deposits and a  $R1TER R —E4 4%
joint venture ISR ON (27,073) (34,422)
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts and  $R1Ti% X A R ER1T R A E R
bank and other borrowings B H 84,507 84,342
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAGNFELZH 4,085 2,693
Depreciation e 195,340 175,642
Amortisation of other intangible assets EtmpEEEH 16,477 26,187
Increase in fair value of investment WEMEZ AR EEN
properties (288,719) (11,424)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEME MENMREZ
plant and equipment B8, (W) 5,878 (3,204)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEMRBAR 2 W
(note 38(b)(iii) (P 5E38(0) i) (8,471) -
Loss/(gain) on investments at fair value BAREIABEEREZIEE
through profit or loss HEE, (Ws) 79,974 (16,490)
(Gain)/loss on derivative financial PTHEBBEIT A
instruments (Wzs),/ 518 (8) 242
Provision recognised for inventories to EHRRIFEREZEIR
net realisable value, net 5‘%’*@ R 5,173 366
Provision recognised for trade and other ERRE S NEMEWERERZ
debtors, net ﬁé‘ﬁ F R 32,643 7,840
Impairment loss on goodwill 2 2 RIEEE 4,040 1,738
Impairment loss on properties for sale HEMEZRERE 732 2,185
Provision recognised for properties under EEEu ERPMERESR
development to net realisable value HIRFE - 30,000
Impairment loss on property, %% BB N REBE
plant and equipment 27,678 1,650
Operating cash flows before movements ZEESEFHH 7 LLHRE
in working capital mE 755,027 718,627
HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 3B FERSRERME(E)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Cash generated from operations (continued) (a) REEEZHE ()
2022 2021
—=—_ T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Changes in working capital ZIEESEE
Increase in amounts due from FEU S E T2 % e 25 BR 3G 00
non-controlling interests (31,446) (1,919)
Increase in investments at amortised cost 3% $5 A AT BR 7 &L AN (32,288) (34,644)
Increase in investments at fair value BAREIABEEREZIEE
through profit or loss, net =0 - JFEE (315,479) (218,513)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERL,/(380) 4,868 (18,506)
Decrease in properties for sale FEWMER D 797,825 28,241
Increase in properties under development 3% F #2240 (637,240) (282,426)
Increase in debtors, contract assets, FEWERSR - AHEE - BfY
deposits paid and prepayments FHEe MIER FEEE N (334,070) (289,610)
Cash received upon maturity of derivative  $T4MBE T A B HFHE
financial instruments = 55
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling  FEA FEI%5 A% A 25 BR A8 hn
interests 22,829 13,895
(Decrease)/increase in creditors, JEBRR - ENER - B
bills payable, deposits received, GEAE:  &HEER
contract liabilities and accruals TERRERCRL) (78,669) 279,812
Increase in unearned insurance premiums  FEIEARFR B & ok i@ HA A bR
and unexpired risk reserves (Bl 227,638 172,711
Increase in outstanding insurance claims A R{RE = EIE N 169,932 57,655
(Increase)/decrease in assets held-for-sale  #H{EHEEE(EM),H (2,464) 16,224
Other non-cash items HEmIEReIER (1,753) 52,703
Cash generated from operations KREEEZHE 544,710 494,205

198 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals
(i) Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 28 May 2021, the Group entered into an agreement to
acquire 100% of a company, which operates a rehabilitation
centre in Hong Kong at the consideration of HK$8,900,000. The
transaction was completed on 31 May 2021.

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

38 FERTRERME(E)

(b) WEER HE
(i) WE—BEHBEAR
RZE-_—FHRA-+N\H &
& B 5T 37 17 5% LA B #8,900,000
TTHREWE —HEREEEE
EFRLEAEIR100% A% HE © 3%
REER B —FERA=+—

HZEM o
2022
—===
HK$°000
BT T
Purchase consideration satisfied by: BEREZIHAA :
Cash paid Re T 8,900
Fair value of net assets acquired: Frl B EEFE 2 ARE
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y% - s R (MEE15) 6,337
Debtors, deposits paid and prepayments IR - ENEFLREZE R
TRt RIE 798
Bank balances and cash WITEERRE 931
Creditors, deposits received, accruals and FERERFN - BEWTFEARES -
lease liabilities FEREAKEEARE (3.,206)
Net assets acquired P& =% E 4,860
Goodwill (note 16) EESEA) 4,040
8,900
Acquisition related expenses (included in W EERERE S (G AT G )
administrative expenses) 319
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: Ug B8 2 IR & 7 EE -
Cash consideration paid BENEeRE (8,900)
Bank balances and cash RITET LIRS 931
(7,969)
HIEBREEMAERALR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 3B FERSRERME(E)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) WEER HE(E)
(ii) Acquisition of a senior housing property (i) BA—BEZERETYWE

On 1 May 2020, the Group acquired a senior housing property
in the US at the consideration of US$19,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$151,125,000). The transaction was completed
on 1 May 2020.

RZE-ZEFRA—AH  KXEE
BAREZEN—BHLERSY
¥ - R{87519,500,000% 7T (48
ERAB151,125,0007T) ° Ui
RHEER-_E-_EFRA—HRE
ﬁjz o

AOVA
—E - —F
HK$'000
BT T
Purchase consideration satisfied by: BEREZIHAA :
Cash paid Re T 151,125
Fair value of net assets acquired: Frl B EEFE 2 ARE
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y% - s R (MEE15) 128,774
Intangible assets (note 17) mraEME17) 22,351
151,125
Acquisition related expenses (included in WEEMRR S (R ATEZ )
administrative expenses) 863
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: UWEE 2 IR & FEE -
Cash consideration paid ENESRE (1561,125)
(iii) Disposals of subsidiaries (iii) HEM BT

In January 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent third party
to dispose of the Group's entire interest in eight companies
(the “Disposal Group”, which owned seven senior housing
properties and related assets and liabilities located in North
Carolina, the US). Subsequent to the Agreement, there were
further negotiations between the Group and the purchaser to
extend the completion of the disposal due to changes in the
market environment caused by the enduring impact of COVID-19
pandemic.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE
38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38 REHEERERMT(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) WEERHE(H)
(i) H E B 2 =) ()

(iii) Disposals of subsidiaries (continued)

On 31 May 2021 and 29 June 2021, the Group and the
purchaser, after further consideration of the adverse impacts
of COVID-19 pandemic on the US economy, entered into the
amendment agreements to further amend the terms of the
agreements. The major amendments include (i) the number
of target companies subject to disposal reduced from eight to
six (the "Revised Disposal Group”), with the corresponding
reduction in number of senior housing properties from seven to
five; (i) the consideration for the disposal being US$22.5 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$175.5 million), subject to (a)
downward adjustment for an amount equal to outstanding loan
balance and accrued interest which shall remain with a target
company (which was US$5.1 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$39.8 million)) as at 31 March 2022, (b) upward adjustment
reflecting the capital expenditure which may be incurred on
the five properties between the date of the agreement and the
revised completion date; and (c) completion would take place
in two separate closing. The first closing was completed on 30
June 2021 and the second closing was completed on 31 March
2022.

Consideration received and receivables B EWRRE

Less: discount impact on consideration receivable B EUIRERERIR
(note)

Less: professional fees and other expenses

R-EBE-_—FRHA=1+—HE=
E-—EXA-+AA8 - K&
B HE 5 R E— P EE201970
IR BRI 2 B A B9 T A
TR PSR HmAE—F
BT HEAIETR - EBEFTBE
(I FTUALEHMEZRAREEB BN
FIFRESE (T EETHER
A1) MZEREYEHE RIS
+HEEEARELR  ((HEE
THRRIE E2,2508 =T (FHER
#B¥1.755187L) © ()Rl TS
HEMHER—HEZRAFR_E
——HF=A=+t—HZXEEE
EEH R BRI B (A51083ET
(FEERHEH3,98087T))  (b)
A FHSRE AR R R ER
AR &ERT R B B ERRE AT
BEEAEMEATH + Re)X5H
DWRBINER - BE—REED
KRB —FXA=+HZK -
ME_ARFEEER_TE_—_F=

Net assets disposed

Exchange fluctuation reserve released upon disposal

Gain on disposal, net (note 8)

Taxation

Loss on disposal, net of taxation

Net cash inflow arising from the disposal:

Cash consideration received

Professional fees and other expenses

A=+—B%m -
2022
—E__

HK$'000
BT T
143,132

(FfE)
(20,283)
B BEERAREMTH (2,723)
120,126
BHEZEEFE (111,730)
HER IR 2 INE K I Z B RE S 75
HEEE R FE(HES) 8,471
e (16,087)
HESRE Y EIE - MBRTIE (7,616)

HESHEANRSRAFRE :
BURER(E 97,630
HEBRMEMSE (2,723)
94,907
H+EREEERAS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 3B FERSRERME(E)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) WEE R HE (&)
(iii) Disposals of subsidiaries (continued) (iiii) H S KB LD 7 ()
The professional fees, other expenses and taxation are subject EEXBH BEMYHEBRESSF
to finalisation. BH o
Note: BT
The Group agrees to provide seller financing for a portion of the selling AEBRERBHEEIRES Rt
price in an amount equal to US$4,970,000 (equivalent to approximately & £EEER4,970,000E T (HE
HK$38,617,000). The maturity date of the seller financing shall be the R H38,617,0007T) ° EHELE
date that is three years after the closing date, with a balloon payment MEHBSAZEERBREBE=F 7
of all principal and accrued and unpaid interest due at maturity, subject EHMR - X —F - BEEARE
to two one-year extensions, which is stated at amortised cost and EBAE REBARMT 2 EFE
included in other non-current assets (note 25). The carrying amount of IRE AR R B BFEEEMIE
the receivable was HK$21,008,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HKS$Nil). MEBEES (M25) - RZT==
F=A=+—8 ERREZER
18 A 7% 121,008,000 ( =T = —
FBBTIT) -
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities/(assets) arising from financing (c) Eﬂﬁ%iﬂﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁ/(ﬁ%) Z
activities iRk
Bank and Pledged
other bank Lease
borrowings deposits liabilities
RITREMMER DEMEITER HEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BET T BETT BT T
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FME—H 3,498,824 (227,603) 80,492
Cash flows REmnE 519,734 84,402 (26,980)
Exchange realignment ME 4,567 - 2,062
New lease arrangements FHRELH - - 53,531
Others Hi (3,225) - 129
At 31 March 2022 MR-ZE-_—_F=A=+—H 4,019,900 (143,201) 109,234
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-_ZTFNA—H 3,368,067 (49,748) 62,823
Cash flows RensE 73,275 (177,855) (18,822)
Transfer from liabilities directly & HESEHEEE
associated with assets ERAEzAE
held-for-sale 39,106 - -
Exchange realignment PE H FEEE 16,839 - 4,689
New lease arrangements e - - 29,437
Others Hifb 1,637 - 2,365
At 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F=A=+—H 3,498,824 (227,603) 80,492
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

39 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business
combinations are allocated at acquisition to the CGUs that are expected
to benefit. The respective carrying amounts as at 31 March 2022 and HBEf - RNZE

2021 had been allocated as follows:

Cost
Property development and operations
- cold storage and public bonded warehouse (note a)
Senior housing (note b)
Others

Accumulated impairment loss
Property development and operations

- cold storage and public bonded warehouse (note a)
Senior housing (note b)

Net book value at 31 March 2022

39 BEZRER
BETRENR  REBEHEAZY
ENRNENOREERSECREE
TERZE-—F=

A=t—B &BazEHECES KM

T~

B

MEERRZE
—RBRERARGRHE (HiEa)

w2z (M)

Hi

RETREBR

MERRREE
—RBRERRARGRHE (HiEa)

wEfE (M5Eb)

R-B--HE=ZA=1+—-HZEEEE

Goodwill
5k

HK$'000
BET T

66,027
571,323
8,863

646,213

1,461
10,188

634,564

HIEBREEMAERALR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

39 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 39 BEZBERR(E)
Goodwill
EES
HK$'000
BETIT
Cost 2%
Property development and operations MEERREE
— cold storage and public bonded warehouse (note a) - REEERARREE (ita) 66,027
Senior housing (note b) ZERE (HDb) 562,486
Others HAth . 884
637,358
Accumulated impairment loss ZERERE
Property development and operations MERREREE
— cold storage and public bonded warehouse (note a) —REEERARRE A (ita) 1,461
Senior housing (note b) ZERE (Hib) 6,101
,,,,,,,,,,,,, 7,562
Net book value at 31 March 2021 R-B-—S=A=+-HzEEFHE 629,796
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if AEEFFHGIHABERETHIRR
there are indications that they might be impaired. B HEERETRE - SEBTET
AIES o
Determining whether goodwill is impaired require estimations of ErHEERRERMETEAPERBD
the higher of the value-in-use or fair value less cost to sell. Where DABEHREERE RS E © HEA
discounted cash flow forecast is used to estimate recoverable amount, BHIRB S RETE G TWRE S5 - Al
it requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise ZEERHIReELESBUERESE Y
from CGUs and suitable discount rates in order to calculate present REBERERBESIAE - DETEH
value. RE -
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39 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) Cold storage and public bonded warehouse business

(b

Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market. Management determined
budgeted growth rates and gross margins based on past performance and
market expectation. The discount rates reflect specific risks relating to the
relevant CGUs.

Goodwill, after impairment, of HK$64,566,000 (2021: HK$64,566,000)
is allocated to the Group's cold storage and public bonded warehouse
business. The estimated recoverable amount is determined based on value-
in-use approach. The calculation uses post-tax cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a one-year period.
Cash flows beyond the period are extrapolated using a 2% (2021: 2%)
terminal growth rate per annum and a 9% (2021: 9%) discount rate per
annum.

Senior housing business

The key assumptions require the entity to estimate the discount rates and
net operating income. Management estimates appropriate discount rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGUs.

Goodwill, after impairment, of HK$561,135,000 (2021: HK$556,385,000) is
allocated to the Group’s senior housing business. The estimated recoverable
amounts are determined based on value-in-use approach. The calculation
uses pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering three to five-year period. Cash flows beyond the
period are extrapolated using a 2.75%-4.0% (2021: 2.75%-4.0%) terminal
growth rate per annum, annual average revenue growth rate of 6.5% (2021:
5%) and an 8.1%-12% (2021: 7.9%-12.4%) discount rate per annum.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, an impairment loss of HK$1,738,000
arose in relation to a senior housing property located at Michigan, the US in
view of lower-than-expected occupancy.

The senior housing business operate in a heavily regulated environment
which are subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state, and
local government. These laws and regulations relate to, among other things,
such as government healthcare programme participation requirements,
regulations regarding reimbursement for patient services and related billing,
fraud and abuse. Violation of certain laws and regulations could result in the
expulsion from government healthcare programme. Management was not
aware of any actions or potential actions against the Group as at 31 March
2022.

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

39 BB ZRERE (&)
BT -

(a) RERERABRRAES

(b

EEMEBRRAZZCRIEBEEL L
HISARKREEAPME - ERER
BRAXRBRTISRHEERFEEEX
REMRK - PRXRMEAFRSESE
BAS R 2 FERR

JRE 14 BB 64,566,000 ( —F ——
F @ BH64,566,000T) DL EARER
ZRBRBERABRRAERE o (h5t7]
Bl & IYRFERFEELET - B
ATEFEAREEEEIZ Y —FHUB
TEERBEBRSRETED - BIBHR
ZHRERERBETF2%( T -—F :
2% ) IR R ERIR (T = —F :
9%)BRIRFREH -

REREEY
FTERRRECEGHMERERFLE
WA - BREE AR E AT E
% BEAEERRSEEETRAAR
$P{E 7 AR E -

BB 1% 7 2 8 561,135,000 L (=
— —4F : #¥556,385,0007T ) 1D B =
AEB 2 TERSER - AtakEe
BORERBEELIET - EWTEE
AREBEEREBMZZ _ERFHY KB
B2BRERARSRETEA - BBAHR Y
HERERBETF275%E4.0% (=
T—F :275%%4.0%) KRipERER
6.5% (T - —F : 5%) KPR AL
FEERBI%E12%(ZE_—4% :79%
£12.4% )R ERHEE -

BE_ZT-_—F=A=1THLEFE"
ENMIAEEZRRMNO—HZERE
MEAEREREY - FALESRERS
1878 151,738,0007T ©

TEREBEBEENERZRENEEER
B BHRABSTTSIEHIL - M Kb
IR RSERR - HBER AR
HR(ERBE) BT REEREI2 8
BT BERERERELAMKE - &
FERCEREBRD o BRE T IRERAED
AJREM R H BT R IE IR - BEEE
R-ZB- —F=A=+—BIETHERE
HAREBNTAITHNELETTE o

HEFREEERAR
2022 5§

205
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES 0 EEREEZRBAEER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEEN 2
Emoluments paid and payable to the Directors are as follows: BN RENESIHEHT

Salaries Retirement
Directors’ and other scheme
Fee benefits contribution Total

ek  BIGTEZ

S HipEH HX BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT

2022 —E-CF
Executive Directors HITES
Kuok Hoi Sang BgE
(Chairman and Managing Director)  (F/EFES@4IE) - 19,801 833 20,634
Tam Kwok Wing EE
(Deputy Managing Director) (RlESHBLE) - 14,401 574 14,975
Ho Chung Leung AR R - 4,230 266 4,496
Ma Chi Wing BEE = 8,101 405 8,506
Lily Chow BFIF] - 2,401 180 2,581
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles* HiEst 450 = = 450
Poon Chung Kwong?# ETRO 400 - - 400
Irons Sze# ik e 350 - - 350
Sun Leland Li Hsun* BBt 350 - - 350
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar Ek:na 450 - - 450
Ko Chan Gock, William (note) =EE (M) 40 = = 40
2,040 48,934 2,258 53,232
Note: Max -
Dr. Ko Chan Gock, William retired as the Non-Executive Director of the SEEEt+ta T -_—F)/\B=-+=H
Company with effect from the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting on BT 7REREFERNSERBEREERAD
23 August 2021. AIIEMITES -
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2021 —B--F
Executive Directors HITES
Kuok Hoi Sang s
(Chairman and Managing Director) (¥ /@3 EE 44K
Tam Kwok Wing EEE
(Deputy Managing Director) (BIEHmE)
Ho Chung Leung AR
Ma Chi Wing B
Lily Chow JEIFIF]
Non-Executive Directors FHITEE
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles* s
Poon Chung Kwong?* B
Irons Szet ik lEa
Sun Leland Li Hsun* FAU B
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar [E#EIE
Ko Chan Gock, William =Eg

# Independent Non-Executive Director

(b) Employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid individuals include three (2021:

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Directors'

Fee

EFHe

HK$

‘000

BEFT

)

ARE SRR MEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-__F=-A=+—HIHFE

0 EEREEZENRER(E)
(a) EEM S (M

Retirement
scheme

REIENES
and other
benefits  contribution
ek RBAEEZ
HAhigH H Fek]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETR  BETR

Total

- 18,500 788 19,288

- 13,500 544 14,044

- 4,100 259 4,359

- 7,800 382 8,182

- 2,300 172 2,472
400 - - 400
350 - - 350
300 - - 300
300 - - 300
400 - - 400
100 - - 100
1,850 46,200 2,145 50,195

four) Directors,

details of whose emoluments are set out above. The total
emoluments paid to the remaining two (2021: one) highest paid

individuals is as follows:

t o OBYIMITES

(b) BEME
IEEeFMALRE=2("%
—F NR)EE REZMEF
BEHIM L - N TFEHRE (=
T_—F —R)ERHFMALZLE

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Performance-based bonus
Contributions to retirement scheme

e
BRIVEWZ AL
RIRETEIZ R

R R E b 1@ F

FENINR -

2022 2021

—=E_-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T ST I

7,487 4,674

2,050 _

18 18

9,555 4,692
HIEBREEMAERALR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES 0 EBREE2RB/ANREEzE(E)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued)

The emoluments of the remaining two (2021: one) highest paid
individuals fall within the following band.

(b) BEME (&
H#pME(ZTEZ—F: —%) &=
FA L 2BED S THIAR -

HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 7#54,500,001 7T — 7B #5,000,0007T

The above emoluments paid and payable to Directors and employee
also represent only benefits paid to the Group's key management
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company was a party and in
which a Director or any entities connected with a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

FitmEZERESE REMZ
SNMAREBEEST__FR=_F
Z—F=ZA=t+—HLEFERRAR
EEFEEEEBI M 2E—EF -

EERRE ZHREHNHTZEX
Rz

ARRBEERMRFELEBRFA
EARMDATE  MEERER
EARNRESFARENEERNER
EESREREEEARZAAMAE
SEXBNEARS - ZHFREH -

41 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES N FREE

The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees issued for
utilised borrowings in relation to:

Banking facilities granted to an associate By —EEE a2 RITEE

Guarantees given to banks and housing BT RTMEELESER
provident fund management centres for FORETFETYEERZ
mortgage facilities granted to certain RBEEMER

buyers of properties
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2022 2021
—=E_-= —E - —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
UET T AT
1,033 1,462
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

41 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) N FREE(E)

The Group's share of contingent liabilities of its joint ventures was as
follows:

Guarantees given to banks for mortgage BTRITURTEEEZY
facilities granted to certain buyers of ENETERZILBEEN
the joint ventures' properties R

In respect of a completed engineering contract, the Group has
contingent liabilities arising from the claims lodged by a subcontractor
for an unprovided amount of approximately HK$27 million. The ultimate
outflow, if any, to settle this possible obligation is subject to the final
outcome of the legal proceedings and is uncertain.

AEBEMRLEEAGEREZHABEN
T~

2022 2021
== —E=E - —F

=

HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT

304 292

REZTKNITREEHOME @ AEEE
—EBOBER - EARETEREOBE
27008 TIREREMELXRELE -
BB %A B ENREH (INE)
BIERFRHRALSERMIE - TE =
REEHETE ©

42 COMMITMENT 42 EiE

The Group had commitment as follows:

Contracted but not provided for MTHIBEEEEN
in the consolidated financial BRESZEVBEHREA
statements in respect of ST Z AR
— property development projects —EHRIER
— acquisition of property, plant and equipment — B A - RE REHE
— an equity investment — xR E

The Group’s share of commitment of its joint ventures was as follows:

Contracted but not provided for BELBREHRE

NEE 7 AENT

2022 2021
—_E__ —E - —F

=

HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT

283,365 450,993
111,245 33,838

6,264 -
400,874 484,831

REEFERGERRZABENT -

2022 2021
—=E—_= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
8,518 8,745
HIEBREEMAERALR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

S

R CF=RA=t—RALEHFE

43 LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

Lease commitments for short-term and low value asset leases
which were due within one year amounted to HK$2,180,000 (2021:
HK$3,705,000).

The Group as lessor

As at 31 March 2022, investment properties and properties for sale
with carrying values of HK$4,279,014,000 and HK$36,213,000 (2021:
HK$2,989,219,000 and HK$34,698,000) respectively were rented out
under operating leases. These properties have committed tenants up to
thirteen years.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group in future
periods as follows:

—FR

e —FEMFA
BBMFE=FA
Be=FEMmFR
BBHFERFA
BenF

Within one year

After 1 year but within 2 years
After 2 years but within 3 years
After 3 years but within 4 years
After 4 years but within 5 years
After five years

44 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for the
benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution
schemes which are registered under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Schemes”) and Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group and in
funds under the control of trustees. The ORSO Schemes are funded
by monthly contributions from both employees and the Group at rates
ranging from 5% to 7.5% of the employee’s basic salary, depending
on the length of service with the Group. For members of the MPF
Schemes, the Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs per
employee, at a maximum of HK$1,500 per month during the year
ended 31 March 2022, to the mandatory contribution of the MPF
Schemes.
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43

44

HEAIE

AEBEREBEA
R—FARENEHAREEELEEM
EMAEREAE2,180,000/0(=F
——% : j&#3,705,0007T) °

AEEEBHAA
RZZEZZF=—A=+—H ' UN&EE
HEHHEZREMERSEMEZE
H{E 5 Bl & 7E % 4,279,014,000 7T &2 78
#36,213,000C (ZF = —4F : B
2,989,219,000 7T & & # 34,698,000
T0) c EMEERREAFER R T=
FWHEA -

AREBRHE B IRBENAIRIEZ L&
THE R K B e Wz RREIREE R
HINE ¢

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
170,831 141,618
131,522 89,216
38,121 67,046
22,401 9,452
16,934 9,593
112,644 56,753
492,453 373,678
EBREHR

$%EEE/%&/59I\{EEZ%WTU?& X
RIRTENFTE o

REE - ANEE2ER(B RS
R YRE 2 57 e kAT & ([ B RIR
R R TR TFE+ = ARGERH
HRBE AP DRIL ZBHIERTE
iu‘|’§|J(|—§§F§ﬁ'§HJ) ZETEZE

ETRERAENZESRA - E4%
BEED ﬁaﬁ&%ﬁ LB SR IRGT 8

EERASEERAIZEERFH 25%E
75% BEHRE RTEEREAEE
iﬁﬁﬁm REBABEESFE 2K

EEBEREEFIN 5% (BEZ
::i_ﬂ T+—HEFERNEAHE
AVET1,5007T ) BhoRTE 5T 8 1F i 5 I
E{ /T>)\
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44 RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in
countries or locations where the Group operates. The Group is
required to make defined contributions at rates calculated as a certain
percentage or sum of the monthly payroll.

Where there are employees who leave the ORSO Schemes prior to
vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. As at 31
March 2022 and 2021, there were no forfeited contributions, which
arose upon employees leaving the ORSO Schemes and which would
be available to reduce the contributions payable in future years. No
forfeited contributions utilised in this manner during the year ended
31 March 2022 (2021: HK$Nil). As at 31 March 2022, contributions of
HK$3,704,000 (2021: HK$3,529,000) due in respect of the reporting
period were paid over to various schemes in April 2022.

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material transactions entered into during the year with
related parties are as follows:

Contract income from a joint venture
Contract fee to an associate
Management fee income from

KB —BEEERRZ

an associate (note 7) BB A(KIEET)
Management fee income from REGEDREL
joint ventures (note 7) BB A (MIEET)

Maintenance fee to an associate

Management fee to an associate

Building management fee income from an
associate

Rental income from an associate

Rental expenses to an associate

Sales and marketing services income
from an associate (note 7)

Secondment fee income from an associate

KB —BEEEQRZ
BFEEEHA

KB —BEEERRZ

EREEECION
Service fee income from associates KEBENR 2
(note 7) BRIG B U A (FI7E7)

Interest income from a joint venture
Insurance premium from an associate
Insurance premium from a joint venture

The above transactions were entered at terms mutually agreed
between all parties involved.

The emoluments of the Directors, who are also considered to be key
management of the Group, during the year is set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

XE—HaEEEZAHNBA
BT HEBERRZANER

BT —FEBERRZREER
Y —RBEARZERER

KB —fEEERFZHS A

TR AR ZHE

KE— Rl E QR Z $HE R
5 E RS U A (B FE7)

KE—HaEREZNEMA
KB —EEBERRZRRE
KE—BEEEEZRRE

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

44 EARER ()

AEE T2 ERARERERE 2 BRY
Ml 2 B BRRE S - AERBEALRIA
BAFNzETADLABBAEZL
REFEHN -

W B AMER 2 R B AR H B 2R IK
T8 BRI AT (R AL E R E
NERzAB R —FR =T —
FZA=+—H tEAESERTBE
IRREHEN T AT 7 R 2R A FE 40 R FE S 3Kk
ZERBER -HE-_FT-_—F=A4
—t—BHIEFERTENEXEAE 2
RN B —F  BESI) -
MRZBZ_F=A=+—0 ' gtREH
fE e~ 2 & 5T Sl ZUB #3,704,0007T
TEZ - B#3,529,0007T) 2R
TE - FMASS

45 BB AR S

RERERB T EEXSHFBIOT

2022
—EFE__
HK$'000
BET T
26 37,941
(1,942) (8,011)
19,800 19,800
2,955 2,655
(8,646) (8,410)
(347) (341)
845 845
22,270 22,159
(153) (145)
36,465 35,177
1,727 1,696
594 460
2,478 1,861
7,763 10,992
= 152

LR S TEMARBE T HAREZ

BRFRETSL

RFERNEF(RETERELTEELTE
EIRERE) 2 HME N R A IS HRE
BI5E40 ©

HIEBREEMAERALR
2022 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE

46 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE/LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED
WITH ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE
Balance as at 31 March 2021

In January 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the "Agreement”) with an independent third party to dispose of the
Group’s entire interest in eight companies (the “Disposal Group”,
which owned seven senior housing properties and related assets and
liabilities located in North Carolina, the US). The assets and liabilities
of the Disposal Group as at 31 March 2020 was classified as assets
held-for-sale and liabilities directly associated with assets held-for-
sale respectively. Subsequent to the Agreement, there were further
negotiations between the Group and the purchaser to extend the
completion of the disposal due to changes in market environment
caused by the enduring impact of COVID-19 pandemic.

On 31 May 2021, the Group and the purchaser, after further considering
the adverse impacts of COVID-19 pandemic on the US economy,
entered into an amendment agreement to further amend the terms of
the Agreement. The major amendment include (i) the number of target
companies subject to disposal reduced from eight to six (the “Revised
Disposal Group”), with the corresponding reduction in the number
of senior housing properties from seven to five; (ii) the consideration
for the disposal being US$22.5 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$175.5 million), subject to (a) downward adjustment for an amount
equal to outstanding loan balance and accrued interest which shall
remain with a target company (which is expected to be around US$5.1
million (equivalent to approximately HK$39.8 million)) and (b) upward
adjustment reflecting the capital expenditures which may be incurred
on the five properties between the date of the agreement and the
revised completion date. The assets and liabilities of the Revised
Disposal Group as at 31 March 2021 was classified as assets held-
for-sale and liabilities directly associated with assets held-for-sale
respectively. The transactions were completed on 30 June 2021 and
31 March 2022 for four and one of those senior housing properties
respectively.
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46 FEHEEE SEHEFHERE

BEEHEHBZAE

RSB —F=ZA=1+—Hz&&
R-ZE_ZTF—F AEEHE—FBT
F=HEIL—EE R[] A
EXAEERN\BMAR(THEAR]  H
BEMNERIL RERMOMNOERE
EEMENAREEEEREGE) 22
HigEx o HEAIR T _ZTF=A
=+ —RAZEENAGESRIDEARE
HEEEREFENEEEERRARB
BE - REIMpEE - BR2019E 4k
REREBENFEYEERMBREY
By AEBRE i SEEHUERT
R EETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE/LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED

WITH ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE (CONTINUED)
Balance as at 31 March 2022

In March 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party to dispose of the Group's entire interest
in one senior housing property located in Nebraska, the US. The assets
were classified as assets held-for-sale as at 31 March 2022. The assets
held-for-sale have been stated at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The transaction was completed on 17 May
2022.

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) M - R R (MIRE15)
Goodwill (note 16) P2 (fiEE16)
Assets of subsidiaries reclassified ENOBEABIELEZ
as held-for-sale WMEARZEE
Liabilities of subsidiaries reclassified EHBEARBENEZ
as held-for-sale WEB ARl ZzEaE
Bank borrowing HRITER

47 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the
current year's presentation. In the current year, the Group reclassified
the line items “(Loss)/gain on investments at fair value through profit or
loss” and “Gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments” from “Other
income” to “Other gains/(losses), net”. As a result, comparative
information has been reclassified to conform to this presentation.

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

46 FEHEEE SEHEFHERE

BEEEHBZAE(E)
R-B--ZF=A=+—Hz&%
RZZFZ—F=F  AEBEE—-FEHL
FoHE N EEREUALELRER
MREBRRARET NG —ELERE
MEZ 2R EEDPBEANCE
T FZA=Zt+—HHEB{EREEE -
BIENEEECRERERARBERT
ERAZREETE -ZRXHERE
——FRA+EHTEK -

2022 2021
—=E—_— T
HK$'000
BT

HK$'000
BET T

2,913 93,881
- 43,604
2,913 137,485
- 40,201

47 EREF

ETHRBFEEFHIE  UFEX
FEMENATA - RAFE - AKHE
BIEIAEIABRREZRE (B
8) MW I RTTEMBTAZ W/
(B1R) |mI EmA B D EEHAib
W, (EE) - F8] - Bt - LRE
HEEHo8E  UARFat25A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

48 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 48 A AT BRI REESE R

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Company statement of financial position DR R &
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZF-ZZF=A=1—H
2022 2021
—=E—_— T
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T P T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries Ny NG s £ 2,646,849 2,650,061
Interests in associates il /Nl ol Fe 89,594 89,594
Other intangible assets EtEEEE 599 599
Investments at fair value BARBINANEREE 2
through profit or loss ®wE 91,811 57,369
Investments at amortised cost REIEN AT R 218 & 101,800 50,634
2,930,653 2,848,157
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSH B A RIBR IR 5,803,143 5,062,138
Amounts due from associates B & N FER AR 25,034 24,091
Investments at fair value BARBEIABREREZ
through profit or loss ®"E 98,126 66,535
Investments at amortised cost REIEN AT R 2 18 & - 16,554
Debtors, deposits paid and prepayments FEUERR - BRTEE
& RFERNFKIE 1,712 7,663
Bank balances and cash IRITHEGFE MRS 804,591 1,174,555
6,732,606 6,350,536
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE 4,422,123 4,641,302
Creditors, deposits received and accruals FERBRZR - BEWFEA
e RERER 6,553 8,415
Bank borrowings HITER 2,097,000 497,000
,,,,,,,, 6525676 5146717
Net current assets REEEZFE 206930 1,203,819
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAE 3,137,583 4,051,976
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

48 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES BERRAAMBRREFEERE xR

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
Company statement of financial position (continued) A E ISR R R (E)
As at 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=F=+—H
2022 2021
—=2—_ —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Capital and reserves BRAR EE
Share capital &7 377,411 377,411
Reserves (note a) G ET) 2,760,172 2,277,565
Total equity R 3,137,583 2,654,976
Non-current liability FREBEE
Bank borrowings HRITER - 1,397,000
Total equity and non-current liability BERRFERBEE 3,137,583 4,051,976
Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2022 and signed on its LEEFN_T__F A=+ /\H
behalf by: - WHTIEEREESE
KUOK Hoi Sang HO Chung Leung
EREE AR
Director Director
EZE o

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

48 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES BERRAAMBRREFEERE xR

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (#8)
Company statement of financial position (continued) A E ISR R R (E)
Notes: [T
(a) Reserves movement of the Company (a) AARFHEEEH
Capital
Share Contributed redemption Retained
premium surplus reserve profits Total
&%
B aRE BARES a1 REBEF A
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BT BETT BETT
(note b)
(BifaEb)
At 1 April 2021 R-Z-—FmMA—H 704,087 96,050 8,799 1,468,629 2,277,565
Profit and total comprehensive income  FE & A &
for the year ZHENEEE - - = 645,648 645,648
Dividends paid BRRE - - - (163,041) (163,041)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-__F=A=+—H 704,087 96,050 8,799 1,951,236 2,760,172
At 1 April 2020 RZZE=—ZFPA—H 704,087 95,413 8,799 1,398,639 2,206,938
Unclaimed dividends written back KB SR - 637 - - 637
Profit and total comprehensive income S F| &
for the year 2ENEETE - - - 214,916 214,916
Dividends paid BERRE - - - (144,926) (144,926)
At 31 March 2021 RNZE-_—F=A=+—H 704,087 96,050 8,799 1,468,629 2,277,565
(b) Contributed surplus represents the difference between the value of net (o) BABKRTIREKFPBERB LR 2 EE
assets of subsidiaries acquired and the nominal amount of the Company’s FEEWERPTETARRRG 2 HE
shares issued for their acquisition. Under the Companies Act of 1981 of Mz Z% - BREFERE(—HAN—FQA
Bermuda, the contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution EY  NRRZBABSBRTIAEDIR TR
to shareholders. HRo
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Name of company

Ample Skl Limited
EREROA

Ample Trade Limited
BEBERAR

Changchun New Star Universe
Sheng Chi Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (note a)

RENETEHENERE
BREFAT (Ftita)

Chevalier (Aluminium
Engineering) Hong Kong
Limited

ET(BRIR)ERARLA

Chevalier (Aluminium
Engineering) Limited (note b)

AL (ATR)ERAR (M)

Chevalier Automobiles Inc.

Chevalier AOC Freight Express
Holdings Limited
AT XDREARARLA

Chevalier (Building Supplies
& Engineering) Limited
(note b)
AL (R IR)ARAR(MD)

Chevalier Cali Holding (Cal)
Inc.

Chevalier (Chengdu)
Investment Management
Limited (note c)

ET(R#REER
BRAR (M)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE_Z-_—FZA=+HLFE

49 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Mainland China
HRE R,

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
£y

Canada

JIIEYN
Hong Kong

&

Hong Kong
i)

Mainland China
HE R

Class of
shares held

Fris R R

Ordinary
&

Ordinary
18

N/A
TER

Ordinary

Ordinary
B
Deferred

Common

i

Ordinary
Bl

Ordinary
B
Deferred

Common

i

NA
Figh

Issued and

paid up

share capital/
registered capital
BRTR

BERE/
BRI

HK$10,000
710,007

HKS$1
BEIL

RMB675,000,000
AK#675,000,00070

HKS$2
Bk

HK$100
00T
HKS2
BT

CAD101
10108 AT

HK$1,500,000
75%1,500,0007C

HK$20,000,100
#120,000,1007
HKS2

BT
US$4,012,000

4,012,000% T

RMB250,000,000
AR 250,000,007

9 TEHBATE

Number of
shares

10,000

N/A
&R

100

200

1,500,000

20,000,100

4,012,000

N/A
TR

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
registered capital held
by the Company
KAARAEET
A /A
BEREAL
Directly Indirectly

i 3

% %

Principal activities

Property development

NEER

Property development

MERE

Property development

NEER

Supply and installation of
aluminium windows and curtain
walls

RERRERE RBR

Design and supply of aluminium
building materials and curtain
walls

Rt RN LA

Sale and servicing of automobiles

EREREERT

Investment holding and logistics
services

REBRRMRRSE

Supply and installation of building
materials and equipment
RERTFREMHRE

Grocery trading
HEES

Investment holding and provision
of management service

RERRERHERRE

HIEBREEMAERALR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

49 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 49 T EME AT (FE)

Place or country Issued and Effective percentage of
of incorporation paid up issued share capital/
or registration/ Class of share capital/ Number of  registered capital held
Name of company operation shares held registered capital shares by the Company Principal activities

BRR RAFRREERT

RS/ azRE/ B/ ERRARZ
EXBUAER Fris R R R EREDL

Directly Indirectly
ER 5t

% %

Chevalier Chrysler Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 Sale and servicing of automobiles
nex Bl 101MEAT REHEREE RS
Chevalier Cold Storage and Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 75 Operation of a cold storage
Logistics Limited Bb TE BRI warehouse and logistic business
ELREMRARAR BERRBRERNTES
Chevalier (Construction) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$60,500,000 60,500,000 - 100 Building construction and
Company Limited A LA 7160,500,0007C maintenance
ET(RE)ERLA BFRERRE
Chevalier Construction Hong Kong Ordinary HK$409,990,000 40,999,000 - 100 Building construction
{Hong Kong) Limited Bk Eil #409,990,0007C EFEE
(note b) Deferred HK$10,000 1,000 - 100
ELTRE(ER) BT 710,000
BRAF(MiD)
Chevalier (Corporate Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 Provision of corporate
Management) Limited BE LB BRI management services
AL (EER)ERAR RECEERRE
Chevalier Development (S) Singapore Ordinary $$2,500,000 2,500,000 - 100 Property investment
Pte Ltd s £ 2,500,000 05T ESIE
Chevalier (E & M Contracting) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$69,200,000 69,200,000 - 100 Installation of electrical and
ET(WETRR)ERAR BB T 769,200,007 mechanical equipment and
provision of project management
service
TERERAR
B R TR R
Chevalier (Envirotech) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$256,780,000 256,780,000 - 100 Environmental engineering
Limited A il 71£256,780,0007 BRIE
BT ORERINERAR
Chevalier (Hammersmith Broadway) United Kingdom Ordinary GBP100 100 - 100 Property investment
Limited HE il HE1007T NERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

49 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 49 T EME AT (FE)

Place or country Issued and Effective percentage of
of incorporation paid up issued share capital/
or registration/ Class of share capital/ Number of  registered capital held
Name of company operation shares held registered capital shares by the Company Principal activities

BRR RAFRREERT

RS/ azRE/ B/ ERRARZ
EXBUAER Fris R R R EREDL

Directly Indirectly
ER 5t

% %

Chevalier (Insurance Brokers) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 100 - Insurance brokerage
AT (RIBER)BRAR B il 711,000,000 RIRERR
Chevalier Insurance Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200,000,000 200,000,000 100 - Insurance underwriting
Company Limited B Bl 71200,000,0007C R
ELRBBRAR
Chevalier iTech Services Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 Trading and servicing of computers
Limited &5 LiE BRI and business machines
ETRBTRERRA ERRBEBREEI AL
Chevalier iTech Thai Limited Thailand Ordinary BAHT 18,980,000 189,800 - 100 Trading of computers and business
(note d) & L@ 18,980,000%5% machines
Preference BAHT 1,020,000 10,200 - 100 ERREERBES
&% 1,020,005k
Chevalier (KS) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary GBP100 100 - 100 Property investment
B kil 51007 NERAE
Chevalier (Macau) Limited Macau Ordinary MOP100,000 4 - 100 Building construction and
EL(RM)ERAR M gl EF#100,0007 installation of air-conditioning

systems, aluminium windows
and curtain walls

BFREETRRREN BER

R
Chevalier (Network Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 Network systems and solution
Solutions) Limited BE Bl o services
EL(BERE)ARAR BRAGEMERE
Chevalier Network Solutions Thailand Ordinary BAHT 15,000,000 150,000 - 100 Trading of telecommunication
Thai Limited el gl 15,000,000%%% equipment
EHERES
Chevalier Pacific Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200,000,000 200,000,000 - 100 Property development
BT RARAR &b Bl 7200,000,0007 NERR

HIEBREEMAERALR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

49 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 49 T EME AT (FE)

Place or country Issued and Effective percentage of
of incorporation paid up issued share capital/
or registration/ Class of share capital/ Number of  registered capital held
Name of company operation shares held registered capital shares by the Company Principal activities

BRR RAFRREERT

RS/ azRE/ B/ ERRARZ
EXBUAER Fris R R R EREDL

Directly Indirectly
ER 5t

% %

Chevalier Property Hong Kong Ordinary HK$360,000,000 360,000,000 - 100 Property development and
Development Limited B ke 75#360,000,0007C investment
(note b) Deferred HK$51 51 - 100 WEERRE
ETERRARAR () B 51T
Chevalier Property Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 - 100 Property management and security
Management Limited B LA 00T services
(note b) Deferred HK$1,002 1,002 - 100  MEEERRTHRE
ETEENRER it 71,0027
BRAT (M)
CPC Construction Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$415,284,200 4,152,842 - 100 Investment holding and general
Limited (note b) 55 LB J5#415,284,2007C construction business
ETERERARAA (D) Deferred HK$25,936,200 259,362 - - REBRR-REREEK
it JE1:25,936,2007T
Chevalier Tower Property Inc. Canada Common CAD100 100 - 100 Property development & operation
JIIEYN Bl 100MEATT NEREREE
Full Ascent Development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 75 Property investment
Limited 3 ta Bk NERA
BREBRARAR
Goldyork Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 49 51 Property investment
SHREBRAE B Bl 1007 ESE
Keysford 1 Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 100,000 - 100 Property development
B Bl 7%100,0007C NEER
Kwai Hei Investments Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 1 - 75 Property investment
No.1 Limited 3% LB b NERE
Lac Kar Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,600,000 3,600,000 - 100 Property investment
NNESERAE i LR 713,600,007 NERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE_Z-_—FZA=+HLFE

49 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 49 T EME AT (FE)

Place or country Issued and Effective percentage of
of incorporation paid up issued share capital/
or registration/ Class of share capital/ Number of  registered capital held
Name of company operation shares held registered capital shares by the Company Principal activities

BRR RAFRREERT

R R,/ BRRE/ B/ ERERA2
EXUHAER FiisiR 85 EfRA LCEVIA
Directly Indirectly
ER 5t

% %

Macleh (Chevalier) Limited Canada Common CAD10,100 10,100 - 100 Investment holding of property
JIIEYN LR 10,100MEXTT investment and hotel operation
NERER
BELEZRERR
MI4 Ashford, LLC Us N/A US$6,980,000 N/A - 100 Operation of senior housing
%68 TEA 6,980,000% T TEA menzhe
NV4 Cheyenne, LLC UsS N/A US$4,256,000 N/A - 100 Operation of senior housing
ES:l TaA 4,256,000%7T TEm mewzhE
NC4 Albemarle, LLC us N/A US$10,041,476 N/A - 986  Operation of senior housing
ES TER 10,041,476% T TR fenzhs
NC4 Covington, LLC Us N/A 1US$5,087,122 N/A - 98.6  Operation of senior housing
£ TER 5,087,122 TR fenzhd
NC4 Kingsbridge, LLC UsS N/A US$6,056,405 N/A - 986 Operation of senior housing
E3e TER 6,056,4055 70 TR Henzhd
NC4 Magereek, LLC Us N/A US$3,464,273 N/A - 986  Operation of senior housing
ESE TER 3,464,273% T TER gereEhs
NC4 Magnolia, LLC [ N/A US$4,464,085 N/A - 986  Operation of senior housing
ES TER 4,464,085% 7T TR fenzhs
NC4 Oliver, LLC UsS N/A 1S$2,794,319 N/A - 98.6  Operation of senior housing
ES TER 2,794,319% 7T TR fenzhd
NC4 Wellington, LLC Us N/A US$3,674,901 N/A - 98.6  Operation of senior housing
E3e TER 3674901% T TR Henzhd
Profit Galaxy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 1 - 60  Provision of services and finance
BiRBERAR BB T BT for a development project of a
church and a senior citizen care
facility
p-EHER-HzER e ER
BRRERERAE
HEELNEERER A Mainland China N/A 1US$3,650,000 N/A - 100 Property management and
(GRS HE R TR 3,650,000% 7T TEA provision of property
management consultation

NEERRRANEERSD
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-TZ-_—F=A=+—HIFE

49 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 49 T EME AT (FE)

Name of company

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation

EXBEIER

Class of
shares held

Fris R R

Issued and

paid up

share capital/
registered capital
BEIR
BRRE/
EfRA

Number of
shares

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
registered capital held
by the Company
AARBAERT
B/ ERERA2
EREAL
Directly Indirectly

ER 5t

% %

Principal activities

Shanghai Chonmain Real Mainland China N/A US$1,800,000 N/A - 80  Property investment
Estate Development B TR 1,800,000% 7T TR MERE
Co., Ltd. (note a)
HERIEEHERR
BRAF(MiTa)
Shine Wealthy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 1 - 100 Property investment
SRARRA Bl B BRI NERE
Tai Tung Industrial Equipment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$30,000,000 30,000,000 - 875  Logistics services
RALXZHERAA &b LR 730,000,000 R
Winfield Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 Property investment
BAERARAT B IE T NERE
B (3 #) REERERAT Mainland China N/A RMB320,000,000 N/A - 40 Investment holding
(fifzEe) HEIR TER ARH320,000,0007 TR RERR
W) B g 5ER AT Mainland China N/A RMB15,000,000 N/A - 40 Trading of motor vehicles and
(BizEf) HRE R, TER ARH15,000,0007 Bl provision of maintenance
services
ABEE S RIERRERS
AR A TR E IR Mainland China N/A RMB30,000,000 N/A - 40 Trading of motor vehicles and
ERAR (Fi5Ef) hElRH TER AK#30,000,0007T TER provision of maintenance
services
REE S RIEHRERS
RBEGEMAERERS Meainland China N/A RMB10,000,000 NA - 40 Trading of motor vehicles and
BRAR () HE R il AEH10,000,0007 TiEm provision of maintenance
services
ABEE S RIRERERS
EERG R TR E R Mainland China N/A RMB10,000,000 N/A - 40 Trading of motor vehicles and
BRAF () hE R TNER AE#10,000,0007 TNER provision of maintenance
services
REE S RIEHRERS
AR BT E HE R Mainland China N/A RMB15,000,000 N/A - 40 Trading of motor vehicles and
BRAR () HREIR TR AR15,000,0007C TR provision of maintenance
services
RERSRIRERERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:
(a) Established in Mainland China as sino-foreign owned equity joint ventures.

(b) All deferred shares are non-voting and practically have no rights to participate
in any distribution upon winding up.

(c) Established in Mainland China as wholly-foreign owned enterprises.

(d) Preference shares are 10% non-cumulative and every four preference
shares of this company carry one vote.

(e) The Directors considered that the Group has majority voting power in this
company'’s board of directors by which can direct relevant activities and
therefore has control over this company.

(f) They are subsidiaries of 2[5 (B #) & EIBERA A,

50 PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Effective percentage
Place or country of issued share
of incorporation capital/registered
or registration/ Class of capital held by the

e I HRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—F=F=+—RHIFE

49 TEHMEL R (FE)

i

m

R BIRMAR S Z MG B2 o

FTEIRIE A ) B AR R - MER LR
AL A RS BEREM DR ©

RARBE AR 2 INEBERE -

BABRBEREH10%  MRATZEME
BB SRR A — R -

BEERB ARERZAREZSHA
REZBURFE B ERERES -
FE % A A S -

ZERRREE (RSB REERERA
AlZMBARE -

50 TEBENT

Name of associate operation shares held Company  Principal activities
ANAHAERT

B it ks A /MR A 2

BEARER EXHHRER R385 ERESL FEER
%

Measurement method

%3

Cafe Deco Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary 2528 Investment holding Equity
Hong Kong L REER B
KBRERES/
BB
Chevalier (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 49 Marketing, installation and maintenance of lifts, Equity
HE (F8) BRAR B3 *E escalators and security devices R
B8 RERREARE  BRERRTEE
B EH(PE)ERAR Mainland China N/A 20 Manufacturing, sales, installation, repairand ~ Equity
hE Al TEfA maintenance of lifts and escalators B
g HE - 2E - BERREABERERS
Toshiba Elevator (Shenyang) Mainland China N/A 20  Manufacturing, sales, installation, repairand ~ Equity
Co., Ltd. R NER maintenance of lifts and escalators i

RZER (BB) BRAR S BE TR AERRENRERERE

Note:  The Group's entitlement to share of profit or loss in these associates is
in proportion to its ownership interest.

MisE . ARBEZHEAEDZZLOFER

Pt S B S R R s NIk Es iR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHEZ-F=-A=+—HILFE

51 PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

Name of joint venture

REDEAR

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation

RS

Effective percentage

of issued share

capital/

registered

Class of capital held by the
shares held Company
AREBEERST

s BRA /R 2
R38R ERES
%

Principal activities

B350

Measurement method

HEB

Lam Woo & Company Limited (note a) Hong Kong Ordinary 50  Civil engineering Equity
B ARAR (Hita) EE il TARIR i
Rosy Value Limited (note a) Hong Kong Ordinary 50  Property development Equity
EEARDF (Fita) Bk 3] MEER i
Seavest Core Fund I, LLC uS N/A 95 Medical office building investment Equity
(note b) e TEA BENDEABRE =
FtREREREEREER AR Mainland China N/A 44 Property development Equity
(ffita) FEAM NER MEER i
REEHERLM B E RS Mainland China N/A 2133 Trading of motor vehicles and provision of Equity
BEAR (Hita) REA NER maintenance services Em
ABE S RIRRRERE
Notes: (a) The Group's entitlement to share of profit or loss in these joint MiFE : () ANEEIREHEAERZLOIFE
ventures is in proportion to its ownership interest. HEZE a2 E 2 mME
e

b) EERR  AEBHZAELDLE
2T N RS R By
[k i iIba - o7 JEE-9i ]
WhEME

(b) The Directors considered that the Group does not have unilateral
control governing the financial and operating activities over this joint
venture. Profit sharing arrangement is in accordance with relevant
agreement.
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